
 
Haines Borough, Alaska                                                                                    Page 1 
Agenda: January 23, 2023 

 

Haines Borough 
Borough Assembly Meeting #481 

 AGENDA 
 

 

January 23, 2024 - 6:30pm          Location: In Assembly Chambers and on ZOOM  
 
Haines Borough ZOOM information (You must download Zoom first) 
Webinar ID: 815 9230 2037 
Passcode: 244048 

  1.  CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE TO THE FLAG/ROLL CALL 
 2.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA & CONSENT AGENDA 

[The following Consent Agenda items are indicated by an asterisk (*) and will be 
enacted by the motion to approve the agenda. There will be no separate discussion 
of these items unless an assembly member or other person so requests, in which 
event the asterisk will be removed and that item will be considered by the assembly 
on the regular agenda.] 
Consent Agenda:  
3A - Approve Minutes from 1/9/24 Regular Assembly Meeting 
11C2 – Marijuana License Renewal – Flower Mountain Farms 

*3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES -Approve the following minutes:  
A.   1/9/24 Regular Assembly Meetings minutes 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – [For any topics not scheduled for public hearing. Individual 
comments are limited to 3 minutes unless another yields 3 minutes to the speaker in 
advance] Note: during this section of the agenda, the assembly will listen and take notes. No 
official action will be taken at this time.  

5. ASSEMBLY COMMENTS 

6. MAYOR’S REPORT AND COMMENTS  

 A. Chilkat Bald Eagle Preserve Advisory Council Governor’s Executive
 Order 

7. PUBLIC HEARINGS - None 

   
     8.     STAFF/FACILITY REPORTS  
   A.    Borough Manager Report – January 18, 2024 
   B. CFO Report – January 18, 2024 
    1.   Max Mertz Presentation Regarding the FY23 Financial Audit 
   C. Tourism Director Report  
       
     9.    COMMITTEE/COMMISSION/BOARD REPORTS & APPROVED MINUTES – 

  A.  Planning Commission – 12/14/23 Minutes  
  B. Property Tax Assessment Ad Hoc Advisory Board 12/13/23 and 
   12/20/23 Minutes  
  C. Commerce Committee – 11/16/23 Minutes  

 
    10.   UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None 
 

11.   NEW BUSINESS 
 
 
 A.   Resolutions (Individual comments are limited to 3 minutes unless another  
  yields 3 minutes to the speaker in advance) 
 
 
 

Thomas Morphet 
Mayor  
 
Natalie Dawson 
Assembly Member 
 
Gabe Thomas 
Assembly Member 
 
Kevin Forster 
Assembly Member 
 
Debra Schnabel 
Assembly Member 
 
Ben Aultman-Moore 
Assembly Member 
 
Craig Loomis 
Assembly Member 
 
 
 

Annette Kreitzer 
Borough Manager 

Alekka Fullerton 
Borough Clerk 
 
Kiersten Long 
Deputy Clerk 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
Haines Borough, Alaska                                                                                    Page 2 
Agenda: January 23, 2023 

11. NEW BUSINESS 
  

A. Resolutions - Continued 
 
 
 1. Resolution 24-01-1084 
  A Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly authorizing  
  the Borough Manager to enter into a Professional Services  
  Agreement with Appraisal Company of Alaska, LLC to   
  provide contract Assessor Services for the Haines Borough. 
 
 2. Resolution 24-01-1085 
  A Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly Authorizing  
  the Borough Manager to Enter into a Contract with   
  Windward Strategies to Provide Federal Lobbying Services  
  for $36,000.  
   
 3. Resolution 24-01-1086 
  A Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly Authorizing  
  the Borough Manager to Enter into a Contract with   
  Theodore W. Popely, PC to Provide State Lobbying Services  
  for $48,000. 
 
      OR 
 
 4. Resolution 24-01-1087 
  A Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly Authorizing  
  the Borough Manager to Enter into a Contract with Reid   
  Harris, Harris Advocacy to Provide State Lobbying Services  
  for $36,000. 

 
  B.  Ordinances for Introduction – None 

 
      C.  Other New Business  

  1.  Porcupine Trail FEMA Appeal 
  *2.  Marijuana License Renewal- Flower Mountain Farms 

         The Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office (AMCO) has notified the borough 
         of a pending marijuana license renewal for a Standard Marijuana Cultivation 
         Facility for Flower Mountain Farms, located at 17 Helms Loop Spur in     
         Haines. The AMCO, prior to its final renewal approval, is giving the local 
         government an opportunity to make a statement, if desired. The Haines 
         Borough Police Department has no objection to the reissuance of the  
         license. Proposed Motion: The Haines Borough has no objection to the 
         renewal of the marijuana cultivation license for Flower Mountain Farms. 

 
12.   CORRESPONDENCE 
13.  SET MEETING DATES  
14. PUBLIC COMMENT  
15.  ANNOUNCEMENTS/ASSEMBLY COMMENTS/DIRECTION TO OFFICERS 
16.  ADJOURNMENT 

 



Haines Borough 
Borough Assembly Meeting #480 

January 9, 2024 
 MINUTES 

1. CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE TO THE FLAG/ROLL CALL:  Mayor MORPHET called the
meeting to order at 6:30 pm in the Assembly Chambers and led the pledge to the flag.

      Present: Mayor Thomas MORPHET, Assembly Members Gabe THOMAS, Debra  
      SCHNABEL, Kevin FORSTER, Craig LOOMIS, Natalie DAWSON and Ben AULTMAN- 
      MOORE.  

      Staff Present: Annette KREITZER/Manager, Alekka FULLERTON/Clerk, Kiersten  
   LONG/Deputy Clerk,  

      Visitors Present: Thom ELY, Richard CLEMENT, Ayana YOUNG, Patty CAMPBELL,  
   Don TURNER Jr., Ellen LARSEN, Kim ROSATO, Eric HOLLE, Katie Emma BEGLEY,  
   Ayana YOUNG, Nora ZIMMERLY, Erika MERKLIN, Kristin HATHHORN, Aaron  

      BRAKEL (Southeast Alaska Conservation Counsel) and 69 others on zoom. 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA & CONSENT AGENDA

Motion:  AULTMAN-MOORE moved to “remove item 3B from the consent agenda and moved to 
hear item 11C7 to be moved to be heard after item 6A.”. 

Motion:  THOMAS moved to “approve the agenda and the consent agenda” and the motion 
carried unanimously. 

*3.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Minutes from 11/28/23 and 12/12/23 Regular Assembly
Meeting and the 12/22/23 Special Assembly Meeting.
Note: The Minutes were approved by approval of the consent agenda: “Approve minutes from
11/28/23 Regular Assembly Meeting Minutes, 12/12/23 Regular Assembly Meeting
Minutes, and the 12/22/23 Special Assembly Meeting Minutes”.

Motion: SCHNABEL moved to accept the corrected minutes and the motion carried 
unanimously. 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS:

ELY – Questions about Lutak Dock project 
CLEMENT -  Concerned about population decrease 
YOUNG – Questions about Lutak Dock project 
CAMPBELL – Support of Lutak Dock and questioned executive session 
LARSEN – Worried about violating MARAD requirements 
ROSATO – Lutak Dock is not big enough to ship ore 
HOLLE – Worried about financial exposure from FEMA and MARAD 
TURNER – Current Assembly Members have caused the problems 
MERKLIN – Concerns about Mosquito Lake Facility MOU 
HATTHORN – Does not support current Lutak Dock project 
ZIMMERLY – Respect program requirements 
BRAKEL – Southeast Alaska Conservation Counsel 

5. ASSEMBLY COMMENTS:

DAWSON – Has not contacted MARAD or Senators 
SCHNABEL – Thank you for plowing walkway in Tlingit Park 
FORSTER – You can call him by his first name 

Draft 
3



January 09, 2024 
Haines Borough Assembly Meeting 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 

6.   MAYOR’S REPORT and COMMENTS:  
   Mayor announced Strategic Planning with Mila Cosgrove on 2/3/24 from 1-5,  
      location TBD and provided an update on contract Assessor 
   A. Proclamation for Community Builder Award – Four Winds Resource Center 

** Clerk’s Note: Item 11C7 was heard at this time. 
 

7.    PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
A.  Ordinance 23-11-663 – Second Hearing  

  An Ordinance of the Haines Borough, Providing for the Addition or Amendment 
 of Specific Line Items to the FY24 Budget. 

The Mayor opened and closed the public hearing at 8:16 pm since no member of the public chose 
to speak with respect to this issue. 

Motion: SCHNABEL moved to “Adopt Ordinance 23-11-663 with an amendment to appropriate 
$10,000 to oppose the APT rate increase” and the motion carried unanimously.  
  
8.     STAFF/FACILITY REPORTS  
 A.    Borough Manager Report – January 4, 2024 
    
9.    COMMITTEE/COMMISSION/BOARD REPORTS & APPROVED MINUTES –  
 A. Property Tax Assessment Ad Hoc Advisory Board – 11/30/23 and 12/11/23 minutes    
 B. Planning Commission – 11/9/23 Minutes  
 C. Ports and Harbors Advisory Committee – 11/16/23 Minutes  

 
10.   UNFINISHED BUSINESS - None 
 
11.   NEW BUSINESS 
 
    A. Resolutions   
  1.  Resolution 24-01-1082 

  Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly authorizing the Borough  
  Manager to execute a change order with Agnew::Beck for an additional 
  $78,130 to complete the Comprehensive Plan Revision  

   
  No member of the public chose to speak with respect to this Resolution. 

Motion: SCHNABEL moved to “Adopt Resolution 24-01-1082,” and the motion carried 
unanimously. 
 

 2. Resolution 24-01-1083 
  Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly Supporting Efforts to  
  Improve Competitiveness and Resilience of the Alaska Seafood   
  Industry.  
   
  Katie Emma BEGLEY asked the Assembly NOT to support this Resolution. 

Motion: SCHNABEL moved to “Adopt Resolution 24-01-1083” and the motion carried 4-1 with 
DAWSON in opposition. 
 
     B. Ordinances for Introduction – None 

  

 



January 09, 2024 
Haines Borough Assembly Meeting 

Page 3 of 4 
 

 

11.   NEW BUSINESS - Continued 
 

     C.  Other New Business 
 
 *1. Boards and Commissions: Confirmation of Mayor’s Reappointment of  
  Norman Hughes to the Ports and Harbors Advisory Committee with a seat  
  termination date of 11/252 and Jenty Fowler to the Library Advisory Board with 
  a seat termination date of 11/26. 
Note: The Mayor’s reappointments of Norman Hughes to PHAC and Jenty Fowler to 
LAB were approved by approval of the consent agenda. 
 
 2. Comprehensive Plan Update – Verbal 
 

  3. Motion for Reconsideration Regarding Borough Attorney RFP:  
   Assembly Member Loomis has indicated he would like to move to reconsider the 

  motion regarding the Borough Attorney RFP. The motion for reconsideration is 
  timely and allowed since HBC 2.10.170 provides that the motion must be made 
  at the original meeting or the next meeting, must be made by an individual on 
  the prevailing side and must not have passed out of the hands of the Assembly. 
  If the motion for reconsideration is successful, the debate shall resume before 
  the vote was taken, the matter may be amended and debate shall be limited to 
  25 minutes (with an individual assembly member limited to 5 minutes).  

Motion: LOOMIS moved to “Reconsider the timing of the Borough Attorney RFP,” and the 
motion 4-2 with THOMAS and SCHNABEL in opposition. 
Motion: LOOMIS moved to “I move we instruct the Manager to advertise RFP's for Haines 
Borough legal counsel with a closing deadline of March 1, 2024 for said proposals,”  
   Primary Amendment: DAWSON moved to “amend the motion to have the  
   RFP issued by March 15, 2024,” and the motion carried 5-1 with THOMAS in  
   opposition. 
And the motion, as amended, carried 5-1 with THOMAS in opposition. 
 
  4. Motion to Refer Development of Anti-Bullying Policy to the Government 

  Affairs and Services Committee 
Motion: LOOMIS moved to “Refer the development of an Anti-Bullying Policy to the Government 
Affairs and Services Committee,” and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
  5. Amendment of Heliskiing Flight Rules, GPS Data Collection, Submission, 

  and Compliance Policy 
Motion: FORSTER moved to “Adopt the Manager’s recommendations with the amendment to 
appropriate permit funds to support InfoX subscriptions either directly or through a credit and 
require the sharing of that information with the Haines Avalanche Center,” and the motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
  6. Draft Response Letter to Chilkat Indian Village 
   Mayor Morphet was asked to draft a response letter to CIV for Assembly  

  approval. 
Motion: SCHNABEL moved to “inform CIV that we are not supporting an EIS at this time,” and 
the motion carries 4-2 with LOOMIS and AULTMAN-MOORE in opposition. 
Motion: FORSTER moved to extend the meeting past 10:00 pm and the motion carried 4-2 with 
THOMAS and AULTMAN-MOORE in opposition. 
** Clerk’s Note: A 10-minute recess was taken at this time. 



January 09, 2024 
Haines Borough Assembly Meeting 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 

11.   NEW BUSINESS  
 

    C.  Other New Business – Continued 
 

 7. Lutak Dock Update/Discussion including Borough Attorney  
Motion: FORSTER moved to “Direct the Manager to communicate with R&M as our Owner 
Advisor regarding what it would take to get an unbiased comparison of the maintenance and 
lifespan of the current design and the original design for Lutak Dock, and if the cost is 
reasonable, we should request that comparison,” and the motion carried 5-1 with THOMAS in 
opposition. 
Motion: THOMAS moved to “Direct the Clerk to draft a proposition for a charter amendment 
that would prohibit ore storage and shipment at Lutak Dock,” and the motion carried 
unanimously. 
Motion: SCHNABEL moved to “table the rest of this matter to be heard at the end of New 
Business,” and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
** Clerk’s Note: This matter was tabled at this point to be heard after New Business. 
Motion: THOMAS moved to “move into executive session as allowed by AS 44.62.310(C)(1)(A) 
to discuss with the borough attorney matters, the immediate knowledge of which would clearly 
have an adverse effect upon the finance of the government unit; the Borough Manager, Borough 
Clerk, Deputy Clerk and Borough Attorney are invited to attend” and the motion carried 5-1 with 
THOMAS in opposition. 
 

8. Assembly/Manager Communications – 
The Mayor requests the Assembly discuss: 
(1) Assembly/Manager Communications 

Motion: FORSTER moved to “Refer the creation of a Manager’s Report template to the GASC,” 
and the motion carried unanimously. 

(2) Assembly/Manager procedures 
(3) Manager workload 

12.   CORRESPONDENCE –  
 A. DNR Public Notice – Requesting Input on a Proposed Relinquishment of State 

 Entitlement Lands 
 B.  HEDC Report – Haines Homebuilding Report  
13.  SET MEETING DATES –  
 A. Manager Evaluation/Review- The Evaluation forms sent out by 1/12 with the  

       evaluations due back from the Assembly to the Mayor by 1/19 with a 
 Committee-of-the Whole evaluation meeting on 1/25 at 5:30 pm.  
 B. Strategic Planning Saturday, February 3, 2024 from 1-5 location:TBD 

14. PUBLIC COMMENT: SARGENT- hire a project manager 
 TURNER – Apology to DAWSON 
 BEGLEY – Reduce the budget 

15.  ANNOUNCEMENTS/ASSEMBLY COMMENTS/DIRECTION TO OFFICERS 
16.  ADJOURNMENT at 11:25 pm.   

          ________________________ 
ATTEST:       Thomas C. Morphet, Mayor 
 
______________________________ 
Alekka Fullerton, MMC, Borough Clerk 



HOUSE JOURNAL 

1252 January 16, 2024 

EO 132 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 132 

Eliminating the Alaska Chilkat Bald Eagle Preserve Advisory Council. was read the first time and referred 

to the Resources Committee. 

The Governor's transmittal letter dated January 15 follows: 

"Dear Speaker Tilton: 

Under the authority of Article III, Section 18 of the Alaska Constitution, I am transmitting an Executive 

Order relating to the Alaska Chilkat Bald Eagle Preserve Advisory Council. Pursuant to my authority 

under Article III, Section 23 of the Alaska Constitution to make changes in the organization of the 

Executive Branch and in the assignment of functions among its units, this Order will eliminate the Alaska 

Chilkat Bald Eagle Preserve Advisory Council and reassign its statutory functions, duties, and powers to 

the Department of Natural Resources. The elimination of the Alaska Chilkat Bald Eagle Preserve Advisory 

Council is in the best interest of efficient administration. 

This Executive Order will encourage the development of expertise, eliminate duplication of functions, 

and provide a single point of responsibility for the development and monitoring of the management 

plan for the Alaska Chilkat Bald Eagle Preserve in order to increase performance and accountability. 

Sincerely, 

/s/ 

Mike Dunleavy 

Governor" 

6A



 MANAGER'S REPORT 

DATE: January 18, 2024 
TO: Mayor and Borough Assembly   
FROM:   Annette Kreitzer, Borough Manager 

Assembly Follow-up: 
1) Work with the Friends of Mosquito Lake School & Community Center/Four

Winds Resource Center to produce a new MOU for administration of the Borough 
facility known as the Mosquito Lake School. – We currently have an MOU with the 
FOMLSCS/FWRC, however we are still negotiating over funds raised and costs to the 
Borough vs other Borough facilities.  Have had to set this aside to deal with more 
pressing issues.  We are working with Delta Western to fuel more often and to do some 
barebones plowing to allow fuel delivery. 

Administration 

HIRING: 

o We are evaluating:
 Police Chief position – Met with newly reconstituted Public Safety

Advisory Board and Friends of Police regarding promoting Sgt.
Josh Dryden to the position.  The next step is to work with Sgt.
Dryden on contract terms, and to discuss staffing.

 IT support for the Library and potentially some position
restructuring – this is still a work in progress.

 Fire Chief position – NO UPDATE - We anticipate AP Triton to
begin the Operational Audit-Fire Department Strategic Planning
project this month.  Following advice from Fire Chiefs and
Administrators of other departments which have been either all
volunteer or a mix of volunteer/paid staff, I initiated a request for
proposals to assess the fire department’s current practices and
culture and to provide a road map for the next five years. This will
assist the Fire Chief, Manager and Assembly in strengthening the
department.

GRANT UPDATES: 
SS4A – Safe Streets for All: We’ll be meeting with the grant agency the 

week of February 5 to go over the grant agreement. The Haines Borough and 
Chilkoot Indian Association entered into an MOU in July 2023 to leverage our 
expertise and resources to make Haines Borough roads safer by applying for a 
grant to complete a joint Safety Action Plan.  The Assembly adopted Resolution 
23-06-1046 in support of the effort.  We received word in mid-December that

8A



Manager Report 01/18/24                                                                2 
 

our proposal was selected for an award of $ 198,768.00 in Federal funding to 
develop an Action Plan.  
 
DEC:  

o Lead Service Line Inventory – 
o This grant application ($74,072) is in response to requirements of the 

federal Lead and Copper Rule Revisions (LCRR). The LCRR requires that 
all Community and Non-Transient Non-Community public water systems 
must compile an inventory to identify the materials used for each water 
service line connected to their distribution system. The material of the 
entire service line must be included, from the main to where the line 
enters the building. The maximum grant amount is $75,000, with no 
matching funds required. 

o Meeting internally to identify potential projects for Water and Wastewater 
projects for DEC’s FY25 State Revolving Loan Fund program.  Focus is 
on safety for employees and age of infrastructure. 

  
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

o January 21 is the deadline for providing comments on the Interactive 
Comment Map at this link:  https://hainescompplanrevision.com/ 
 Here is the revised project schedule: 
 January 21st – Comment Map Closes. 
 Week of February 5th – Public Review Draft is released for a 45-day 

Comment Period.   
 Week of February 12th – Consultant Team visits Haines to launch and 

get initial feedback on the Public Review Draft. Tentative joint work 
session with the Planning Commission and Assembly, open houses in the 
Upper Valley and Townsite, and many other small group or community 
events to get feedback on the Draft Plan. 

 Early February through end of March – 45-Day Comment Period 
Opens and Closes. During this time, Agnew::Beck is planning topic-
specific dialogues, in-person discussions, and other outreach to get robust 
and representative feedback from Haines residents and partners. 

 Early April through May – Plan is Revised, Finalized, and Moves 
through Adoption Process (with additional opportunities for community 
feedback!). During this time, all community input received on the Public 
Review Draft, will be published along with how the team is addressing 
those comments in the revised/Final Plan. 

OTHER ISSUES: 
o Lutak Dock- MARAD Response– As of 1/18/24, we have not had a 

response to our January 10, 2024 letter answering questions that 
MARAD had regarding the project.  

o Porcupine Road/potential appeal of FEMA Determination Memo: The 
appeal memo putting forward the grounds for an appeal is in the 
packet.  This memo is still being refined, but the grounds are fairly 
defined. We have 60 days from January 4 to provide an appeal to the 



Manager Report 01/18/24                                                                3 
 

State, which has 60 days to respond to us before the appeal would be 
sent to FEMA.  FEMA has 90 days to respond to an appeal. 

o Purchase of Police Vehicle: The Assembly authorized the purchase of 
a Chevrolet Tahoe Police Vehicle via Resolution 23-11-1078.  We 
purchase through the State of Alaska’s contracts.  The contractor, 
Wicked Chevrolet, was unable to secure a Tahoe for us due to high 
demand and low inventory. Silverado is available and provides the 
same level of law enforcement safety and performance upgrades that 
are found in the police vehicle package.   The Silverado also provides 
more ground clearance, a locking rear differential and a beefier 
suspension package.  This does not change the amount authorized in 
the resolution ($85,000). 
  

Lands/Assessment/Permitting 

o Planning Commission provided support for “uninhibited recreation, e.g. 
dog walking, snow machining, xc-skiing, and similar activities” typically 
performed at the Borough’s 34-mile property which has a longstanding 
contamination issue. 

o This designation will assist the Brownfields Application which requires a 
designated re-use of the site and documented community support.  

o I am having legal counsel review recommendations of the Property Tax 
Assessment Ad Hoc Advisory Board, where there are substantial 
changes.  The group has specifically requested the Board of Equalization 
structure be prioritized in this review.  Staff have been attending the Ad 
Hoc Advisory Board meetings, making note of changes we can 
accomplish this assessment season, seeking legal advice on what would 
be necessary to implement some of the recommendations and reviewing 
the proposals as they relate to the entire assessment process. 

Tourism 
o Tourism Director Rebecca (Reba) Hylton is on the agenda and looking 

forward to sharing her year-end tourism report. 
o Revamping the Tourism website is a continuing project – taking it bit by 

bit. 
o Working with Haines Huts & Trails by supporting a subscription to 

Nordic Pulse, which is a real time Nordic Ski trail app showing conditions 
of ski trails.  The app is popular in the Yukon and we believe will be 
popular with Haines’ residents as well.  The app should be available by 
next month.  We are looking to see if we can import the information into 
Cityworks, which catalogs all of the Borough’s streets. 

o Winterfest, the Alcan 200, Kat 2 Koot Adventure Race and more are 
taking place February 16-17.  Check the Tourism web page for more info. 

Public Facilities/Public Works/Grants Administration 
o We have received bids for the final work on the school roof, however the 

bids are higher than the budgeted amount of $500,000.  There will likely 
be a budget amendment once the bids have been scored and evaluated. 

o Projects that Public Works Director Ed Coffland reports are going out for 
bid shortly include: 



Manager Report 01/18/24                                                                4 
 

1) Jenae’s Playground (contractor will honor original bid) 
2) Lily Lake Water Treatment Plant upgrade is to be reviewed by DEC prior to 

going out for bid. 

Ports & Harbors 

o Letnikof Harbor – Shaun McFarlane with moffatt & nichol presented initial 
thoughts at the Ports & Harbors Advisory Committee meeting January 18, but 
listened to Committee members experiences and concerns about the current 
facility and ideas committee members have for potential replacement of the 
Letnikof floats. Moffatt & nichol will bring several concepts to the committee for 
consideration and refining of the project. 

 

Library 

o Library Director Reba Heaton provided the following statistics for 2023 library 
uses: 

o 57,687 patrons 
o   9,036 people attended 689 programs or meetings 
o 25,668 uses of computer stations 
o 49,984 items were borrowed 

o The Library is initiating several new programs 
o Exploring Horizons – which will start out as a lunch time program, 

exploring different arts and mediums, beginning with wildlife sketching. 
o Mending Club – an opportunity to discuss techniques of mending 

clothing as there have been a number of inquiries about darning knit 
materials. 

o AK101 – Advice on things Alaskan, such as how to sharpen a chainsaw 
chain. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HAINES BOROUGH

Mosquito Lake Facility Revenue & Expenditures
2017 - 2023 Calendar Year Comparison

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Jan-Dec Jan-Dec Jan-Dec Jan-Dec Jan-Dec Jan-Dec Jan-Dec

Revenues

Rental Income 1,600$      2,050$      1,250$      2,000$      9,594$      1,475$      1,200$      

Expenditures

Electricity 8,325$      8,038$      9,757$      4,090$      6,876$      4,764$      4,283$      

Maintenance / Snow Removal 10,366      8,389        32,771      16,984      30,830      23,381      7,656        

Heating Fuel 6,999        7,161        6,225        7,917        8,143        14,920      14,964      

Property Insurance 3,033        3,294        3,874        4,783        4,899        4,532        6,936        

Security Phone / Alarm 1,253        1,838        1,936        1,757        1,682        1,754        1,846        

Total Expenditures 29,977$    28,720$    54,564$    35,531$    52,430$    49,351$    35,686$    

Expenditures less Revenues 28,377$    26,670$    53,314$    33,531$    42,837$    47,876$    34,486$    

8B 



Letter to the Mayor and Assembly 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 

8B1 



 
 
 
 Max E. Mertz, CPA 
 3140 Nowell Avenue 
 Juneau, Alaska 99801 
 max@mertzcpa.com 
 907.957.7131 
 

1 

December 11, 2023 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Assembly of Haines Borough 
Haines, Alaska 
 
I have audited the financial statements of Haines Borough (the Borough) as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2023, and have issued my report thereon dated December 11, 2023. Professional standards require 
that I advise you of the following matters relating to my audit. 
 
My Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 
 

As communicated in my engagement letter dated May 1, 2023, my responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that 
have been prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  My audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve you or management of its respective responsibilities. 
 

My responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform my audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, as part of my audit, I considered the internal control of the Borough solely for the 
purpose of determining my audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal 
control. 
 

I am also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in my 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, I am not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you.  
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit  
 

I conducted my audit consistent with the planned scope and timing that I previously communicated to 
you. 
 
Compliance with all Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 
 

I have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.    
 
Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices 
 

Significant Accounting Policies 
Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the Borough is included in Note 1 to the financial statements. 



 

2 
 

There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting policies 
or their application during the fiscal year under audit.  No matters have come to my attention that would 
require me, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for 
significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or 
emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 
 

Significant Accounting Estimates 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and 
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because 
of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current 
judgments.  The most significant estimates represented in the financial statements were: 
 

Management’s estimate of the collectability of accounts receivable is based on historical collections. 
I evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimate of the collectability of 
accounts receivable in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken 
as a whole.   

 

Management’s estimate of the useful lives and depreciation is based on the expected life of an asset. 
I evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the useful lives and depreciation expense 
in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.   

 

Management’s estimates of the Borough’s proportionate share of the collective net pension and 
other post-employment benefit (OPEB) liabilities and related deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources are based on information furnished by the State of Alaska and actuarial reports generated 
during the audit of the Public Employees’ Retirement System. The liabilities and amortization of 
deferrals are based on guidance provided by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. I 
evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates of the Borough’s 
proportionate share of the collective net pension and OPEB liability and deferred outflows and inflows 
of resources and related amortization in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole.  

 

Financial Statement Disclosures  
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 
 

I encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the 
audit. 
 
Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements  
 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require me to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that I believe are trivial, and communicate 
them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require me to also 
communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of 
transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole.  Management has 
corrected all identified misstatements.   
 



 

3 
 

In addition, professional standards require me to communicate to you all material, corrected 
misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. 
The following adjustments were made by me at the request of management prior to commencing audit 
procedures.  These were recorded by management: 

 

Adjustments for the net OPEB and net pension liabilities and related accounts as of June 30, 2023.  
For the primary government as a whole, the adjustments increased net pension liability by $305,000, 
reduced the net OPEB asset by $1,462,000, increased deferred outflows of resources by $198,000, 
decreased deferred inflows of resources by $3,054,000, and increased pension and OPEB expense by 
$1,639,000.  

 
Disagreements with Management 
 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to my satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, which could be significant to the Borough’s financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such 
disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 
 
Representations Requested from Management 
 

I have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the attached 
letter.  
 

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 
 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed me that, and to my knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 
 
Other Significant Matters, Findings or Issues 
 

In the normal course of my professional association with the Borough, I generally discuss a variety of 
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, operating conditions 
affecting the entity, and operating plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement.  
None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to my retention as the Borough’s auditor. 
 
Internal Control and Other Matters 
 
I have no internal control matters to bring to your attention for the current year.  
 
   
 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Mayor, Assembly and management of the 
Borough and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 















FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
Together with Independent Auditor’s Report 



 

 

HAINES BOROUGH 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 Page 

Financial Statements 

 Independent Auditor’s Report ..................................................................................................... 1 

 Statement of Net Position (Deficit) .............................................................................................. 4 

 Statement of Activities ................................................................................................................. 5 

 Balance Sheets - Governmental Funds ........................................................................................ 6 

 Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund  

  Balances - Governmental Funds ........................................................................................... 7 

 Reconciliation of the Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes  

  in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities ........................... 8 

 Balance Sheets - Proprietary Funds ............................................................................................. 9 

 Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund  

  Net Position - Proprietary Funds ......................................................................................... 10 

 Statements of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds ........................................................................... 11 

 Component Units Combining Statement of Net Position (Deficit) ............................................. 12 

 Component Units Combining Statement of Activities ................................................................ 13 

 Notes to Financial Statements .................................................................................................... 14 
 

Required Supplementary Information 

 Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund ....................................................................... 43 

 Schedules of the Borough’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension  

  and Other Postemployment Benefit Liabilities ................................................................... 44 

 Schedules of Borough Contributions .......................................................................................... 45 

 Notes to Required Supplementary Information. ........................................................................ 46  

 



 

 
Max E. Mertz, CPA, 3140 Nowell Ave., Juneau, AK 99801 
907.957.7131, max@mertzcpa.com   
   1 
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

To the Honorable Mayor and Assembly of Haines Borough 
Haines, Alaska   
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

Opinion 
 

I have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of Haines Borough (the Borough), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Borough’s basic financial statements as 
listed in the table of contents. 
 
In my opinion, based on my audit and the report of other auditors, the accompanying financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the Borough, as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
I did not audit the financial statements of the Haines Borough School District, which represents 3.3% of 
total assets in the Statement of Net Position and 21% of total revenues in the Statement of Activities. 
Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to 
me, and my opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Haines Borough School District, 
is based on the report of the other auditors. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 

I conducted my audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards (GAS), issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of my report. I am required to be independent of the Borough and to meet my other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to my audits. I believe that 
the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.   
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 

The Borough’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 
 



 

2 
 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Borough’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are issued.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 

therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and GAS will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 

if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 

made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and GAS, I: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Borough’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in my judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Borough’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 

I am required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related 
matters that I identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the budgetary 
comparison information, and pension and other post-employment schedules as listed in the table of 
contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a 
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. I have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to my 



 

3 
 

inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge I obtained during my audit of the basic 
financial statements. I do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because 
the limited procedures do not provide me with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 

 
Management has omitted the Management Discussion and Analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. My opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information. 
 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, I have also issued my report dated December 11, 
2023 on my consideration of the Borough’s internal control over financial reporting and my tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of my testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Borough’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
 
December 11, 2023



Governmental 

Activities

Business-type 

Activities Total

Component 

Units

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 4,312,000$       300$                  4,312,300$       1,674,011$       
Investments 11,580,947 -                          11,580,947       -                          
Receivables 1,854,796 172,496 2,027,292          170,553             
Internal balances, net (4,419,557)        4,419,557 -                          -                          
Current portion of leases receivable 20,161               3,483                 23,644               -                          
Inventory and prepaid expenses 90,498 338,686             429,184             19,212               

Total Current Assets 13,438,845 4,934,522 18,373,367 1,863,776

RESTRICTED ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 244,997 93,967               338,964             -                          
Investments 9,060,215 -                          9,060,215          -                          
Receivables 11,465 -                          11,465               -                          

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Leases receivable, net of current portion 590,319 271,862             862,181             -                          
Net OPEB asset 1,556,675          135,365             1,692,040          1,504,962          
Receivables, net of current portion 120,949 -                          120,949             -                          

Capital assets, net 31,886,335 51,979,056       83,865,391       153,136             

Total Assets 56,909,800       57,414,772       114,324,572     3,521,874          

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 739,674 67,239               806,913             529,523             

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 57,649,474 57,482,011 115,131,485 4,051,397

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 446,651             146,464             593,115             729                    
Accrued payroll 253,191 -                          253,191             49,279               
Deposits -                          55,221               55,221               -                          
Unearned revenue 1,617,999 -                          1,617,999          40,376               
Current portion of long-term obligations 1,192,659          174,411             1,367,070          -                          

Total Current Liabilities 3,510,500          376,096             3,886,596          90,384               

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Compensated absences 221,325 28,855               250,180             108,000             
Bonds and loans payable 3,303,199 2,761,076 6,064,275          -                          
Net pension liability 3,823,155 332,448 4,155,603          3,135,428          

Total Liabilities 10,858,179 3,498,475 14,356,654 3,333,812

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 758,505 288,216             1,046,721          159,189             

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 11,616,684       3,786,691          15,403,375       3,493,001          

Net Investment in Capital Assets 27,390,477       49,043,569       76,434,046       153,136             
Restricted for:

Bond reserves -                          93,967               93,967               -                          
Medical services 355,131 -                          355,131             -                          
Capital projects 2,105,194          -                          2,105,194          -                          
Economic development 1,419,502          -                          1,419,502          -                          
Permanent fund - nonexpendable 8,659,590          -                          8,659,590          -                          
Permanent fund - expendable 533,573             -                          533,573             -                          

Unrestricted 5,569,323 4,557,784 10,127,107       405,260             

Total Net Position (Deficit) 46,032,790$     53,695,320$     99,728,110$     558,396$           

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)

HAINES BOROUGH

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (DEFICIT)

June 30, 2023

Primary Government

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  4



Expenses

Fees, Fines, and 

Charges for 

Services

Operating 

Grants and 

Contributions

Capital Grants 

and 

Contributions

Governmental 

Activities

Business-type 

Activities Total

Component 

Units

Primary Government
Governmental Activities
General government 1,556,499$       -$                       -$                       -$                       (1,556,499)$      -$                       (1,556,499)$      -$                       
Public safety 1,485,660         5,222 445,640 -                          (1,034,798)        -                          (1,034,798)        -                          
Public works and streets 2,028,732         -                          -                          -                          (2,028,732)        -                          (2,028,732)        -                          
Economic development 538,550             -                          -                          -                          (538,550)           -                          (538,550)           -                          
Education 2,470,603         -                          -                          896,474             (1,574,129)        -                          (1,574,129)        -                          
Port development 109,461 -                          381,545             -                          272,084             -                          272,084             -                          
Culture, recreation and library 1,124,860 143,181 14,003 -                          (967,676)           -                          (967,676)           -                          

Interest on long-term debt 241,065 -                          -                          -                          (241,065)           -                          (241,065)           -                          

Total Governmental Activities 9,555,429         148,403             841,188             896,474             (7,669,364)        -                          (7,669,364)        -                          

Business-Type Activities
Water 833,400             473,916             -                          -                          -                          (359,484)           (359,484)           -                          
Sewer 862,011             576,813             -                          -                          -                          (285,198)           (285,198)           -                          
Small boat harbor 1,463,251         636,263             -                          145,452             -                          (681,536)           (681,536)           -                          
Lutak dock 232,672             339,581             -                          -                          -                          106,909             106,909             -                          

Port Chilkoot dock 453,170             264,964             -                          -                          -                          (188,206)           (188,206)           -                          

Total Business-Type Activities 3,844,504         2,291,537         -                          145,452             -                          (1,407,515)        (1,407,515)        -                          

Total Primary Government 13,399,933$     2,439,940$       841,188$          1,041,926$       (7,669,364)        (1,407,515)        (9,076,879)        -                          

Component Units 5,436,174$       51,888$             1,035,528$       -$                       (4,348,758)        

General Revenue and Transfers
Property taxes 3,479,657 -                          3,479,657         -                          
Sales taxes 4,722,342 -                          4,722,342         -                          
Provided by general government -                          -                          -                          1,638,448         
Intergovernmental revenue not restricted to specific programs 8,348,346 -                          8,348,346         3,174,364         

Investment income (loss) 302,300             104,210             406,510             38,694               
Contributions to Permanent Fund principal - inflation proofing 363,533             -                          363,533             -                          
Licenses and permits 59,021 -                          59,021               -                          
Contributions and other 86,304 -                          86,304               174,569             
Payments in lieu of taxes 284,825 -                          284,825             -                          
Land sales 35,978 -                          35,978               -                          
Transfers (495,919)           495,919             -                          -                          

Total General Revenue and Transfers 17,186,387       600,129             17,786,516       5,026,075         

Change in Net Position 9,517,023         (807,386)           8,709,637         677,317             

Net Position (Deficit), Beginning of Year 36,515,767 54,502,706       91,018,473       (118,921)           

Net Position, End of Year 46,032,790$     53,695,320$     99,728,110$     558,396$          

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Change in Net Position

HAINES BOROUGH

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  5



General Fund

Permanent 

Fund

Small Grants 

Special Revenue 

Fund

New School 

Debt Service

Capital Project 

Funds

Passenger 

Vessel Tax

Other 

Governmental 

Funds

Total 

Governmental 

Funds

Cash and cash equivalents 4,312,000$       244,997$          -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       4,556,997$       
Investments 11,580,947       9,060,215 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         20,641,162       
Receivables 1,238,212         11,465 24,207 8,967                 1,144,964 -                         169,875 2,597,690         
Due from other funds 115,843            -                         1,622,094 -                         1,088,633 211,790 2,166,379 5,204,739         
Prepaid expenses 22,694 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         22,694               
Inventory 67,804 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         67,804               

Total Assets 17,337,500$     9,316,677$       1,646,301$       8,967$               2,233,597$       211,790$          2,336,254$       33,091,086$     

Liabilities
Accounts payable 231,438$          1,941$               9,592 -$                       128,403$          7,610$               67,667$            446,651$          
Accrued payroll 253,191 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         253,191            
Due to other funds 9,495,033 121,573 -                         7,690                 -                         -                         -                         9,624,296         
Unearned revenue 631,448 -                         1,617,999 -                         -                         202,475            -                         2,451,922         

Total Liabilities 10,611,110       123,514            1,627,591         7,690                 128,403            210,085            67,667               12,776,060       

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 138,567 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         138,567            
Unavailable revenue - leases receivable 610,480 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         610,480            
Unavailable revenue - land sales -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         29,575 29,575               

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 749,047            -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         29,575               778,622            

Fund Balances
Nonspendable 90,498 8,659,590 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         8,750,088         
Restricted 2,124,788 -                         18,710               1,277                 2,105,194 -                         2,239,012 6,488,981         
Assigned 706,272 533,573            -                         -                         -                         1,705                 -                         1,241,550         
Unassigned 3,055,785 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         3,055,785         

Total Fund Balances 5,977,343         9,193,163         18,710               1,277                 2,105,194         1,705                 2,239,012         19,536,404       

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
   Resources and Fund Balances 17,337,500$     9,316,677$       1,646,301$       8,967$               2,233,597$       211,790$          2,336,254$       

Net position reported for governmental activities is different from fund balance due to:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 31,886,335

Unearned revenues and deferred inflows of resources not available to pay for current-period expenditures are reported as earned in the Statement 

of Net Position. 1,002,065

Contributions to the defined pension and OPEB plan and other related amounts in the current fiscal year are deferred outlfows on the Statement 

   of Net Position. 739,674

Pension and OPEB related deferred inflows are not recognized immediately and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.  These items are amortized 

over time. (148,025)           

Net OPEB assets are not available to pay for current prior expenitures and therefore are not reported in the funds. 1,556,675

Long-term liabilities, including bonds, compensated absences and the net pension liability are not due and payable in the current period and,

  therefore, are not reported in the funds. (8,540,338)        

Net Position of Governmental Activities 46,032,790$     

   RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

HAINES BOROUGH

BALANCE SHEETS - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2023

ASSETS

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  6



General Fund

Permanent 

Fund

Small Grants 

Special Revenue 

Fund

New School 

Debt Service

Capital Project 

Funds

Passenger 

Vessel Tax

Other 

Governmental 

Funds

Total 

Governmental 

Funds
REVENUES
Taxes

Property 3,102,243$       -$                       -$                       385,478$          -$                       -$                       14,195$            3,501,916$       
Sales 2,302,513 -                         -                         -                         1,219,120 -                         1,200,709 4,722,342         

Intergovernmental
Federal grants and contracts 429,264 -                         455,420 -                         3,117,220         -                         -                         4,001,904         
Federal payments in lieu of taxes 401,458 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         401,458            
State grants and contracts 3,086,406 -                         77,736 896,474            337,465 179,070 26,459 4,603,610         

Rentals, Service and admission fees 148,403 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         148,403            
Licenses and permits 59,021 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         59,021               
Investment earnings (loss) 225,538            440,295            -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         665,833            
Contributions and other 83,924 -                         2,380 -                         -                         -                         -                         86,304               

Total Revenues 9,838,770         440,295            535,536            1,281,952         4,673,805         179,070            1,241,363         18,190,791       

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government 1,010,146 23,664 -                         -                         -                         -                         12,794 1,046,604         
Public safety 2,097,240 -                         238,346 -                         -                         -                         123,179 2,458,765         
Public works and streets 1,212,123 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         241,174 1,453,297         
Economic development -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         555,085 555,085            
Education 1,827,340 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,827,340         
Culture, recreation, and library 1,144,106 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,144,106         

Debt service
Principal -                         -                         -                         1,045,000 -                         -                         8,758 1,053,758         
Interest -                         -                         -                         235,675 -                         -                         5,390 241,065            

Capital outlay -                         -                         -                         -                         4,726,570 -                         -                         4,726,570         

Total Expenditures 7,290,955         23,664               238,346            1,280,675         4,726,570         148,454            946,380            14,655,044       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
   Over (Under) Expenditures 2,547,815         416,631            297,190            1,277                 (52,765)             30,616               294,983            3,535,747         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 388,019 450,000            -                         -                         989,932 -                         26,200 1,854,151         
Transfers out (1,626,540)        -                         (297,190)           -                         (368,137)           (30,616)             (27,587)             (2,350,070)        
Sale of capital assets -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         17,989 17,989               

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,238,521)    450,000        (297,190)           -                         621,795        (30,616)         16,602           (477,930)       

Net Change in Fund Balances 1,309,294         866,631            -                         1,277                 569,030            -                     311,585            3,057,817         

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 4,668,049 8,326,532 18,710               -                         1,536,164 1,705 1,927,427 16,478,587       

Fund Balances, End of Year 5,977,343$       9,193,163$       18,710$            1,277$               2,105,194$       1,705$               2,239,012$       19,536,404$     

HAINES BOROUGH

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  7



Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 3,057,817$       

Capital outlays 4,395,059

Depreciation expense (1,542,280)        2,852,779         

(17,989)             

63,583               

1,165,050         

Pension and other post-employment (expense) benefit, net of pension and other post-

   employment contributions reflected in the governmental funds 2,392,985

Change in compensated absences 2,798                 

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 9,517,023$       

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the 

Statement of Activities, the costs of those assets are capitalized and are 

allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation 

expense:

Other transactions involving sales of land net of cash collected. Cash collected is 

presented as current year income in the fund financial statements.

Changes in unearned revenue in the Statement of Activities that do not provide 

current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the governmental 

funds. This amount is the change in the net amount recognized from year to 

year.

The repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current 

financial resources of governmental funds; however, this has no effect on net 

position since payments are applied to debt recorded on the Statement of Net 

Position rather than as an expense item. This amount reflects principal 

payments made during the fiscal year. 

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of 

current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in 

governmental funds:

HAINES BOROUGH

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  8



Water Sewer

Small Boat 

Harbor Lutak Dock

Port Chilkoot 

Dock Total
ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents -$                        -$                        300$                   -$                        -$                        300$                   
Receivables 31,979 52,953 25,780 32,714 29,070 172,496             
Due from other funds 47,303 557,481 939,163 2,646,984 344,469 4,535,400          
Inventory 82,477 9,934 23,356 -                          -                          115,767             
Prepaid expenses 75,000                147,919 -                          -                          -                          222,919             
Lease receivable, current portion -                          -                          -                          3,483                  -                          3,483                  

Total Current Assets 236,759             768,287             988,599             2,683,181          373,539             5,050,365          

RESTRICTED ASSETS
Revenue bond debt service reserve instruments -                          93,967 -                          -                          -                          93,967                

CAPITAL ASSETS
Land 85,584 9,000 -                          -                          -                          94,584                
Buildings, net of accumulated depreciation 17,489 2,215,701          -                          -                          294,974 2,528,164          
Improvements other than

buildings, net of accumulated depreciation 8,715,649 3,462,180 27,814,340 1,437,248 6,712,905 48,142,322        

Equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 47,022 67,108 46,747                -                          -                          160,877             
Construction in progress 129,586             388,839 11,568                523,116 -                          1,053,109          

Total Capital Assets 8,995,330          6,142,828          27,872,655        1,960,364          7,007,879          51,979,056        

LEASE RECEIVABLE, net of current portion -                      -                      -                      271,862 -                          271,862             
NET OPEB ASSET 50,762                16,921                67,682                -                          -                          135,365             
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 24,445 8,146 34,648 -                          -                          67,239                

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 9,307,296          7,030,149          28,963,584        4,915,407          7,381,418          57,597,854        

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 19,130 53,758 69,047 3,165 1,364 146,464             
Loan payable - current 92,520                -                          -                          -                          -                          92,520                
Bond payable - current -                          81,891                -                          -                          -                          81,891                
Deposits 11,284 9,252 34,685 -                          -                          55,221                
Due to other funds -                          -                          115,843 -                          -                          115,843             

Total Current Liabilities 122,934             144,901             219,575             3,165                  1,364                  491,939             

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Compensated absences 11,417 11,417 6,021 -                          -                          28,855                
Revenue bonds payable -                          711,708 -                          -                          -                          711,708             
Loans payable 1,600,468 448,900 -                          -                          -                          2,049,368          
Net pension liability 124,668 41,556 166,224 -                          -                          332,448             

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 1,736,553 1,213,581 172,245 -                          -                          3,122,379

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 4,828 1,609 6,434 275,345             -                          288,216             

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,864,315          1,360,091          398,254             278,510             1,364                  3,902,534          

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 7,302,342          4,900,329          27,872,655        1,960,364          7,007,879          49,043,569        
Restricted for bond reserves -                          93,967                -                          -                          -                          93,967                
Unrestricted 140,639             675,762             692,675             2,676,533          372,175             4,557,784          

Total Net Position 7,442,981$        5,670,058$        28,565,330$      4,636,897$        7,380,054$        53,695,320$      

HAINES BOROUGH

BALANCE SHEETS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  9



Water Sewer

Small Boat 

Harbor Lutak Dock

Port Chilkoot 

Dock Total
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 473,916$            576,813$            636,263$            339,581$            264,964$            2,291,537$        

GENERAL REVENUES
Intergovernmental - Federal Governments -                            -                            3,455                   -                            -                            3,455                   
Intergovernmental - State Governments -                            141,997              -                            -                            -                            141,997              

Total Operating and General Revenue 473,916              718,810              639,718              339,581              264,964              2,436,989           

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation 367,874 388,492 897,388 94,209 332,501 2,080,464
Salaries and benefits 184,399 199,296 80,949 113,622              60,765                639,031
Materials and supplies 92,950 41,479 317,233 -                            4,859 456,521
Utilities 44,140 95,566 90,786 6,606 8,661 245,759
Banking and insurance 17,884 30,697 40,113 5,908 16,964 111,566
Professional services 55,485 32,656 14,580 1,324 14,512                118,557
Repairs and maintenance 33,936 33,990 10,958 260                      8,615 87,759
Vehicle 4,474 3,665 10,514 10,277 4,178 33,108
Travel and training 5,047 3,834                   -                            250 1,950                   11,081
Advertising, dues and subscriptions 464 8,863 730 216 165 10,438

Total Operating Expenses 806,653              838,538              1,463,251           232,672              453,170              3,794,284           

Operating Income (Loss) (332,737)             (119,728)             (823,533)             106,909              (188,206)             (1,357,295)         

NONOPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSE)
Investment income 3,820 12,340 19,810 63,422                4,818                   104,210              
Interest expense (26,747)               (23,473)               -                            -                            -                            (50,220)               

Total Nonoperating Revenue (Expense) (22,927)               (11,133)               19,810                63,422                4,818                   53,990                

Income (Loss) Before Contributions and Transfers (355,664)             (130,861)             (803,723)             170,331              (183,388)             (1,303,305)         

Transfers In 120,516 70,145                274,642              -                            30,616                495,919              

Change in Net Position (235,148)             (60,716)               (529,081)             170,331              (152,772)             (807,386)             

Net Position, Beginning of Year 7,678,129 5,730,774 29,094,411 4,466,566 7,532,826 54,502,706        

Net Position, End of Year 7,442,981$        5,670,058$        28,565,330$      4,636,897$        7,380,054$        53,695,320$      

HAINES BOROUGH

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  10



Water Sewer

Small Boat 

Harbor Lutak Dock

Port Chilkoot 

Dock Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers 477,018$           718,273$           642,961$           358,324$           305,658$           2,502,234$        
Cash paid to suppliers (318,341)            (433,157)            (564,157)            (31,366)              (64,810)              (1,411,831)         
Cash paid to employees (225,521)            (212,415)            (137,127)            (117,105)            (60,765)              (752,933)            
Net cash transferred from (to) general fund 189,897             110,692             113,679             76,082                (190,518)            299,832             

Net Cash Flows Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities 123,053             183,393             55,356                285,935             (10,435)              637,302             

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of capital assets (129,586)            (224,735)            (349,808)            (349,357)            (24,999)              (1,078,485)         
Net cash transferred from other funds 120,516             70,145                274,642             -                           30,616                495,919             
Proceeds from loans -                           141,997             -                           -                           -                           141,997             
Repayment of loan payable (91,056)              -                           -                           -                           -                           (91,056)              
Interest on bonds and loan payable (26,747)              (23,473)              -                           -                           -                           (50,220)              
Repayment of bonds payable -                           (83,282)              -                           -                           -                           (83,282)              

Net Cash Flows Provided by (Used for) Capital and
Related Financing Activities (126,873)            (119,348)            (75,166)              (349,357)            5,617                  (665,127)            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Change in performance deposit -                           (76,385)              -                           -                           -                           (76,385)              
Cash receipts from investments 3,820                  12,340                19,810                63,422                4,818                  104,210             

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Investing Activities 3,820                  (64,045)              19,810                63,422                4,818                  27,825                

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year -                           -                           300                     -                           -                           300                     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year -$                         -$                         300$                   -$                         -$                         300$                   

Operating income (loss) (332,737)$          (119,728)$          (823,533)$          106,909$           (188,206)$          (1,357,295)$      
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
(loss) to net cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation 367,874             388,492             897,388             94,209                332,501             2,080,464          
Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit related (42,002)              (13,999)              (56,005)              (3,483)                 -                           (115,489)            
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Receivables 2,091                  (509)                    231                     18,743                40,694                61,250                
Due to/from other funds 189,897             110,692             113,679             76,082                (190,518)            299,832             
Prepaid expenses (75,000)              -                           -                           -                           -                           (75,000)              
Inventory -                           -                           15,326                -                           -                           15,326                
Accounts payable 11,039                (182,407)            (94,569)              (6,525)                 (4,906)                 (277,368)            
Compensated absences 880                     880                     (173)                    -                           -                           1,587                  
Deposits 1,011                  (28)                      3,012                  -                           -                           3,995                  

Total adjustments 455,790             303,121             878,889             179,026             177,771             1,994,597          

Net Cash Flows Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities 123,053$           183,393$           55,356$             285,935$           (10,435)$            637,302$           

HAINES BOROUGH

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET 

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  11



Haines Borough

School District

Non-major 

Component 

Unit Total
ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1,522,028$       151,983$          1,674,011$       
Receivables 170,553             -                          170,553             
Inventory and prepaid expenses 19,212               -                          19,212               

Total Current Assets 1,711,793         151,983             1,863,776         

CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 153,136             -                          153,136             

OPEB ASSETS 1,504,962         -                          1,504,962         

DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES
Pension and OPEB, net 529,523             -                          529,523             

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 3,899,414         151,983             4,051,397         

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS 
   OF RESOURCES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 729                    -                          729                    

Accrued payroll and related liabilities 49,279               -                          49,279               
Deferred revenue 40,376               -                          40,376               

Total Current Liabilities 90,384               -                          90,384               

NONCURRENT PORTION OF LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Compensated absences 108,000             -                          108,000             
Net pension liability 3,135,428         -                          3,135,428         

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES
Pension and OPEB 159,189             -                          159,189             

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 3,493,001         -                          3,493,001         

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 153,136             -                          153,136             
Unrestricted 253,277             151,983             405,260             

Total Net Position 406,413$          151,983$          558,396$          

COMPONENT UNITS COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

HAINES BOROUGH

June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  12



Expenses

Fee, Fines and 

Charges for 

Services

Operating 

Grants and 

Contributions

Capital Grants 

and 

Contributions

Haines Borough 

School District

Non-Major 

Component 

Unit Total

Component Units
Haines Borough School District 5,411,792$       51,888$             1,019,739$       -$                        (4,340,165)$      -$                        (4,340,165)$      
Non-Major Component Unit 24,382               -                           15,789               -                           -                           (8,593)                (8,593)                

Total Component Units 5,436,174$       51,888$             1,035,528$       -$                        (4,340,165)        (8,593)                (4,348,758)        

General Revenues
Provided by general government 1,605,000          33,448 1,638,448          
Grants not restricted to specific programs 3,174,364          -                           3,174,364          
Investment income 38,409               285 38,694               
Contributions and other 174,569             -                           174,569             

Total General Revenues 4,992,342          33,733               5,026,075          

Change in Net Position 652,177             25,140               677,317             

Net Position (Deficit), Beginning of Year (245,764)            126,843 (118,921)            

Net Position, End of Year 406,413$           151,983$           558,396$           

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

HAINES BOROUGH

COMPONENT UNITS COMBINING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.  13



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

14 

 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Reporting Entity 
 

The Haines Borough ("the Borough") was created in October 2002, when the public voted to combine the 
Haines Borough with the City of Haines. The Borough is incorporated under the laws of the State of Alaska 
as a Home Rule borough. The Borough operates under a Manager-Assembly form of government and 
provides the following services: public safety (police, fire, and medical services), streets and sidewalks, 
water and sewer, health, culture-recreation and economic development, port authority, public 
improvements, planning and zoning, and general administrative services. 
 

Discretely Presented Component Units 
The accompanying financial statements present the Borough and its component units. The Borough 
Assembly approves the total annual budgets of these entities and annually provides significant operating 
subsidies to them. In addition, the Borough levies taxes on behalf of the Haines Borough School District 
("the School District"). Accordingly, the Borough is considered to be financially accountable for these 
entities. However, each entity has a separate governing board (the District’s board is elected by the public) 
and the component units are therefore discretely presented in the financial statements. The component 
units are: 
 

 Haines Borough School District which provides elementary and secondary education within the 
Borough's jurisdiction. 

 Klehini Valley Volunteer Fire Department which provides fire protection in the Klehini Valley. 
 

Information about major component units is included in the Component Unit Combining Statement of 
Net Position (page 12) and the Component Unit Combining Statement of Activities (page 13). 
 

Complete financial statements for the School District may be obtained from the School District's 
administrative offices: 
Haines Borough School District 
P.O. Box 1289 Haines, AK 99827 
 

The other component unit does not have separately audited financial statements. 
 
Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 

The Statement of Net Position (Deficit) and the Statement of Activities display information about the 
primary government (the Borough) and its component units. These statements include the financial 
activities of the overall government. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed 
from these statements. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type 
activities of the Borough. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, 
intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed 
in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties. 
 

The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
the different business-type activities of the Borough, and for each function of the Borough's governmental 
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, 
therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include 1) charges to 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

15 
 

customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided 
by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not 
properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major 
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in 
the fund financial statements. 
 

The Borough reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

General Fund – The General Fund is the Borough's primary operating fund. It is used to account for all 
financial resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another 
fund. 

 

Permanent Fund – Accounts for assets held in a trustee capacity. The fund represents the cumulative 
net proceeds from the sale of municipal lands less construction of public improvements within local 
improvement districts. The principal balance of the fund cannot be spent and must be held in trust 
for the benefit of future residents of the Borough. Only income of the fund may be spent. The 
Assembly shall provide for the protection of the fund principal from the effects of inflation and may 
appropriate any remaining income for Borough expenses. 

 

Small Grants Special Revenue Fund – Accounts for revenues and expenditures related to the Borough’s 
small grants which included American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) pass-through grant from the State of 
Alaska in the fiscal year. 

 

New School Debt Service – Accounts for property tax revenue and State of Alaska grants used to make 
payments on the bonds that were issued to construct the new school and related projects. 

 

Capital Project Funds – Accounts for amounts spent on capital improvement and replacement 
projects, primarily funded by government grants and sales taxes that benefit the entire Borough area. 

 

Passenger Vessel Tax – Accounts for docks and harbors improvements, funded by passenger vessel 
taxes.  The Borough did not adopt a budget for this fund for the fiscal year.  

 

The Borough reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 

Water Fund – Accounts for activities including operating the water storage and distribution systems. 
 

Sewer Fund – Accounts for activities including operating the sewage treatment plant, sewage pumping 
stations, and collection systems. 

 

Small Boat Harbor Fund – Accounts for activities including operating the small boat harbor. 
 

Lutak Dock Fund – Accounts for activities including operating Lutak Dock. 
 

Port Chilkoot Dock Fund – Accounts for activities including operating Port Chilkoot Dock. 
 
Garbage service for the Borough is not operated by the Borough government, but is provided by a private 
business. 
 
 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

16 
 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
 

Basis of accounting refers to when financial activities are recognized in the accounts and reported in the 
financial statements. 
 

The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, respectively. Revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related 
cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and 
similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
have been met. 
 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the 
government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the 
current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated 
absences and claims and judgments (if any), are recorded only when payment is due. 
 

Property taxes, sales taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all 
considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal 
period. Other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received 
by the government. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental 
funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt are reported as other financing sources. 
 

Proprietary (or enterprise) funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering 
goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating 
revenues of the Borough's enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The water 
and sewer funds also recognize as operating revenue fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new 
customers to the systems. 
 

Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, 
and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 

Property Taxes 
Property taxes are levied on July 1 and are payable on November 1. Property taxes attach as an 
enforceable lien on property approximately one year from the due date. The Borough bills and collects 
taxes for its own and school purposes. Borough property tax revenues are recognized when they become 
measurable and available, which is generally when levied. Delinquent property taxes are not considered 
currently available, so they are reported as deferred inflow of resources in the fund financial statements. 
 

Land Sales 
The Borough also occasionally sells land using long-term receivable contracts. In the fund financial 
statements, the amounts due on the receivable contracts are not available to finance current period 
expenditures; therefore, they are reported as deferred inflow of resources in the fund financial 
statements. The amounts due on the receivable contracts are recognized as revenue when the funds are 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

17 
 

available to meet current period expenditures. These contracts are revenue for the government-wide 
Statement of Activities when the sale occurs. 
 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported 
amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from the estimated amounts. 
 
Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources, Net Position and Fund Balance 
 

Deposits and Investments 
All cash deposits are in a single financial institution and are carried at cost. The Borough considers all 
investments in money market funds and highly-liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three 
months or less to be cash equivalents. 
 

The Borough pools most of its cash resources of its various funds to facilitate the management of cash. 
The majority of the cash balances are recorded in the general fund with amounts allocated to the 
appropriate funds. 
 

Securities are stated at fair market values determined by established trading market prices and any gains 
and losses (realized and unrealized) are included in the Borough's financial activities. Security transactions 
are recorded on the trade date. 
 

Receivables and Leases Receivable 
All receivables are reported at gross value and, if appropriate, are reduced by the estimated portion that 
is expected to be uncollectible.  Leases receivable are recorded at their net present value of future lease 
noncancellable lease payments, including all reasonably certain extensions, discounted at the Borough’s 
estimated lending rate, which approximates its borrowing rate.  Leases receivable are offset by a 
corresponding deferred inflow of resources until the related lease inflows are available.   
 

Due to and Due from Other Funds 
Interfund receivables and payables arising from interfund transactions are recorded by all funds affected 
in the period in which the transactions are executed and are current obligations. Any residual balances 
outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the 
government-wide financial statements as "internal balances." 
 

Inventory 
Inventory consists of fuel, parts, supplies and museum merchandise, and is stated at the lower of cost 
(first-in, first-out basis) or market.  Reported governmental fund inventories are equally offset by a portion 
of fund balance classified as nonspendable in the fund financial statements, which indicates that they do 
not constitute “available and spendable resources” even though they are a component of net capital 
assets. 
 

Prepaid Expenses 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items. 
 

Restricted Assets 
Certain cash, investments, and receivables are classified as restricted assets in the accompanying financial 
statements because they are permanently held for the benefit of future residents of the Borough. 

In addition, assets which are restricted for specific uses by bond covenants, grant provisions, or other 
requirements are classified as restricted assets. 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

18 
 

Capital Assets 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, 
sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities 
columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as 
assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two 
years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. 
Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation, and capital 
assets received in a service concession arrangement are recorded at acquisition value as of the date of 
receipt. 
 

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or do not materially 
extend asset lives are not capitalized. 
 

Property, plant, and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives: 
  Estimated Useful Life   
Building structures and other improvements 10 – 40 years 
Machinery and equipment 5 – 15 years 
Roads, bridges and harbor infrastructure 15 – 50 years 
 

All significant capital assets including infrastructure assets are capitalized and reported by the Borough.  
 

Compensated Absences 
It is the Borough's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused personal leave benefits. 
All personal leave is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for 
example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements. 
 

Unearned Revenue 
Amounts received from grants and other sources, but not yet spent for their restricted purpose, are shown 
on the balance sheet as unearned revenue on both the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 

Long-Term Obligations 
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities or proprietary fund balance sheets. 
 

Pensions 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of 
the Alaska Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) and the Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS) and 
additions to/deductions from PERS’s and TRS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same 
basis as PERS and TRS, assuming the State’s pension support under AS 39.35.280 is a “Special Funding 
Situation” as defined by GASB 68. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments 
are reported at fair value. 
 

Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 
For purposes of measuring the OPEB assets, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Alaska 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

19 
 

Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) and additions to/deductions from PERS’s fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as PERS, and assuming the State’s OPEB support under 
AS 39.35.280 is a “Special Funding Situation” as defined by GASB 75. For this purpose, benefit payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with 
the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
In addition to assets, the Statement of Financial Position reports a separate section for deferred outflows 
of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow 
of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. 
 

In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Financial Position reports a separate section for deferred inflows 
of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of 
resources (revenue) until that time. 
 

Net Position 
Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. Net position invested in capital 
assets consist of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and related debt. Net positions are 
reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling 
legislation adopted by the Borough Assembly or through external restriction imposed by creditors, 
grantors or laws or regulations of other governments. 
 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government's policy to use 
restricted resources as budgeted by the Borough Assembly and then unrestricted resources as they are 
needed. 
 

Fund Balance 
Generally, fund balance represents the difference between the current assets, current liabilities and 
deferred inflows and outflows of resources. The Borough classifies its fund balances in accordance with 
GASB Statement No. 54 nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balance 
categories. See Note 8 for further information on the Borough’s fund balance classifications. 
 

In governmental funds, the Borough’s policy regarding when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for 
which both restricted and unrestricted (committed, assigned or unassigned) amounts are available is to 
consider restricted amounts to be reduced first. When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which 
amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used, then committed amounts 
would be reduced first, followed by assigned and then unassigned amounts. 
 

The Borough has not formally adopted a policy with respect to the minimum fund balance amount.  
 

Reclassifications 
Certain prior year financial statement balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year 
presentation. 
 

Date of Subsequent Review 
The Borough has evaluated subsequent events through the date of the Independent Auditor’s Report, 
which is commensurate with the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

20 
 

NOTE 2 - BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 
 

The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, and department using the modified accrual basis 
of accounting. The legal level of budgetary control (i.e., the level at which expenditures may not legally 
exceed appropriations) is the department level. The Assembly made several supplemental budgetary 
appropriations during the year. The significant supplemental budgetary appropriations made were related 
to intergovernmental revenue, wage and related expenses, and other operating expenses. 
 
 

NOTE 3 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

The Borough follows the practice of pooling cash equivalents of its various funds. The financial activity of 
the pooled cash and cash equivalents is accounted for in the General Fund. In some instances, funds may 
overdraft their available cash balance in the general fund. Specific fund overdrafts are treated as short-
term loans and are included on the balance sheets as liabilities in “due to other funds.” Funds’ interest in 
pooled cash and cash equivalents is included on the balance sheets as assets in “due from other funds”. 
Interest income from pooled cash equivalents is allocated ratably over the various funds. 
 

At June 30, 2023, the carrying amounts of the Borough's cash and cash equivalents balances were 
$2,937,680 while the bank and other institution balances were $3,112,323. These balances are 
categorized as follows: 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts placed with the Alaska Municipal League Investment Pool 
(AMLIP) totaling $304,788 at June 30, 2023.  AMLIP is considered to be an external investment pool. 
Regulatory oversight of AMLIP is established by Alaska State Statute 37.23, which sets forth the 
requirements regarding authorized investments and reporting. The Borough’s share of its deposit with 
AMLIP is recorded at net asset value which is determined by the amortized cost of AMLIP’s underlying 
portfolio, which approximates fair value.   
 

Cash and cash equivalents for component units other than the School District are fully insured by the FDIC.  
 

The following is the reconciliation of various components of cash to amounts presented in the statement 
of net position: 

 

    Bank Balance

collateralized with securities held by the bank 

or other institutions 3,480,666$      

Uncollateralized/uninsured -                          

3,480,666$      

Amount insured by the FDIC (up to $250,000) or  

Carrying 

Amount

Reconciliation to statement of net position-

4,312,300$      

Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 244,997

Revenue bond debt service reserve instruments 93,967

4,651,264$      

Cash and cash equivalents



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

21 
 

Custodial Credit Risk – Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Custodial credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in possession of an outside party.  As of June 30, 2023, the Borough maintains 
a mater repurchase agreement with a depository financial institution, First National Bank of Alaska 
(FNBA), which is fully collateralized. Balances at other financial institutions are subject to coverage 
provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC).  Money market mutual funds and AMLIP 
seek to preserve a $1 net asset value per share, collateralized by underlying securities. 
 
 

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS 
 

Credit risk – Statutes authorize the Borough to invest in obligations insured or guaranteed by the United 
States government or its agencies, as well as obligations of the State of Alaska or municipalities of the 
state, certificates of deposit, and corporate obligations of prime or equivalent quality as recognized by a 
nationally recognized rating organization. In addition, the Permanent Fund may be partially invested in 
equities. 
 

Custodial credit risk – The Borough does not have a formal investment policy related to custodial credit 
risk, but management does not believe there is significant risk with respect to uncollateralized funds based 
on the nature and size of the custodian. 
 

Interest rate risk – The Borough does not have a formal investment policy that limits maturities as a means 
of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 
 

Fair market value of securities is determined by established trading market prices. 
 

Investments made by the Borough are summarized below: 
 

 
 

 
 
 

This section left intentionally blank. 

Less than 1 1-5 6-10 Total

Investments held by agent in the

Borough's name

Certificates of deposit -$                   1,473,454$    -$                   1,473,454$     

U.S. Government instruments 244,318        5,805,902      -                      6,050,220        

Corporate debt 732,258        3,156,061      -                      3,888,319        

Municipal securities -                      170,874          -                      170,874           

Total debt securities 976,576$      10,606,291$  -$                   11,582,867     

Equity funds 9,058,295        

Total Investments made by the Borough 20,641,162$   

Reconciliation to statement of net position:

Investments 11,580,947

Restricted investments 9,060,215

Total Investments made by the Borough 20,641,162$   

Investment Maturities (in years)



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

22 
 

The credit quality ratings of the Borough’s corporate debt, municipal securities, and U.S. Government 
instrument investments as of June 30, 2023, as described by nationally recognized statistical rating 
organizations, are shown below: 
 

 
Fair Value Measurements 
The Borough categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure 
the fair value of the asset. Level 1 input is quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 
inputs are significant other observable inputs. Level 3 is used when there are no observable inputs.   
 
At June 30, 2023, the Borough had the following recurring fair value measurements: 
 

 
 
Securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities.  
Securities classified in Level 2 are valued using a market-based model which considers yield, price of 
comparable securities, coupon rate, maturity, credit-quality, and dealer-provided prices. The Borough 
does not have any securities classified in Level 3. 
 
 
 
 
 

This section left intentionally blank. 
 
 
 

S&P Rating

Investment Fair 

Value Percentage of Total
Corporate debt A 1,448,521$                    12.5%
Corporate debt A- 1,953,510                      16.9%
Corporate debt BBB 486,288                          4.2%

Municipal securities AA3 170,874                          1.5%

U.S. Government instruments AAA 5,561,235                      48.0%

U.S. government agencies AA+ 488,985                          4.2%

Certificates of Deposit Not Rated 1,473,454                      12.7%

11,582,867$                  100.0%

Fair

Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments in Exchange

   Traded Funds 9,058,295$     9,058,295$     -$                      -$                      

Certificates of Deposit 1,473,454       -                        1,473,454       -                        

U.S. Government Instruments 6,050,220       -                        6,050,220       -                        

Corporate Debt 3,888,319       -                        3,888,319       -                        

Municipal Securities 170,874           -                        170,874           -                        

Total Investment By Fair

   Value Level 20,641,162$  9,058,295$     11,582,867$  -$                      

Fair Value Measurements Using Investments by Fair Value 

Level 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

23 
 

NOTE 5 - RECEIVABLES, DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES, AND UNEARNED REVENUE 
 

Receivables at June 30, 2023, for the individual major and aggregate nonmajor funds were as follows: 

 
All receivables other than land sales, leases receivable (See Note 6) and revolving loans are expected to 
be collected within one year. Land sales are to be collected over various terms with interest charged at 
10%. The current portion of these contracts is approximately $15,000. Receivables also include $152,474 
due from Juneau Economic Development Council (JEDC) pursuant to an agreement for JEDC to establish 
a revolving loan fund.  All loans made by the JEDC under the agreement have been repaid to JEDC. 
 

Governmental funds report deferred inflow of resources in connection with receivables for revenues that 
are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Governmental funds also 
recognize unearned revenue, a liability, in connection with resources that have been received, but not yet 
earned.  
 

At June 30 2023, the various components of deferred inflow of resources and unearned revenue reported 
in the governmental funds balance sheets and the statements of net position were as follows: 
 

 

Taxes

Land 

Sale/LID 

Contracts

Leases 

receivable

Revolving 

Loan 

Contracts

Customer 

Charges

State and 

Federal 

Governments

Accrued 

Interest 

and Other Total

Governmental funds:

General fund 305,051$    -$                  610,480$    106,375$    -$                  110,703$        716,083$    1,238,212$ 

Permanent fund -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                        11,465 11,465          

Small grant special revenue -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    24,207            -                    24,207          

New school debt service -                    -                    -                    -                    8,967               -                    8,967            

Capital project funds 143,083 -                    -                    -                    -                    1,001,881 -                    1,144,964    

Other governmental funds 155,301 14,574 -                    -                    -                    -                        -                    169,875       

Enterprise funds:

Water fund -                    -                    -                    -                    31,979 -                        -                    31,979          

Sewer fund -                    -                    -                    -                    52,953 -                        -                    52,953          

Small boat harbor fund -                    -                    -                    -                    25,780 -                        -                    25,780          

Lutak dock fund -                    -                    275,345       -                    32,714 -                        -                    308,059       

Port Chilkoot dock fund -                    -                    -                    -                    29,070 -                        -                    29,070          

Total 603,435$    14,574$       885,825$    106,375$    172,496$    1,145,758$    727,548$    3,045,531$ 

Reconciliation to statement of net position:

Current receivables 2,027,292$ 

Current portion of leases receivable 23,644          

Leases receivable, net of curent portion 862,181       

Restricted receivables 11,465          

Noncurrent receivables, net of current portion 120,949       

3,045,531$ 

Unavailable Unearned Total
Property taxes receivable 138,567$       -$                    138,567$       
Payments in lieu of taxes, Secure Rural Schools and other -                       631,448 631,448         
Leases receivable 610,480         610,480         
Land sale/LID receivables (including accrued interest) 29,575 -                       29,575           
Grants and contributions -                       1,820,474 1,820,474     
Total Deferred Inflow of Resources/Unearned

Revenue for Governmental Funds 778,622         2,451,922     3,230,544     

Amounts recognized in the government-wide
financial statements:
Property taxes receivable (138,567)       -                       (138,567)       
Payments in lieu of taxes, Secure Rural Schools and other -                       (631,448)       (631,448)       
Land sales/LID receivables (29,575)          -                       (29,575)          

Total Unearned Revenue and Deferred Inflows for 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 610,480$       1,617,999$   2,228,479$   



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

24 
 

NOTE 6 – LEASES RECEIVABLE 
 

Leases to third parties, including lease inflows for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023 are as follows: 

 
 
NOTE 7 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2023 were as follows: 

 

Annual Lease 

Inflows

Governmental funds:

General fund:

Building Lease to the State of Alaska initiated in  2005, terminating in 2025 with no remaining 6,183$              

options for extension.  No variable lease payment provisions.

Tidelands lease to a corporation initiated in fiscal year 2020, terminating in 2050 with one optional 8,712                 

five year extension.  No variable lease payment provisions.

Property lease to a corporation initiated in fiscal year 2011, terminating in 2030 with three successive 28,480              

optional five-year extensions.  No variable lease payment provisions.

Property lease to a corporation initiated in fiscal year 2014, terminating in 2039 with two successive 1,309                 

optional five-year extensions.  No variable lease payment provisions.

Property lease to a corporation initiated in fiscal year 2007, terminating in 2027 with three successive 6,000                 

optional five-year extensions.  No variable lease payment provisions.

Enterprise funds:

Lutak Dock fund:

Property lease to a corporation initiated in fiscal year 2020, terminating in 2030 with five successive 17,424              

optional five-year extensions

Total annual lease inflows 68,108$            

Governmental activities

Balance, 

June 30, 2022 Increases

Transfers/ 

Decreases

Balance, 

June 30, 2023

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and improvements 1,151,005$   -$                     -$                       1,151,005$   
Construction in progress 909,915         3,981,483      (3,036,118)      1,855,280      

Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 2,060,920      3,981,483      (3,036,118)      3,006,285      

Other capital assets:
Buildings 35,945,384     160,064         -                         36,105,448   
Other improvements 12,238,495     2,886,933      -                         15,125,428   
Furniture and equipment 5,666,126       402,698         (447,160)          5,621,664      
Road network 2,050,070       -                       -                         2,050,070      

Total Other Capital Assets 55,900,075   3,449,695      (447,160)          58,902,610   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 20,221,497     743,637          -                         20,965,134   
Other improvements 4,509,334       398,534          -                         4,907,868      
Furniture and equipment 3,923,413       400,110          (447,160)          3,876,363      
Road network 273,195          -                       -                         273,195         

Total Accumulated Depreciation 28,927,439   1,542,281      (447,160)          30,022,560   

Other Capital Assets, net 26,972,636   1,907,414      -                         28,880,050   

Governmental Activities Capital Assets, net 29,033,556$ 5,888,897$   (3,036,118)$    31,886,335$ 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

25 
 

 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the Borough as follows: 
 

 
The Borough owns the land and buildings used by the School District and records the land, buildings, and 
certain equipment as part of governmental activity capital assets. At June 30, 2023, the cost and 
accumulated depreciation associated with these assets was $23,655,766 and $11,909,602, respectively. 
 
 
 

Business-type activities

Balance, 

June 30, 2022 Increases

Transfers/ 

Decreases

Balance, 

June 30, 2023

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and improvements 94,584$         -$                     -$                       94,584$         
Construction in progress 386,956         1,031,005      (364,852)          1,053,109      

Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 481,540         1,031,005      (364,852)          1,147,693      

Other capital assets:
Buildings 3,113,695      -                       -                         3,113,695      
Other improvements (including distribution and

collection systems) 79,392,852   364,852         (42,646)            79,715,058   
Equipment 396,952         47,480            -                         444,432         

Total Other Capital Assets 82,903,499   412,332         (42,646)            83,273,185   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 476,509         109,022         -                         585,531         
Other improvements (including distribution and

collection systems) 29,682,384   1,932,998      (42,646)            31,572,736   
Equipment 245,111         38,444            -                         283,555         

Total Accumulated Depreciation 30,404,004   2,080,464      (42,646)            32,441,822   

Other Capital Assets, net 52,499,495   (1,668,132)    -                         50,831,363   

Business-type Activities Capital Assets, net 52,981,035$ (637,127)$     (364,852)$       51,979,056$ 

Governmental activities
General government 166,217$       
Public safety 94,204
Public works and streets, including depreciation

of general infrastructure assets 377,488
Economic development 13,712
Education 669,721
Port development 10,695
Culture, recreation, and library 210,244
Total Depreciation Expense - Governmental

Activities 1,542,281$   

Business-type activities
Water 367,874$       
Sewer 388,492
Small Boat Harbor 897,388
Lutak Dock 94,209
Port Chilkoot dock fund 332,501
Total Depreciation Expense - Business-type

Activities 2,080,464$   



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

26 
 

NOTE 8 - FUND BALANCES – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 

As of June 30, 2023, fund balances of the governmental funds are classified as follows: 
 

Nonspendable Fund Balance – Nonspendable fund balance is that portion of fund equity that cannot be 
spent either because it is in a nonspendable form or because it is legally or contractually required to be 
maintained intact. 
 

Restricted Fund Balance – Restricted fund balance is that portion of fund equity that has constraints 
placed upon the use of the resources either by an external party or imposed by law. 
 

Committed Fund Balance – Committed fund balance is that portion of fund equity that can only be used 
for specific purposes determined by a formal action by the Borough Assembly. Formal action by the 
Assembly is required to establish, modify or rescind a fund balance commitment. 
 

Assigned Fund Balance – Assigned fund balance is that portion of fund equity that is constrained by the 
government's intent to be used for specific purposes, but is neither restricted nor committed. Intent can 
be expressed by the governing body itself or by the Borough Manager or his designee to whom the 
governing body has delegated the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes. 
 

Unassigned Fund Balance – Unassigned fund balance is that portion of fund balances not included in other 
spendable classifications. 
 

As of June 30, 2023, fund balances are composed of the following: 

 
 

 
 
 

General Fund

Permanent 

Fund

Small Grants 

Special 

Revenue 

New School 

Debt Service

Capital 

Projects 

Funds

Passenger 

Vessel Tax

Other 

Governmental 

 Funds

Total 

Governmental 

 Funds

Nonspendable 

Permanent fund -$                      8,659,590$     -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                       8,659,590$      

Inventory 67,804             -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                         67,804              

Prepaid expenses 22,694 -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                         22,694              

Total Nonspendable 90,498             8,659,590       -                        -                        -                        -                        -                         8,750,088        

Restricted 
Road maintenance 72,574             -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                         72,574              

Fire service areas 64,137 -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                         64,137              
Debt service -                        -                        -                        1,277               -                        -                        307 1,584                

Capital projects 527,535           -                        -                        -                        2,105,194 -                        -                         2,632,729        

Medical services -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        355,131 355,131            

Economic development -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        1,499,427 1,499,427        
Land development -                        -                        18,710             -                        -                        -                        384,147 402,857            
Townsite service area 1,460,542 -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                         1,460,542        

Total Restricted 2,124,788 -                        18,710             1,277               2,105,194 -                        2,239,012 6,488,981

Assigned 
Passenger vessel tax -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        1,705               -                         1,705                
Subsequent year

   expenditures 706,272 -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                         706,272            
Permanent fund -                        533,573           -                        -                        -                        -                        -                         533,573            

Total assigned 706,272           533,573           -                        -                        -                        1,705               -                         1,241,550        

Unassigned 3,055,785       -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                         3,055,785        

Total Fund Balances 5,977,343$     9,193,163$     18,710$           1,277$             2,105,194$     1,705$             2,239,012$      19,536,404$   



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

27 
 

NOTE 9 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 
 

The Borough’s long-term obligations include general obligation debt and revenue bonds, pension and 
OPEB liabilities and compensated absences. General obligation bonds and loans are direct obligations of 
the Borough and the Borough has pledged its full faith and credit to their repayment. Revenue bonds are 
payable from the sewer user fees. Compensated absences included in governmental activities are 
generally liquidated by the general fund. 
 

Long-term obligation activity for the year ended June 30, 2023, was as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

This section left intentionally blank. 
 
 
 

Balance, 

June 30, 2022 Additions Reductions

Balance, 

June 30, 2023

Amounts 

Due Within 

One Year

Governmental Activities

Bonds and notes payable:

Private placement USDA bonds 115,626$        -$                     (8,758)$           106,868$        9,167$            

Direct placement school

   construction bonds 5,230,000      -                        (1,045,000)     4,185,000      1,100,000      

Bond premium 315,282          -                        (111,292)        203,990          83,492            

Total bonds and notes payable 5,660,908      -                        (1,165,050)     4,495,858      1,192,659      

Net pension liability 3,464,865      -                        280,525          3,745,390      -                        

Compensated absences 224,123          -                        (2,798)             221,325          -                        

Governmental Activities

Long-term Liabilities 9,349,896$    -$                     (887,323)$      8,462,573$    1,192,659$    

Balance, 

June 30, 2022 Additions Reductions

Balance, 

June 30, 2023

Amounts 

Due Within 

One Year

Business-type Activities

Bonds and notes payable:

Private placement AMBBA sewer 

revenue bonds 805,000$        -$                     (60,000)$        745,000$        60,000$          

State of Alaska DEC loans payable 2,109,399      141,997          (109,508)        2,141,888      109,551          

Bond premium 53,459            -                        (4,860)             48,599            4,860               

Total bonds and notes payable 2,967,858      141,997          (174,368)        2,935,487      174,411          

Net pension liability 301,293          -                        24,394            325,687          -                        

Compensated absences 24,938            3,917               -                        28,855            -                        

Business-type Activities

Long-term Liabilities 3,294,089$    145,914$        (149,974)$      3,290,029$    174,411$        



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

28 
 

Bonds and notes payable at June 30, 2023, are compromised of the following individual issues: 

 
 

 

Governmental Activities: 

870,000$          

          3,315,000 

              106,868 

Total governmental activities bonds payable           4,291,868 

Unamortized premium               203,990 

Total governmental activities bonds payable           4,495,858 

Less current portion         (1,192,659)

Governmental activities long-term bonds payable  $       3,303,199 

$1,155,000 2015 school construction bonds, due in annual installments of 

$35,000 to $90,000, plus interest at 2.0% to 5.25%, through June 2036 (not 

including unamortized premium of $78,166 at June 30, 2022) 

Bonds payable to the United States Department of Agriculture used for 

construction of new library, due in semi-annual installments of $7,074 through 

September 6, 2032, including interest at 4.75% 

$9,440,000 2014 school construction bonds, due in annual installments of 

$775,000 to $1,160,000, plus interest at 1.25% to 5.0%, through October 2025 

(not including unamortized premium of 237,116 at June 30, 2022) 

Business-type Activities: 

 $          745,000 

              145,418 

                40,148 

                60,881 

                68,973 

              169,483 

          1,268,966 

                92,317 

              295,702 

Total business-type activities bond and loans payable           2,886,888 

Unamortized premium                 48,599 

Total business-type activities bond and note payable debt           2,935,487 

Less current portion            (174,411)

Business-type activities long-term bond and note payable debt  $       2,761,076 

Loan from the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, due 

in annual installments of $11,628, including interest at 1.5%, through 2041

Loan from the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, due 

in annual installments of $4,163, including interest at 1.5%, through 2041

Loan from the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, due 

in annual installments of $3,422, including interest at 1.5%, through 2036

Loan from the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, due 

in annual installments of $14,439 including interest at 1.5%, through 2034

Loan from the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, due 

in annual installments of $60,413, including interest at 1.5%, through 2041

Loan from the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, due 

in annual installments of $5,499, including interest at 1.5%, through 2037

Loan from the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, due 

in annual installments of $12,079, including interest at 1.5%, through 2038

Loan from the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, due 

in annual installments of $6,045 including interest at 1.5%, through 2034

$1,210,000 2013 sewer revenue bonds, due in semi-annual installments of 

$61,849 to $81,856, including interest at 2%, through 2033 (not including 

umamortized premium of $53,459 at June 3, 2022)



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

29 
 

In conjunction with the issuance of the above school construction bonds, the State of Alaska Department 
of Education and Early Development (DEED) has approved the project for a 70% reimbursement rate from 
the State of Alaska. As State of Alaska funding is on a reimbursement basis, the eventual payments to be 
received have not been recognized in these financial statements. Furthermore, the State of Alaska 
reduced funding amounts in fiscal year 2020 and eliminated funding in fiscal year 2021 due to budget 
constraints from the levels originally approved by DEED. 
 

In the event of default, the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank Authority (AMBBA) could intercept any amounts 
due to the Borough from the State of Alaska to satisfy the Borough’s outstanding principal and interest 
payments due on the its private placement bonds sold to AMBBA. 
 

The debt service annual requirements to amortize bond and note payable debt outstanding as of June 30, 
2023, are as follows: 
 

 
 

NOTE 10 – BOND REQUIREMENTS 
 

The various bonds of the enterprise funds require establishment of certain cash reserves and maintenance 
of certain revenue levels. 
 

The sewer revenue bonds required the establishment of a reserve account. The required reserve account 
was set up and fully funded in prior years. The reserve account balance at June 30, 2023, was $93,967. 
These bond agreements also require that the Borough maintain sewer rates at a level which will produce 
an annual amount of Net Operating Revenue, as defined by the agreement, before depreciation equal to 
at least 1.25 times the maximum amount required each year for debt service. In fiscal year 2023, sewer 
fund Net Operating Revenues were $139,107 and the debt service requirement was $87,344 resulting in 
a ratio of 1.31. 

Governmental Activities:

Year Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2024 1,192,659$      241,478$        1,434,137$      

2025 1,218,872         187,452          1,406,324         

2026 1,248,740         130,656          1,379,396         

2027 73,075               70,966            144,041            

2028 77,978               38,753            116,731            

2029-2033 427,022            140,115          567,137            

2034-2038 257,512            36,929            294,441            

4,495,858$      846,349$        5,342,207$      

Business-type Activities:

Year Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2024 174,411$          58,388$          232,799$          

2025 181,028            53,777            234,805            

2026 182,667            49,159            231,826            

2027 189,331            44,901            234,232            

2028 191,992            41,052            233,044            

2029-2033 1,047,210         145,635          1,192,845         

2034-2038 549,928            53,984            603,912            

2039-2043 418,920            14,170            433,090            

2,935,487$      461,066$        3,396,553$      



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 
 

NOTE 11 – RETIREMENT PLANS 
 

The Borough participates the State of Alaska Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS).  PERS is 
governed by the Alaska Retirement Management Board (the “Board” or the “System”), which consists of 
nine trustees, as follows: the Commissioner of the Department of Administration, the Commissioner of 
the Department of Revenue, two trustees who are members of the general public, one trustee who is 
employed as a finance officer for a political subdivision participating in either the PERS or Teachers’ 
Retirement System (TRS), two trustees who are members of PERS, and two trustees who are members of 
TRS. Benefit and contribution provisions are established by State law and may be amended only by the 
State Legislature. PERS issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at 
http://doa.alaska.gov/drb/pers/employee/ resources/index.html. 
 

Description of Plans Available to Employees 
The Borough provides three types of plans to its employees through its participation in PERS.  A cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit (DB) pension plan administered by the State of Alaska is 
provided, which includes a defined benefit health plan under the State of Alaska Retiree Healthcare Trust 
(ARHCT), a healthcare trust fund of the State of Alaska. The DB, including ARHCT, was closed to all new 
members effective July 1, 2006.   
 

A Defined Contribution Pension Plan (DC Plan) provides retirement benefits for eligible employees hired 
after July 1, 2006, as described in the Defined Contribution Pension Plan section below.  PERS also includes 
a Retiree Medical Plan (RMP) which provides major medical coverage to all employees of the DC Plan.  
 

An Occupational Death and Disability (ODD) plan provides death benefits for beneficiaries of plan 
participants and long-term disability benefits to all active members within the System.    Together the 
ARHCT, RMP and ODD plans are referred to as Other Postemployment Benefits (“OPEB”), which are 
further described in the Defined Benefit Other Postemployment Benefit Plans (OPEB) section below. 
 
State of Alaska PERS Defined Benefit Plan 
 

Benefits Provided 
PERS provides retirement, disability, death, and postemployment health benefits. Benefits vest with five 
years of credited service. Employees enrolled prior to July 1, 1986 with five or more years of credited 
service are entitled to annual pension benefits beginning at normal retirement age 55 or early retirement 
age 50. For employees enrolled after June 30, 1986, but before July 1, 2006, the normal and early 
retirement ages are 60 and 55, respectively. Employees with 30 or more years of credited service may 
retire at any age and receive a normal benefit.  
 

Retirement benefits are calculated by multiplying the average monthly compensation (AMC) times 
credited PERS service times the percentage multiplier. The AMC is determined by averaging the salaries 
earned during the five highest (three highest for Police/Fire members or members hired prior to July 1, 
1996) consecutive payroll years. Members must earn at least 115 days of credit in the last year worked to 
include it in the AMC calculation. PERS pays a minimum benefit of $25 per month for each year of service 
when the calculated benefit is less.  
 

The percentage multipliers for police/fire personnel are 2.00% for the first ten years of service and 2.50% 
for all service over 10 years. The percentage multipliers for all other participants are 2.00% for the first 10 
years, 2.25% for the next 10 years, and 2.50% for all remaining service earned on or after July 1, 1986. All 
service before that date is calculated at 2.00%.  



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 
 

Postemployment healthcare benefits are provided without cost to all members first enrolled before July 
1, 1986. Members first enrolled after June 30, 1986 and who have not reached age 60 may elect to pay 
for major medical benefits; thereafter they are provided without cost. 
 

The Plan has two types of postretirement pension adjustments (PRPA). The automatic PRPA is issued 
annually to all eligible benefit recipients, when the cost-of-living increases in the previous calendar year. 
The automatic PRPA increase is paid beginning July 1 of each year. The discretionary PRPA may be granted 
to eligible recipients by the Plan’s Administrator if the funding ratio of the Plan meets or exceeds 105%. If 
both an automatic and discretionary PRPA are granted, and a retiree is eligible for both adjustments, the 
one that provides the retiree the greater increase will be paid.  
 

Contributions 
Contribution requirements of the active plan members and the participating employers are actuarially 
determined and approved by the Board as an amount that, when combined, is expected to finance the 
costs of benefits earned by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to finance any 
unfunded accrued liability. The DB Plans members’ contribution rates are 7.5% for peace officers and 
firefighters, 9.6% for some school district employees, and 6.75% for general DB Plan members, as required 
by statute. The Borough’s effective contribution rate is 22.00% of annual payroll. Alaska Statute 39.35.280 
states that the State of Alaska, as a non-employer contributing entity, shall contribute each July 1, or as 
soon after July 1 for the ensuing fiscal year, an amount that when combined with the total employer 
contributions is sufficient to pay the System’s past service liability at the actuarially determined 
contribution rate adopted by the Board for that fiscal year. Additionally, there is a Defined Benefit 
Unfunded Liability (DBUL) amount levied against the Defined Contribution Retirement (DC) Plan payroll. 
The DBUL amount is computed as the difference between:  
 

(A) The amount calculated for the 22.00% statutory employer contribution rate on eligible salary, less 
(B) The total of the employer contributions for 

(1) the defined contribution employer matching amount, 
(2) major medical, 
(3) occupational death & disability, and 
(4) health reimbursement arrangement. 

 

The difference is deposited based on an actuarial allocation into the DB Plan’s pension and healthcare 
funds. 
 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions 
At June 30, 2023, the Borough reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability 
that reflected a reduction for State pension support provided to the Borough. The amount recognized by 
the Borough as its proportionate share of the net pension liability, the related State support, and the total 
portion of the net pension liability that was associated with the Borough were as follows: 
 
Borough’s proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 4,155,603 
 

State’s proportionate share of the net pension liability  
   associated the Borough  1,150,747 
 Total Net Pension Liability $ 5,306,350 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

32 
 

The Borough will record the entire net pension liability, including the State’s proportionate share, if the 
State of Alaska no longer contributes its proportionate share as measured by the annual State 
contributions and provided under Alaska Statute 39.35.280. By changing the existing statute to a higher 
rate above and up to the actuarially determined rate, the Borough may be required to record some or all 
of the State’s proportion and its contribution amounts will increase accordingly.     
 

The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to calculate 
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The Borough’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the Borough’s long-term share of 
contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers 
and the State, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2022, the Borough’s proportion was .08153%, which 
was a decrease of .02344% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2021.  
 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Borough recognized a net pension benefit of $1,128,662 including 
revenue of $75,173 for support provided by the State. At June 30, 2023, the Borough reported deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

  Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
       of Resources   of Resources  
Differences between projected and actual  
investment earnings  $ 118,810 $ -  
 

Borough contributions subsequent to  
measurement date   367,153  - 
      

Total  $ 485,963 $ - 
 

Of the total amount reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, $367,153 resulting 
from Borough contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows 
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense 
in the measurement year (fiscal year) as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30: 
2023 (2024) $ (14,125) 
2024 (2025)  (36,205)  
2025 (2026)  (86,914)  
2025 (2026)  256,054 

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
The total pension liability at the June 30, 2022 measurement date was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of June 30, 2018, which was rolled forward to June 30, 2022. This actuarial valuation used the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation 2.50% 
Salary increases  For peace officer/firefighter, increases range from 8.50% to 3.85% based on 

service. For all others, increases range from 6.75% to 2.75% based on service. 
Graded service, from 6.75% to 2.85% for all others 

Investment rate of return  7.25%, net of pension plan investment expenses. This is based on an average 
inflation rate of 2.5% and a real rate of return of 4.75%. 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

33 
 

Mortality Pre-commencement and post-commencement mortality rates were based 
upon the appropriate Pub-2010 Employee Table for each defined employee 
group with appropriate generational improvement. 

 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2021. The new assumptions were  
adopted to better reflect expected future experience and are effective June 30, 2022. 
 

The  long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined 
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by 
the target asset allocation percentage and adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic rates 
of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 
2022 are summarized in the following table (note that the rates shown below exclude an inflation 
component of 2.50%): 
     Target   Long-term 
     Asset  Expected Real 
  Asset Class   Allocation  Rate of Return  
  Broad domestic equity    27.00% 6.51% 
  Global equity (non-US)   18.00 5.70 
  Aggregate bonds   21.00 0.31 
  Opportunistic   6.00 - 
  Real assets   14.00 3.71 
  Private equity   14.00 9.61 
  Cash equivalents   - (0.50) 
Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed that employer and nonemployer contributions will continue to 
follow the current funding policy which meets State statutes. Based on those assumptions, the pension 
Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments 
of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
 

Sensitivity of the Borough’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate 
The following presents the Borough’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.25 percent, as well as what the Borough’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-
percentage-point higher than the current rate: 
     Current 
  1% Decrease   Discount rate   1% Increase 
   (6.25%)   (7.25%)    (8.25%)  
Borough’s proportionate share of the net  
   pension liability   $ 5,594,354 $  4,155,603 $ 2,942,455 
 

 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

34 
 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 
PERS financial report.      
 
Defined Contribution Pension Plan 
 

Plan Description 
The Borough participates in the State of Alaska Defined Contribution Pension Plan (DC Plan), Tier 4, which 
provides pension benefits and certain Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) benefits similar to those of 
the defined benefit plan for eligible employees hired after July 1, 2006.  The State of Alaska Healthcare 
Reimbursement Arrangement Plan is also provided to allow medical expenses to be reimbursed from 
individual savings accounts established for eligible participants.  The OPEB benefits are described further 
below.  Additionally, certain active members of the DB Plan were eligible to transfer to the DC Plan if that 
member had not vested in the DB Plan. Benefit and contribution provisions are established by State law 
and may be amended only by the State Legislature. The DC Plan is administered by the System. 
 

Pension Benefits 
A participating member is immediately and fully vested in that member’s contributions and related 
earnings (losses). A member shall be fully vested in the employer contributions made on that member’s 
behalf, and related earnings (losses), after five years of service. A member is partially vested in the 
employer contributions made on that member’s behalf, and the related earnings, in the ratio of (a) 25% 
with two years of service; (b) 50% with three years of service; (c) 75% with four years of service; and (d) 
100% with five years of service. 
 

Contributions 
Alaska statutes require an 8.0% contribution rate for DC Plan members. Employers are required to 
contribute 5.0% of the member’s compensation.  For the year ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, employee 
contributions totaled $155,260 and $151,065, respectively, and the Borough recognized pension expense 
of $97,037 and $94,415 respectively. 
 

Refunds 
A member is eligible to elect distribution of their account 60 days after termination of employment. 
 

Participant Accounts 
Participant accounts under the DC Plan are self-directed with respect to investment options.  
 

Each participant designates how contributions are to be allocated among the investment options. Each 
participant’s account is credited with the participant’s contributions and the appreciation or depreciation 
in unit value for the investment funds.  
 

Record-keeping/administrative fees, consisting of a fixed amount, applied in a lump sum each calendar 
year, and a variable amount, applied monthly, are deducted from each participant’s account, applied pro 
rata to all the funds in which the employee participates. This fee is for all costs incurred by the record 
keeper and by the State. The investment management fees are netted out of the funds’ performance. 
 
Defined Benefit Other Postemployment Benefit Plans (OPEB)  
 

OPEB Benefits Provided 
Major medical benefits under (ARHCT) are provided to retirees and their surviving spouses at no premium 
cost for all members hired before July 1, 1986 (Tier 1), and disabled retirees. Members hired after June 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

35 
 

30, 1986 (Tier 2), and their surviving spouses with five years of credited service (or ten years of credited 
service for those first hired after June 30, 1996 (Tier 3)) must pay the full monthly premium if they are 
under age 60 and will receive benefits at no premium cost if they are over age 60. Tier 3 members with 
between five and ten years of credited service must pay the full monthly premium regardless of their age. 
Tier 2 and Tier 3 members with less than five years of credited service are not eligible for postemployment 
healthcare benefits. Tier 2 members who are receiving a conditional benefit and are age eligible are 
eligible for postemployment healthcare benefits. In addition, peace officers and their surviving spouses 
with 25 years of peace officer membership service and all other members and their surviving spouses with 
30 years of membership service receive benefits at no premium cost, regardless of their age or date of 
hire. Peace officers/firefighters who are disabled and retire between 20 and 25 years must pay the full 
monthly premium.  
 

The Occupational Death and Disability Plan (ODD) provides death benefits for beneficiaries of plan 
participants and long-term disability benefits to all active members within the System.    
 

The Retiree Medical Plan (RMP) provides major medical coverage to retirees of the DC Plan. The RMP is 
self-insured. Members are not eligible to use this plan until they have at least 10 years of service, and are 
Medicare age eligible.   
 

Contributions 
Employer contribution rates for major medical OPEB benefits to the ARHCT are actuarially determined 
and adopted by the Board as described in the PERS defined pension plan above. The 2023 employer 
effective contribution rate is 22.00% of member's compensation. 
 

Employer contributions for the ODD plan are to each member's account based on the member's 
compensation. For fiscal year 2023, the rates are .68% for occupational death and disability for peace 
officers and firefighters, and 0.30% for occupational death and disability all other members. 
 

Employer contribution rates for the RMP plan are actuarially determined and adopted by the Board.  For 
fiscal year 2023, the employer rate is 1.10% of member’s compensation. 
 

OPEB Liabilities (Assets), OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to OPEBs 
At June 30, 2023, the Borough reported a liability (asset) for its proportionate share of the net OPEB 
liability (asset) for each OPEB plan which reflected a reduction for State OPEB support provided to the 
Borough.  The amount recognized by the Borough as its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability 
(asset), the related State support, and the total portion of the net OPEB liability (asset) that was associated 
with the Borough were as follows: 
 

  ARHCT   ODD   RMP   Total  
Borough’s proportionate share of the  
   net OPEB liability (asset) $ (1,592,178) $ (58,390) $ (41,472) $ (1,692,040)  
 

State’s proportionate share of the net  
   OPEB liability associated the Borough  (455,195)  -  -  (455,195) 
Total Net OPEB Liability (Asset) $ (2,047,373) $ (58,390) $ (41,472) $ (2,147,235) 
 
The Borough will record the entire net RMP OPEB liability, including the State’s proportionate share, if the 
State of Alaska no longer contributes its proportionate share as measured by the annual State 
contributions and provided under Alaska Statute 39.35.280. By changing the existing statute to a higher 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

36 
 

rate above and up to the actuarially determined rate, the Borough may be required to record some or all 
of the State’s proportion and its contribution amounts will increase accordingly.     
 

The net OPEB liability (asset) was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total OPEB liability (asset) used 
to calculate the net OPEB liability (asset) was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The 
Borough’s proportion of the net OPEB liability (asset) was based on a projection of the Borough’s long-
term share of contributions to the OPEB plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating 
employers and the State, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2022, the Borough’s proportion averaged 
.0809% for ARHCT, ODD and RM, which was a decrease of .0382% from the average of its proportion 
measured as of June 30, 2021.  
 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Borough recognized a net OPEB benefit of $426,011 including 
revenue of $154,626 for support provided by the State. At June 30, 2023, the Borough reported deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEBs from the following sources: 

  Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
       of Resources   of Resources  
Changes in proportion and differences  
between employer contributions $ 74,850 $ 5,676 
   

Changes in assumptions  8,030  123,166 
 

Differences between projected and actual  
investment earnings   98,222  -  
 

Differences between expected and actual  
experience   2,055  32,054  
 

Borough contributions subsequent to  
measurement date   137,793  - 
      

Total  $ 320,950 $ 160,896 
 

Of the total amount reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB, $137,793 resulting from 
Borough contributions subsequent to the measurement date and before the end of the fiscal year will be 
recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2020. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEBs will be 
recognized in OPEB expense in the measurement year (fiscal year) as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30:  
2023 (2024) $ (41,741) 
2024 (2025)  (41,381)  
2025 (2026)  (82,294)  
2026 (2027)  208,348 
2027 (2028)  (9,354) 
Thereafter (11,316)  
 

 

Actuarial Assumptions 
The total OPEB liability at the June 30, 2022 measurement date was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of June 30, 2021, which was rolled forward to June 30, 2022. This actuarial valuation used the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

37 
 

Inflation rate 2.50% per year 
Salary increases Graded by service, from 8.50% to 3.85% for peace officer/firefighter 

Graded by service, from 6.75% to 2.85% for all others 
Investment rate of return 7.25%, net of postretirement healthcare plan investment expenses. This is 

based on an average inflation rate of 2.50% and a real return of 4.75%.  
Healthcare cost trend rates Pre-65 medical: 7.0% grading down to 4.5% 

Post-65 medical: 5.5% grading down to 4.5% 
Prescription drug: 7.5% grading down to 4.5% 
Employee Group Waiver Plan (EGWP): 7.5% grading down to 4.5% 

Mortality Pre-commencement and post-commencement mortality rates were based 
upon the appropriate Pub-2010 Employee Table for each defined 
employee group with appropriate generational improvement. 

 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation were based on the results of an 

actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2017. As a result of this experience study, 

the Board adopted updated actuarial assumptions for the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation to better 

reflect expected future experience. 
 

The  long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined 
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by 
the target asset allocation percentage and adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic rates 
of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 
2022 are summarized in the following table (note that the rates shown below exclude an inflation 
component of 2.50%): 
     Target   Long-term 
     Asset  Expected Real 
  Asset Class   Allocation  Rate of Return  
  Broad domestic equity    27.00% 6.51% 
  Global equity (non-US)   18.00 5.70 
  Aggregate bonds   21.00 0.31 
  Opportunistic   6.00 - 
  Real assets   14.00 3.71 
  Private equity   14.00 9.61 
  Cash equivalents   - (0.50) 
Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed that employer and non-employer contributions will continue to 
follow the current funding policy, which meets State statutes. Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was applied 
to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability in accordance with 
the method prescribed by GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans. 
 
 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

38 
 

Sensitivity of the Borough’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
The following presents the Borough’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) calculated using 
the discount rate of 7.25 percent, as well as what the Borough’s proportionate share of the net OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.25 percent) 
or 1-percentage-point higher (8.25 percent) than the current rate: 
     Current 
  1% Decrease   Discount rate   1% Increase 
   (6.25%)   (7.25%)    (8.25%)  

ARHCT   $ (945,984) $  (1,592,178) $  (2,134,070) 
ODD   $ (55,003) $  (58,390) $   (61,039)  
RMP   $ 7,628 $  (41,472) $   (78,916) 

 

Sensitivity of the Borough’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in Healthcare Cost 
Trend Rates 
The following presents the net OPEB liability (asset) for the ARHCT and ODD plans as of June 30, 2023, 
calculated using the healthcare cost trend rates as summarized in the 2022 actuarial valuation report, as 
well as what the respective amount for each plan’s net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using 
trend rates that are one-percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point higher than the current 
healthcare cost trend rates (trend not provided for ODD as healthcare is not a component of the 
measurement of the liability or asset): 
     Current 
  1% Decrease   Trend Rate   1% Increase  
ARHCT   $ (2,197,818) $  (1,592,178) $   (868,928) 
RMP   $ (84,058) $  (41,472) $   15,887 
 
 

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
The separately issued PERS financial report has more information about the OPEB plan’s net position.    
 

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources and Inflows of Resources 
Total deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources included in the Statement of Net 
Position consists of the following at June 30, 2023: 
 

  Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
       of Resources   of Resources  
Pension Related  $ 485,963 $ - 
   

OPEB Related   320,950  160,896 
      

Total  $ 806,913 $ 160,896 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

This section left intentionally blank. 
 
 
 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

39 
 

NOTE 12 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS 
 

Interfund balances represent cash collected or disbursed on behalf of another fund. The composition of 
interfund balances as of June 30, 2023, was as follows: 

 
Interfund transfers result from the Borough’s budget process and are as follows: 

 
 

Transfers between funds are in accordance with the Borough Code and budgetary authorizations, and are 
generally used for capital outlay and operations. 
 
 

NOTE 13 - RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Haines Borough is exposed to numerous risks of loss associated with the operations of a government. 
These potential losses include, but are not limited to, employee relations and injuries, contracts, theft, 
loss or damage of property, natural disasters and general liability. The Borough manages its risks from 
these potential losses by participating in Alaska Public Entity Insurance (a governmental insurance pool), 
as well as purchasing commercial insurance coverage. This insurance has provided the Borough with 
adequate coverage in the past. The Borough's insurance is on a claims-occurred basis, except for public 
officials' coverage which is on a claims-made basis. There were no significant changes in insurance 
coverage obtained and there were no claims or settlements that exceeded insurance coverage in any of 
the past three fiscal years. 
 

Due from 

other funds

Due to other 

funds

General Fund 115,843$          9,495,033$      

Permanent Fund -                          121,573

Small Grant Special Revenue Fund 1,622,094        -                          

New School Debt Service -                          7,690                 

Captial Project Funds 1,088,633 -                          

Passenger Vessel Tax 211,790 -                          

Other Governmental Funds 2,166,379 -                          

Water Fund 47,303              -                          

Sewer Fund 557,481 -                          

Small Boat Harbor Fund 939,163 115,843

Lutak Dock Fund 2,646,984 -                          

Port Chilkoot Dock Fund 344,469 -                          

9,740,139$      9,740,139$      

Interfund Balances

General 

Fund

Capital 

Project 

Funds

Permanent 

Fund

Other 

Governmental 

Funds Water Sewer

Small Board 

Harbor

Port 

Chilkoot 

Dock Total

Transfers out:
General fund 38,943$       989,932$      450,000$     -$                          9,390$             70,145$     68,130$       -$              1,626,540$   
Capital Project Funds 230,811       -                      -                     26,200                 111,126          -                   -                     -                368,137         
Passenger vessel tax -                     -                      -                     -                             -                        -                   -                     30,616     30,616           
Other governmental

funds 118,265       -                      -                     -                             -                        -                   206,512       -                324,777         

Total 388,019$     989,932$      450,000$     26,200$               120,516$        70,145$     274,642$     30,616$   2,350,070$   

Transfers In



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

40 
 

The Borough, in the normal course of its activities, is involved in various claims and pending litigation. In 
the opinion of management and legal counsel, the disposition of these matters is not expected to have a 
material adverse effect on the Borough's general-purpose financial statements. 
 
 

NOTE 14 - PERMANENT FUND 
 

The Borough Assembly has established the Haines Borough Permanent Fund ("the Permanent Fund"). Any 
deposits into the Permanent Fund shall not be spent, but shall be held perpetually in trust for the benefit 
of the present and future generations of Borough residents. 
 

Deposits into the Permanent Fund consist of net proceeds from the sale of municipal lands, less amounts 
allocated by the Assembly for construction of public improvements within local improvement districts. 
These land sales and public improvements are originally recorded in a special revenue fund (Municipal 
Land Disposal Special Revenue Fund). At the end of each fiscal year, the excess of revenue over 
expenditures in this fund is transferred as deposits to the Permanent Fund. 
 

Income from permanent fund investments sufficient to offset the effect of inflation on principal is retained 
in the fund annually. The amount is calculated by computing a 3-year average of the rates of change of 
the Consumer Price Index and applying it to the principal balance. After inflation proofing, income derived 
from Permanent Fund investments may be used as designated by the Borough Assembly after 
consideration of public input. Income available for Borough expenses may not exceed 3.5% of the average 
total market value of the fund for 3 of the 4 fiscal years immediately preceding the budget year. 
 
NOTE 15 – CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS 
 

At June 30, 2023, the Borough had the capital projects commitments in two funds which are funded by 
federal and State of Alaska grant revenue: 
     Expended   Remaining 
  Authorization   to date   Commitment   
Porcupine Trail Road – Phase I $ 1,398,660 $ - $ 1,398,660 
Totem Street Repairs  541,385  345,346  196,039 
Beach Road Lift Station Repairs  360,250  -  360,250 
Lutak dock Replacement  25,594,147  294,500  25,299,647  
Total  $ 27,894,442 $ 639,846 $ 27,254,596  

 
 

NOTE 16 – NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has issued several new accounting standards with 
upcoming implementation dates. The following standards are required to be implemented in coming 
financial reporting periods.  Management has not fully evaluated the potential effects of these 
statements.     
 

GASB 100 – Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – Effective for fiscal year 2024, the objective of 
this Statement is to enhance accounting and financial reporting requirements for accounting changes 
and error corrections to provide more understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable 
information for making decisions or assessing accountability.  This Statement prescribes the accounting 
and financial reporting for (1) each type of accounting change and (2) error corrections.  This Statement 
requires that (a) changes in accounting principles and error corrections be reported retroactively by 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

41 
 

restating prior periods, (b) changes to or within the financial reporting entity be reported by adjusting 
beginning balances of the current period, and (c) changes in accounting estimates be reported 
prospectively by recognizing the change in the current period.  The requirements of this Statement for 
changes in accounting principles apply to the implementation of a new pronouncement in absence of 
specific transition provisions in the new pronouncement. This Statement also requires that the 
aggregate amount of adjustments to and restatements of beginning net position, fund balance, or fund 
net position, as applicable, be displayed by reporting unit in the financial statements. 

 

GASB 101 – Compensated Absences – Effective for fiscal year 2025 (“fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2023”), the objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs of 
financial statement users by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated 
absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement guidance under a 
unified model and by amending certain previously required disclosures.  This Statement requires that 
liabilities for compensated absences be recognized for (1) leave that has not been used and (2) leave 
that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash means. A liability should be 
recognized for leave that has not been used if (a) the leave is attributable to services already rendered, 
(b) the leave accumulates, and (c) the leave is more likely than not to be used for time off or otherwise 
paid in cash or settled through noncash means. GASB 101 also establishes guidance for measuring a 
liability for leave that has not been used. 
 

NOTE 17 – SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 

Subsequent to year-end, Haines Borough expended funds for the repair of Porcupine Trail Road, which 
was damaged in the community’s flood event in 2020.  The repair of the road was to be partially paid with 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) disaster funding totaling approximately $1.3 million.   
Also subsequent to year-end, FEMA notified the Borough via email that it planned to deny the funding for 
the repair because additional work was performed beyond the FEMA approved scope utilizing a separate 
funding source without FEMA environmental compliance review.    The Borough plans to appeal any denial 
by FEMA.



 

42 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Variance
Favorable

Original Final Actual (Unfavorable)
REVENUES
Taxes

Property 3,074,300$         3,074,300$         3,102,243$         27,943$               
Sales 1,887,000 2,108,000 2,302,513 194,513               

Intergovernmental
Federal grants and contracts 347,072 347,073 429,264 82,191                 
Federal payments in lieu of taxes 391,000 401,458 401,458 -                       
State grants and contracts 879,315 3,181,364 3,086,406 (94,958)                

Rentals, service and admission fees 150,000 138,750 148,403 9,653                   
Licenses and permits 58,500 58,500 59,021 521                      
Investment earnings (loss) 133,000 206,000 225,538               19,538                 

Contributions and other 61,268 83,318 83,924 606                      

Total Revenues 6,981,455           9,598,763           9,838,770           240,007               

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government 1,053,172 1,139,770 1,010,146 129,624               
Public safety 1,958,404 2,052,263 2,097,240 (44,977)                
Public works and streets 1,231,301 1,320,374 1,212,123 108,251               

Education 1,827,000 1,827,000 1,827,340 (340)                     
Culture, recreation, and library 1,109,586 1,207,063 1,144,106 62,957                 

Total Expenditures 7,179,463           7,546,470           7,290,955           255,515               

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 

   Over (Under) Expenditures (198,008)             2,052,293           2,547,815           495,522               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 435,023 363,023 388,019 24,996                 
Transfers out (207,223)             (1,110,298)          (1,626,540)          (516,242)             

Total Other Financing Sources 227,800               (747,275)             (1,238,521)          (491,246)             

Net Change in Fund Balance 29,792$               1,305,018$         1,309,294$         4,276$                 

Budget Amounts

HAINES BOROUGH

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE -
GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

See note to required supplementary information.  43



HAINES BOROUGH

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULES OF THE BOROUGH'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT LIABILITIES

Fiscal Years 2014 through 2023 for Pension and Fiscal Years 2017 through 2023 for OPEB

Pension

Borough's 

Proportion of 

the Net Pension 

Liability

Borough's 

Proportionate 

Share of the 

Net Pension 

Liability

State's 

Proportionate 

Share of the 

Net Pension 

Liability 

Associated with 

the Borough Total

Borough's 

Covered Payroll

Borough's 

Proportionate 

Share of the 

Net Pension 

Liability as a 

Percentage of 

its Covered 

Employee 

Payroll

Plan Fiduciary 

Net Position as 

a Percentage of 

the Total 

Pension Liability
2023 0.08153% 4,155,603$       1,150,747$       5,306,350$       2,736,284$       151.87% 67.97%
2022 0.10266% 3,766,158$       608,487$           4,374,645$       2,513,296$       149.85% 76.46%
2021 0.08473% 4,999,856         2,066,544         7,066,400         2,392,136         209.01% 61.61%
2020 0.08610% 4,713,228         1,872,250         6,585,478         2,577,021         182.89% 63.42%
2019 0.09380% 4,660,832         1,349,933         6,010,765         2,650,102         175.87% 65.19%
2018 0.07656% 3,957,760         1,475,078         5,432,838         2,560,610         154.56% 63.37%
2017 0.08974% 5,016,030         633,379             5,649,409         2,437,198         205.81% 59.55%
2016 0.10934% 5,302,798         1,419,808         6,722,606         2,152,611         246.34% 63.96%
2015 0.04988% 2,326,689         2,289,751         4,616,440         2,303,150         101.02% 62.37%
2014 0.04807% 2,524,319         2,758,681         5,283,000         2,281,338         110.65% 56.04%

Other Postemployment Benefit

Borough's 

Proportion of 

the Net OPEB 

Liability (Asset)

Borough's 

Proportionate 

Share of the 

Net OPEB 

Liability (Asset)

State's 

Proportionate 

Share of the 

Net OPEB 

Liability (Asset) 

Associated with 

the Borough Total

Borough's 

Covered Payroll

Borough's 

Proportionate 

Share of the 

Net OPEB 

Liability (Asset) 

as a Percentage 

of its Covered 

Employee 

Payroll

Plan Fiduciary 

Net Position as 

a Percentage of 

the Total OPEB 

Liability (Asset)
2023 0.08090% (1,692,040)$      (455,195)$         (2,147,235)$      2,736,284 $         -61.84% 128.51%
2022 0.11910% (3,154,021)$      (353,938)$         (3,507,959)$      2,513,296 $         -125.49% 135.54%
2021 0.08715% (416,930)           (159,229)           (576,159)           2,392,136         -17.43% 106.15%
2020 0.07663% 121,715             50,780               172,495             2,577,021         4.72% 63.42%
2019 0.09380% 951,775             280,368             1,232,143         2,650,102         35.91% 65.19%
2018 0.07663% 632,528             240,555             873,083             2,560,610         24.70% 63.37%
2017 0.08983% 1,024,526         389,635             1,414,161         2,437,198         42.04% 59.55%

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years since implementation of GASB 68.

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, GASB 75 was implemented in the fiscal 

year ended June 30, 2017, and, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the Borough has only presented information for the years in which 

information is available. 

See note to required supplementary information. 44



HAINES BOROUGH

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULES OF BOROUGH CONTRIBUTIONS

Fiscal Years 2014 through 2023 for Pension and Fiscal Years 2017 through 2023 for OPEB

Pension

Contractually 

Required 

Contribution

Contributions 

in Relation to 

the 

Contractually 

Required 

Contribution

Contribution 

Deficiency 

(Excess)

Borough's 

Covered Payroll

Contributions 

as a Percentage 

of Covered 

Employee 

Payroll
2023 367,153 $          (367,153)$        -$                      2,736,284$      
2022 335,428           (335,428)          -                         2,513,296        13.35%
2021 307,643           (307,643)          -                         2,392,136        12.86%
2020 338,671           (338,671)          -                         2,577,021        13.14%
2019 361,536           (361,536)          -                         2,650,102        13.64%
2018 356,457           (356,457)          -                         2,560,610        13.92%
2017 255,460           (255,460)          -                         2,437,198        10.48%
2016 201,400           (201,400)          -                         2,152,611        9.36%
2015 210,862           (210,862)          -                         2,303,150        9.16%
2014 191,334           (191,334)          -                         2,281,338        8.39%

Other Postemployment Benefit

Contractually 

Required 

Contribution

Contributions 

in Relation to 

the 

Contractually 

Required 

Contribution

Contribution 

Deficiency 

(Excess)

Borough's 

Covered Payroll

Contributions 

as a Percentage 

of Covered 

Employee 

Payroll
2023 137,793$         (137,793)$        -$                      2,736,284 $        5.04%
2022 123,082           (123,082)          -                         2,513,296        4.90%
2021 123,577           (123,577)          -                         2,392,136        5.17%
2020 127,612           (127,612)          -                         2,577,021        4.95%
2019 112,101           (112,101)          -                         2,650,102        4.23%
2018 115,245           (115,245)          -                         2,560,610        4.50%
2017 138,181           (138,181)          -                         2,437,198        5.67%

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years since implementation of 

GASB 68.

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, GASB 75 was 

implemented in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, and, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the Borough has only 

presented information for the years in which information is available. 

See note to required supplementary information. 45



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

June 30, 2023 

46 
 

 
NOTE 1 – BUDGETARY INFORMATION 
 

The Borough follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the general-purpose 
financial statements: 

 

a. No later than April 1 the Borough Manager shall submit to the Borough Assembly the proposed 
budget for the following fiscal year, along with a budget message which shall explain the proposed 
budget. It will also identify the six-year Capital Improvements Program (CIP) list. 

b. No later than June 1, a minimum of two public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer 
comments. 

c. On or before June 15, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance. 

d. The Borough Assembly may pass ordinances during the year that amend the budget. 

e. The Manager may transfer part or all of any unencumbered balance to another classification 
within a department. 

f. The Manager may transfer balances from one department to another only with the approval of 
the assembly through re-appropriation.  

g. Appropriations for the general fund and special revenue funds lapse at year-end. Appropriations 
for capital projects and those needed to meet grant requirements lapse when the project is 
complete or abandoned. 

h. The Borough’s legally prescribed budgetary basis of accounting is consistent with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States and, accordingly, where budgetary data are 
presented, the budget and actual information conform to the same basis of accounting. 

 

Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations 
For the year ended June 30, 2023 the following departments incurred expenditures in excess of their 
appropriations: 

 
 
 

NOTE2 – PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
 

GASB requires a ten-year presentation for the Schedules of The Borough's Proportionate Share of the Net 
Pension and Other Postemployment Benefit Liabilities, and Schedules of Borough Contributions; however, 
until a full ten years of information is available, the Borough will present only those years for which 
information is available.

Expenditures

    Budget Expenditures Over Budget

General Fund:

Chilkat Center 102,350$          115,769$          (13,419)$          

Municipal Swimming Pool 334,723            337,015            (2,292)               

Police Department 869,141            877,449            (8,308)               

Water Fund 475,921            521,049            (45,128)             

PC Dock 2,700                 18,956              (16,256)             

1,784,835$      1,870,238$      (85,403)$          



FEDERAL AND STATE SINGLE AUDIT REPORTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

Federal and State Single Audit Reports 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 

 

 Page 

 

Report Required by Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

 Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards .............................................. 1  
 

Federal Single Audit 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program; Report on 
Internal Control Over Compliance; and Report on the Schedule of Expenditures 

 of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance .............................................................. 3  

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards .................................................................................... 6 

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ..................................................................... 7 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ...................................................................................... 8 

Summary Schedule of Prior Year Federal Findings ............................................................................ 9 
 

State Single Audit 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program; Report 
on Internal Control Over Compliance; and Report on the Schedule of State Financial 
Assistance Required by the State of Alaska Audit Guide and Compliance Supplement 

 for State Single Audits ................................................................................................................ 10 

Schedule of State Financial Assistance ............................................................................................. 13 

Notes to Schedule of State Financial Assistance .............................................................................. 14 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ..................................................................................... 15 

Summary Schedule of Prior Year State Findings ............................................................................... 16 
 

  

 



 

 
Max E. Mertz, CPA, 3140 Nowell Ave., Juneau, AK 99801 
907.957.7131, max@mertzcpa.com   
   1 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 

To the Honorable Mayor and Assembly of Haines Borough 

Haines, Alaska 

 
I have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, 
the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and 
the aggregate remaining fund information of Haines Borough (the Borough) as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Borough’s basic financial statements, and have issued my report thereon dated December 11, 2023. My 
report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of the Borough’s 
School District, as described in my report on Haines Borough’s financial statements. This report does not 
include the results of the other auditors’ testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance 
and other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 
In planning and performing my audit of the financial statements, I considered the Borough’s internal 
control over financial reporting to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing my opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Borough’s internal control. Accordingly, I 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Borough’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
My consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control 
over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these 
limitations, during my audit I did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting 
that I consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified. 

 

 



 

2 
 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Borough's financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, I performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of my audit and, accordingly, I do not express such an opinion. The 
results of my tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 

 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of my testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
December 11, 2023 



 

 
Max E. Mertz, CPA, 3140 Nowell Ave., Juneau, AK 99801 
907.957.7131, max@mertzcpa.com   
   3 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM; REPORT ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF 

FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

 

To the Honorable Mayor and Assembly of Haines Borough 

Haines, Alaska  
 
Report on Each Major Federal Program 

I have audited Haines Borough’s (the Borough) compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of 
the Borough’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023.  The Borough's major federal 
programs are identified in the summary of the auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of 
findings and question costs. 

In my opinion, based on my audit and the report of other auditors, the Borough complied, in all material 
respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. 

The Borough's financial statements include the operations of the Borough’s School District, which 
received $646,737 in federal awards which is not included in the Borough's schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards during the year ended June 30, 2023. My compliance audit, described below, did not 
include the operations of the Borough’s School District because the Haines Borough School District 
engaged other auditors to perform an audit in accordance with Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations 
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards (Uniform Guidance), if necessary. 
 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

I conducted my audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). My responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of my report.  

I am required to be independent of the Borough and to meet my other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to my audit. I believe that the audit evidence I 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program. my audit does not provide a legal determination of the Borough’s compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the 
Borough’s federal programs. 



 

4 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the Borough’s compliance based on my audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material 
noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is 
higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about 
the Borough’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, I: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on 
a test basis, evidence regarding the Borough’s compliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above and performing such other procedures as I considered necessary in the 
circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of the Borough’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Borough’s internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

I am required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that I identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with 
a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

My consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during my audit I did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that I consider to be material weaknesses, as defined 



 

5 
 

above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may 
exist that were not identified. 

My audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of my testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

I have audited the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented 
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Borough as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Borough’s basic financial statements.  I have issued my report thereon dated December 11, 
2023 which contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. My audit was conducted for 
the purpose of forming my opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Borough’s 
financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance, and is not a required part of the 
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In my opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 

 
 
December 11, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Additional Award Passed Through
Agency and Program Name ALN Identification Award Number to Subrecipients Expenditures
U.S. Department of Agriculture
Passed through the State of Alaska Department of 

Commerce, Community, Economic Development
Forest Service School and Roads Cluster

Secure Rural Schools P.L. 115-141, Title I 10.665 n/a -$                       337,072$             
Forest Service Schools and Roads Cluster Total -                         337,072               

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture -                         337,072               

U.S. Department of Homeland Security Federal 

Emergency Management Agency

Passed through the Alaska Department Military and Veterans Affairs

Disaster Grants - Public Assistance

Haines December 2020 Storm Event 97.036 DR-4585-AK -                         3,037,189            

Disaster Grants Public Assistance Totals -                         3,037,189            

Passed through the Alaska Division of Homeland Security
and Emergency Management

2021 State Homeland Security Program 97.067 2021-SS-0025-S01 -                         73,827                 
State Homeland Security Program Totals -                         73,827                 

Total U.S. Department of Homeland Secutiy -                         3,111,016            

U.S. Department of Treasury
Passed through the State of Alaska Department of 

Commerce, Community, Economic Development

   Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund-Local Government Relief 21.027 COVID-19 22-LGLR-13 -                         254,396               
Direct-Coronavirus Fiscal Recovery Fund 21.027 COVID-19 n/a -                         45,890                 

Coronavirus Local Recovery Fund Totals -                         300,286               

Total U.S. Department of Treasury -                         300,286               

U.S. Department of Transportation
Passed through the Alaska Department of Transportation

and Public Facilities
Transit Services Programs Cluster

Alaska Community Transit Reimbursable Grant 20.513 -                         77,736                 
Transit Services Programs Cluster Total -                         77,736                 

Total U.S. Department of Transportation -                         77,736                 

U.S. Department of Interior
Passed through the Alaska Department of Natural Resources

Tlingit Park Rehab & Harbor Park Connection 15.916 n/a -                         6,203                    
Direct-Payment in Lieu of Taxes - 31 USC 6901-6907 15.226 n/a -                         401,458               

Total U.S. Department of Interior -                         407,661               

U.S. Department of Commerce-National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration

Passed through the Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission
Gulf of Alaska Pink Salmon Disaster-Distribution to 

Municipalities and Boroughs 11.022 PSMFC Job No. 1172J.20 -                         3,455                    

Total U.S. Department of Commerce -                         3,455                    

Institute of Museum and Library Services
Native American and Native Hawaiian Library Services

Passed through the Alaska State Library
Grants to States/ARPA 45.310 COVID-19 EASY22-028/ARPA48 -                         9,551                    

Total Institute of Museum and Library Services -                         9,551                    

Total Federal Expenditures -$                       4,246,777$          

HAINES BOROUGH

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

2501-23-0100

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.  6



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

7 
 

  
General 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA) presents the activity of all federal 
awards programs of Haines Borough.  The information in the SEFA is presented in accordance with the 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Haines Borough's 
reporting entity is defined in Note 1 of Haines Borough's basic financial statements. Federal awards 
received directly from federal agencies or passed through agencies of the State of Alaska or other non-
federal agencies is included in the SEFA. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
Expenditures reported on the SEFA are presented using the modified-accrual basis of accounting, which 
is described in Note 1 of Haines Borough's basic financial statements.  Such expenditures are recognized 
following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures 
are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.  Haines Borough has elected not to use the ten 
percent de-minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.   
 
Loans Outstanding 
At June 30, 2023, there was an outstanding balance of $2,141,888 of loans obtained during previous years.  
There were no new federal loans in the fiscal year 2023.     
 
Relationship to Financial Statements 
The following is a reconciliation of state revenues reported in Haines Borough's financial statements to 
state expenditures reported in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards: 
 

As reported in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes 
 in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds: 
  Intergovernmental Revenue – Federal grants and contracts $ 4,001,904 
  Intergovernmental revenues – Federal payments in lieu of taxes  401,458 
As reported in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes 
   In Fund Net Position – Proprietary Funds  3,455 
 
Less- 

Federal beneficial payments passed through the State of Alaska,  
 but not subject to reporting on the Schedule of Expenditures of  

 Federal Awards  (160,040) 
Total federal expenditures as reported on the Schedule of Expenditures 
   of Federal Awards $ 4,246,777 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

FEDERAL SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

8 
 

 

SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

 
Financial Statements 

Type of auditor’s report issued:   Unmodified  

Internal control over financial reporting: 
 Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  x No 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not 

considered to be material weakness(es)?   None reported  

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?  Yes  x No 

 Federal Awards 

Internal control over compliance: 
 Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  x No 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not 

considered to be material weakness(es)?   None reported  
 
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for 
major programs:   Unmodified  

 
Any audit findings that are required to be reported in 
   Accordance with the Uniform Guidance?  Yes  x No 

Major Programs: 
 
 ALN Name  
 97.036 Disaster Grants – Public Assistance 

 
Dollar threshold to distinguish   
   between Type A and Type B programs $750,000 
 
Auditee Qualified as a low-risk auditee?      X Yes   No 

FINDINGS – FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 

 
None reported for fiscal year 2023. 

 
FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS – MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 

 
None reported for fiscal year 2023.



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR FEDERAL FINDINGS 
 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

9 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
None reported for fiscal year 2022. 
 

 
MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 

 
None reported for fiscal year 2022. 
 
 
 

 



 

 
Max E. Mertz, CPA, 3140 Nowell Ave., Juneau, AK 99801 
907.957.7131, max@mertzcpa.com   
   10 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR STATE PROGRAM; REPORT ON 

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF STATE FINANCIAL 

ASSISTANCE REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF ALASKA AUDIT GUIDE AND COMPLIANCE SUPPLEMENT FOR 

STATE SINGLE AUDITS 

To the Borough Assembly and Borough Manager  
Haines Borough 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major State Program  
 
I have audited Haines Borough’s (the Borough) compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the State of Alaska Audit Guide and Compliance Supplement for State Single Audits that could 
have a direct and material effect on each of the Borough’s major state programs for the year ended June 
30, 2023. The Borough's major state programs are identified in the accompanying schedule of state 
financial assistance. 
 
The Borough's financial statements include the operations of the Borough’s School District, which 
expended $3,415,000 in state awards which is not included in the Borough's schedule of state financial 
assistance during the year ended June 30, 2023. My compliance audit, described below, did not include 
the operations of the Borough’s School District because the Haines Borough School District engaged other 
auditors to perform an audit in accordance with the State of Alaska Audit Guide and Compliance 
Supplement for State Single Audits. 
 
In my opinion, the Borough complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major state programs for 
the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major State Program 

I conducted my audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the State of Alaska Audit Guide.  My responsibilities under those standards and the State 
of Alaska Audit Guide are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
section of my report.  

I am required to be independent of the Borough and to meet my other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to my audit.  I believe that the audit evidence I 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion on compliance for each major 
state program.  My audit does not provide a legal determination of the Borough’s compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above. 



 

11 
 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the 
Borough ’s state programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on The Borough ’s compliance based on my audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the State of Alaska Audit Guide will always 
detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting 
from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on 
compliance about The Borough ’s compliance with the requirements of each major state program as a 
whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the State of Alaska 
Audit Guide, I: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on 
a test basis, evidence regarding The Borough ’s compliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above and performing such other procedures as I considered necessary in the 
circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of The Borough ’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the State of Alaska Audit Guide, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Borough ’s internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 

I am required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that I identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
state program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with 
a type of compliance requirement of a state program that is less severe than a material weakness in 



 

12 
 

internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

My consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during my audit I did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that I consider to be material weaknesses, as defined 
above.  However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may 
exist that were not identified. 

My audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of my testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the State 
of Alaska Audit Guide and Compliance Supplement for State Single Audits.  Accordingly, this report is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Report on Schedule of State Financial Assistance Required by the State of Alaska Audit Guide and 

Compliance Supplement for State Single Audits 

I have audited the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented 
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Borough as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Borough’s basic financial statements. I issued my report thereon dated December 11, 2023, 
which contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. My audit was conducted for the 
purpose of forming my opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Borough’s 
financial statements. The accompanying schedule of state financial assistance is presented for purposes 
of additional analysis as required by the State of Alaska Audit Guide and Compliance Supplement for State 
Single Audits, and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility 
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In my opinion, 
the schedule of state financial assistance is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 
 

 
 
December 11, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 



State Agency and Program Name Award Number Expenditures
Department of Environmental Conservation

Alaska Clean Water Revolving Loan Fund Principal Forgiveness
Loan #395261 n/a 23,938$                            
Loan #395271 n/a 118,059                            

Total Department of Commerce, Community, and 
Economic Development 141,997                            

Department of Education and Early Development
G.O. Bond School Debt Reimbursement - Reimbursement for 

prior fiscal years n/a * 2,120,669                         
G.O. Bond School Debt Reimbursement - Reimbursement for 

current fiscal year n/a * 896,474                            
Public Library Assistance Grant n/a 7,000                                 
Online with Libraries n/a 7,003                                 

Total Department of Education and Early Development 3,031,146                         

Alaska Department of Military and Veterans Affairs
Haines December 2020 Storm Event DR-4533-AK 337,465                            

Total Alaska Department of Military and Veterans Affairs 337,465                            

Department of Revenue
Shared Taxes - Marine Passenger Vessel Tax n/a 179,070                            

Total Department of Revenue 179,070                            

Total State Expenditures 3,689,678$                      

* Denotes major program

HAINES BOROUGH

SCHEDULE OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

See Notes to Schedule of State Financial Assistance.  13



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

14 
 

  
General 
The accompanying Schedule of State Financial Assistance (Schedule) presents the activity of all state 
financial assistance programs of the Haines Borough (Borough). for the year ended June 30, 2023.  The 
information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of the State of Alaska Audit 
Guide and Compliance Supplement for State Single Audits.  Because the Schedule presents only a selected 
portion of the operations of Haines Borough, it is not intended to and does not present the financial 
position, changes in net assets or cash flows of the Haines Borough. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
The Schedule is presented using the modified-accrual basis of accounting, which is described in Note 1 of 
Haines Borough's financial statements. 
 
Awards to Subrecipients 
None of the state expenditures presented in the Schedule were passed on to subrecipients. 
 
Relationship to Financial Statements 
The following is a reconciliation of state revenues reported in Haines Borough's financial statements to 
state expenditures reported in the Schedule of State Financial Assistance: 
 

State revenues and capital contributions as reported in the basic financial  
statements: 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund  
    Balances – Governmental Funds $ 4,603,610 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund  
    Balances – Proprietary Funds  141,997 
 
Less- 
Amounts reported as state revenue in the basic financial  
   statements, but not included as state expenditures in the  
   Schedule of State Financial Assistance: 
 Community jails contract with the Alaska Department of Corrections  (442,813) 
 State programs and tax receipts excluded per the State of  
    Alaska Single Audit Guide and Compliance Supplement   (613,116) 
State expenditures as reported on the Schedule of State 
 Financial Assistance $ 3,689,678 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

15 
 

SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

 
Financial Statements 

Type of auditor’s report issued:   Unmodified  

Internal control over financial reporting: 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  None reported  
 Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  x No 
 Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?  Yes  x No 
  

State Financial Assistance 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for 
 major programs:  Unmodified  

 
Internal control over compliance: 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  None reported  
 Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  x No 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish a state major program:   $750,000   
 

Auditee Qualified as a low-risk auditee?       Yes  x No 

 

 

SECTION II – FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

 
Haines Borough did not have any findings that relate to the financial statements. 

 
SECTION III – FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS – MAJOR STATE AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 

 
None reported for 2023. 

 
 



HAINES BOROUGH 
 

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR STATE FINDINGS 
 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

16 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
None reported for 2022. 
 

 
MAJOR STATE AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 

 
Haines Borough did not require a state single audit for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. 
 
 
 



8C





















Haines Borough 
Planning Commission Meeting 

December 14, 2023 
 MINUTES 

1. CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE TO THE FLAG/ROLL CALL:  Chair BROWN called the meeting
to order at 6:30 pm in the assembly chambers and on zoom, and led the pledge to the flag.

Commissioners Present: Patty BROWN, Brian O’RILEY, Rachel SAITZYK, Derek 
POINSETTE, Eben SARGENT, Erika MERKLIN, Dan SCHULTZ. 

Staff Present: Annette KREITZER/Borough Manager, Alekka FULLERTON/Borough  
Clerk, Kiersten LONG/Deputy Clerk and Andrew CONRAD/Planner, Ed COFFLAND/ 
Public Facilites Director  

  Assembly Liasion Craig LOOMIS was also present. 

Visitors Present: Melissa ARONSON, Kate SAUNDERS, Thom ELY, Don TURNER Jr., 
Riley HALL, Bruce SMITH, TJ MASON, Mathew JENSEN, Azure JENSEN, Patty 
KERMOIAN, Garret GLADSJO/proHNS, and 26 others present on zoom. 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: The following Items were on the published consent agenda indicated
by an asterisk (*)

3 – Approve Minutes from 11-9-23 Regular Planning Commission Meeting 

12A – 2024 Planning Commission Prep Schedule   

Motion: POINSETTE moved to “approve the agenda and the consent agenda” and the motion 
carried unanimously.  

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:

Note: The Minutes were approved by approval of the consent agenda: “Approve minutes from
11-9-23 Regular Planning Commission Meeting

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS:
TURNER – HFR proposal of new recycling center

ELY – Supports the heliport moratorium and Haines Friends of Recycling’s new recycling
proposal

SMITH – HFR Proposal

Hall – Supports the heliport moratorium

TUYNMAN – Public Testimony

BENASSI – Highway project

KERMOIAN – Supports Friends of Recycling, Moratorium on Heliports, Planning Commission
adopting Assembly’s Public Hearing policy.

5. CHAIR’S REPORT: Chair BROWN reported on acknowledging the public comments she has
received since the last planning commission meeting. Has talked with Travis Eckhoff about the
geo committee. Public comment about the Nuisance buildings are being dealt with. Right-Of-Way
has been brought up by a couple members of the public.

A. Land Acknowledgement

Motion: POINSETTE moved to “approve the land acknowledgement” and the motion carried 
unanimously. 

6. ASSEMBLY LIAISON REPORT: Assembly member LOOMIS answered some questions
asked by the Planning Commission

7. SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS: None

Approved 
9A



December 14, 2023 
Haines Borough Assembly Meeting 

Page 2 of 4 

8. COMMISSION COMMENTS:
A. Eben Sargent Highway Project
B. Derek Poinsette – Comprehensive Plan
C. Erika Merklin- Agricultural zone

9. STAFF REPORT:
A. Planner Report
B. Comprehensive Plan Update

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS:
A. Variance Permit #23-103 Accessory Apartment atop a detached garage within

the set back – Mathew & Azure Jensen – C-HAY-00-0300 – Waterfront Zone.
Public hearing was opened at 7:45pm and the following people chose to speak with
respect to this issue:
TURNER- Supporting denial
TUYNMAN – Supporting denial
Hearing nothing further, the public hearing was closed at 7:50.

Matthew Jensen presented with respect to his variance request. 

Variance: 
Commissioners discussed HBC 18.8.080(C) 1-5 Variance Standards for Variance Permit 23-103 
1) Except for significant structures areas, the conditions upon which the variance

application is based do not apply generally to properties in the zone or vicinity other
than the property for which the variance is sought;
After discussion the commission agreed criteria #1 was met since the shape of the property is
unique compared to the other properties in that area.

2) Such conditions arise out of natural features inherent in the property such as shape
or topographical conditional of the property or because of unusual physical
surroundings, or such conditions arise out of surrounding development or
conditions; and;
After discussion the commission agreed criteria #2 was met since the site conditions are due
to natural trapezoidal shape of the property.

3) Because of such conditions the strict application to the property of the requirements
of this chapter will result in an undue, substantial hardship to the owner of the
property such that no reasonable sue of the property could be made; and;
After discussion the commission agreed criteria #3 was not met since a use could be made of
the property by changing the current design.

4) The special conditions that require the variance are not cause by the person
seeking the variance, a predecessor in interest, or the agent of either; and;
After discussion the commission agreed criteria #4 was not met since the homeowner’s
design has caused the need for the variance.

5) The variance is not sought solely to relieve financial hardship or inconvenience;
and;
After discussion the commission agreed criteria #5 was not met since the need for the
variance is due to the homeowner’s decision on design and development plan.

6) The variance will not permit a land use in a zone in which that use is prohibited.
After discussion the commission agreed criteria #6 was met since the plan is a use-by-right in
the zone.



December 14, 2023 
Haines Borough Assembly Meeting 

Page 3 of 4 

Motion: SARGENT moved to “Deny Variance permit #23-103” and the motion carried 
unanimously.  

B. 5th – 6th Ave Drainage Designs

Motion: POINSETTE moved to “pursue corrective action #1 and wait to see if that works,” 
and the motion carried unanimously. 

C. Waste Oil Shed Designs

Motion: O’RILEY moved to “approve the waste oil shed design” and the motion carried 
unanimously. 

Motion: SARGENT moved to “solely review this project next at the 65% design level,” and the 
motion carried unanimously. 
11. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: None

12. NEW BUSINESS:
*A. 2024 Planning Commission Prep Schedule
B. Haines Friends of Recycling – New Recycling Center

Presentation by Melissa ARONSON and Kate SAUNDERS

Motion: SARGENT moved to “defer the approval and request HFR to provide a list of other 
suitable sites and rationale for the rejection of other sites,”  and the motion carried 
unanimously. 

D. Heliport Moratorium – Proposed Resolution 23-09-1064
Staff will provide additional data with respect to each existing heliport.

E. Public Testimony Policy
Motion: POINSETTE moved to “adopt the Assembly’s Rule 
 Primary Amendment: SARGENT moved to add “except that the Chair can suspend 

comment limits being mindful of equal opportunities,” and the motion carried unanimously. 
And the motion, as amended, carried unanimously. 

13. PUBLIC COMMENTS:
TURNER: Try to look forward in planning

14. ANNOUNCEMENTS / COMMISSION COMMENTS:
15. CORRESPONDENCE
16. SET MEETING DATE:

A. Planning Commission Workshop RE: Slope Stability Analysis
17. ADJOURNMENT: 10:46 pm

 ________________________ 
Patty Brown, Chair 

ATTEST: 



December 14, 2023 
Haines Borough Assembly Meeting 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 

 
______________________________ 
Alekka Fullerton, MMC, Borough Clerk 
 



Property Tax Assessments Ad Hoc Advisory Board 

December 13, 2023 5:30 pm 

Members: Glenda Gilbert, Stacey Prior, Dan Humphrey, Paul Rogers, Kevin Forster 

Others present: CFO Jila Stuart, Deputy Clerk Kiersten Long, Kim Rosado, Blythe Carter, Katey Emma 

Begly, and Scott Hansen  

On zoom: Roy Josephson, Errol Champion, Lori Smith 

Roger’s noted for the record that all members are present 

Rogers suggested to remove item 2 approval of the 12/11/23 minutes and item 3 public comments  

2. Approval of the Agenda and Consent Agenda

*November 30, 2023 Minutes

Motion: Forster moved to “approve the amendments to the agenda” and the motion carried 

unanimously.  

*Clerk’s note: This item was not heard

3. Public Comment

4. Old Business

a. Unfinished Business from last meeting

b.

Motion: Humphrey moved to “recommend proposed amendment to HBC 3.72.110 to the Assembly for 

approval” and the motion carried unanimously 

Motion: Forster moved to “recommend proposed amendment to the Board of Equalization Procedures 

to the Assembly for approval” and the motion carried unanimously.  

**Clerk’s note: Due to time constraints the board did not discuss item 5a – 5f 

5. New Business

a. Status of State Audit

b. Corrected Notices

c. Building Exemptions, Subsistence Exemptions

d. Professional and/or Real Estate Appraisals

e. Penalty for back taxes

f. Property Tax Assessment Cycle

Approved9B

afullerton
Highlight

afullerton
Highlight



6. Public Comment:

7. Board Member Comments:

8. Set Meeting Dates:

Adjourned 6:18 pm  



Property Tax Assessments Ad Hoc Advisory Board 

December 20, 2023 5:30 pm 

Members: Glenda Gilbert, Stacey Prior, Dan Humphrey, Paul Rogers, Scott Hansen  

Absent: Kevin Forster 

Others present: Deputy Clerk Kiersten Long, Kim Rosado, Blythe Carter, Katey Emma Begly, and Jennifer 

Canfield  

On zoom: State Assessor Joe Caissie, Lori Smith, CFO Jila Stuart, Errol Champion, Donna Lambert, Roy 

Josephson, Brenda Josephson  

1. Roll Call

Rogers suggested to remove the approval of the 12/13/23 minutes from item 2  

Motion: Hansen moved to “approve the amended agenda and consent agenda” and the motion carried 

unanimously.  

2. Approval of the Agenda and Consent Agenda

*December 11, 2023 minutes
**Clerk’s note: The December 13th minutes were removed from
the Consent agenda

3. Minutes of December 13, 2023 meeting

4. Public Comment

Begly – Full and True Value  

5. Old Business

a. Status of State Audit

State Assessor Joe Caissie gave and update on the audit  

b. Initial Notice to Property Owners

Motion: Prior moved to “recommend proposed amendment of HBC 3.72.080 with changes to the 

Assembly for approval” 

Amendment: Prior moved to “include the date of the properties’ last field inspection, most 

recent valuation, date and initials of inspector” and the amendment to the motion carried unanimously.   

And the motion as amended carried unanimously.  

6. New Business

a. Full and True Value

Approved



Motion: Gilbert moved to “approve the proposed amendment to HBC 3.72.020 as written and 

recommend it to the Assembly for approval” and the motion carried 4‐1 with Hansen opposed.  

b. Reconsideration of 2023 Assessments

Chairman Rogers opened up public comment for this agenda item  

Canfield, Carter, Rosado, Josephson, Turner spoke towards this agenda item.  

*Clerk’s note: Due to time constraints the board did not discuss items 6c ‐6d

c. Corrected Notices

d. Back Tax Assessments

*Public Comment:

Carter – Taxes stayed the same since the mill rate was lowered. For people that apply for Medicaid 

benefits if the value of their property exceeds a certain amount they are no longer eligible. The tax bill 

going up has nothing to do with the assessment.  

Canfield – It has nothing to do with what we are being taxed it all has to do with what we are being 

assessed. 

Rosado – If we don’t fix what happened in 2023 on the fair and true market value it can be used against 

our neighbors on comparables.   

Begly – You have to protect the minority. This is not true value it is in excess of full value. 

B. Josephson – We aren’t talking about tax bills we are talking about assessment of properties we want

full and true value.

8. Board Member Comments: Hansen, Humphry

9. Set Meeting Dates:

Adjourned 8:05 pm  



Meeting Minutes:  Commerce Committee 

November 16, 2023 – Assembly Chambers  

following Assembly Meeting re: Status of FEMA grant (Porcupine Road) 

Commerce Committee:  Debra Schnabel (Chair), Craig Loomis and Ben Aultman-Moore (Zoom) 

Attending:  Schnabel, Aultman-Moore, Tom Morphet, Alekka Fullerton, Sabina Stickler (Zoom), 
Karen Garcia (Zoom),  Cindy Jimeniz (Zoom) 

The commerce committee reviews and recommends legislative and policy matters pertaining to ports and harbors, 
tourism, economic strategies, land and resource, and planning and zoning.  This committee maintains a working 
relationship with empowered and advisory boards, the Haines Chamber of Commerce and the Haines Economic 
Development Corporation. 

Discussion/Business Conducted 

1. Welcome and Set agenda (Chair)

2. Minutes of 10/17/2023 accepted without objection

3. Discussion/Action topics:

1. Fuel Surcharges on freight:  Dave Curtis, VP, Alaska Marine Lines provided an explanation for
fuel charges on marine freight (attached).  Steve Hartman, VP Sales & Marketing, Lynden Transport
provided and explanation for fuel charges on interstate rolling stock. (attached).  Marine freight rates
seem to be proprietary; higway transportation is regulated.  Change could be brought about through
lobbying. No action taken.

2. Severance Taxes on extractive resources (except fish): Export of extracted resources is
integral to imposition of severance tax sought to balance, mitigate or respond to impacts.  Question the 
differenecs between Excise Tax, Severance Tax, Payment in Lieu of Taxes and Royalties.  More research 
needed.  Seems appropriate to identify a purpose of any tax on extracted/exported resources; suggested 
that revenues from tax be allocated to the preservation, conservation or development of public lands 
including parks and recreational trails or facilities. Chair to develop a concept paper for consideration.  

3. Trails:  As a capital project/economic engine: Consider advancing the concept of trail
development [Pyramid Harbor to Excursion Inlet, Dalton Trail/Grease Trail and connection to Long
Trail (Murkowski plan)] in partnership with Chilkat Indian Village and Chilkoot Indian Association.

4. Public Comment/Input:  (? Speaker not identified)  A future topic might be charging petroleum
haulers for use of highway or Borough-owned facilities (dock).

5. Recommendations to Assembly:  Reach out to CIV and CIA to learn of interest in collaborating
with a major trail development project.

Meeting adjourned 46 minutes after it started.  Minutes submitted by Debra Schnabel 

Approved

9C



Haines Borough
Assembly Agenda Bill

Agenda Bill No.:    
Assembly Meeting Date:     

Business Item Description: Attachments:
Subject:

Originator:

Originating Department:

Date Submitted:

Full Title/Motion:

Administrative Recommendation:

Fiscal Impact:

Expenditure Required Amount Budgeted Appropriation Required Projected Impact to Future 
Operating Budgets

$ $ $

Comprehensive Plan Consistency Review:
Comp Plan Goals/Objectives:

Consistent: Yes     No

Summary Statement:

Referral:
Referred to: Referral Date:
Recommendation: Meeting Date:

Assembly Action:
Meeting Date(s): Public Hearing Date(s):

Postponed to Date:

24-1346

01/23/24

Manager

Administration

01/18/24

1. Resolution 24-01-1084
2. Appraisal Company of Alaska RFP
3. Appraisal Company of Alaska Contract

Motion: Adopt Resolution 24-01-1084

50,000 0 N/A0

01/23/24

Hiring of a Contract Assessor

11A1



HAINES BOROUGH 
RESOLUTION No. 24-01-1084 

A Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly authorizing the Borough 
Manager to enter into a Professional Services Agreement with Appraisal 
Company of Alaska, LLC to provide contract Assessor Services for the 
Haines Borough. 

WHEREAS, due to the loss of the Haines Borough Assessor, the Haines Borough needs a 
contract Assessor to assist the Borough with consulting and administration of the ad valorem 
property tax assessments for the Haines Borough in 2024 and 2025; and 

WHEREAS, Appraisal Company of Alaska, LLC has assessment contracts with several 
municipalities similar to the Haines Borough and  

WHEREAS, Company President Michael Renfro is familiar with the Haines Borough; and 

WHEREAS, the services Appraisal Company of Alaska, LLC proposes to provide to the Haines 
Borough are: 

l. Assessments- Produce the assessment roll for the next two years, including
administration and attendance at the Board of Equalization;

2. Documentation- Documentation of existing approach to assessment in the
Haines Borough and communicate the assessment approach publicly;

3. System Review and Design- Review current assessment practices and help develop a
transition plan;

4. Technology Utilization - Identify and/or implement the technology aspects of an
assessment system;

5. Training - Provide training to Borough staff; and

WHEREAS, time is of the essence since the appraisal date is January 1, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, Appraisal Company of Alaska, LLC proposes to provide services to the Haines 
Borough at a rate not to exceed $50,000 for 2024 and $100,000 for 2025; and 

WHEREAS, Appraisal Company of Alaska, LLC shall be allowed to use a Borough vehicle for work 
as specifically authorized by this resolution per HBC 14.12.0lO(B) Personal Property or 
equipment; and 

WHEREAS, the funding for these services will be achieved via line item transfer within the 
Lands Department, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Haines Borough Assembly authorizes the 
borough manager to enter into a professional services agreement with Appraisal Company of 
Alaska, LLC to provide contract Assessor Services for the Haines Borough. 

Adopted by a duly-constituted quorum of the Haines Borough Assembly on this 23rd day of 
January, 2024. 

DRAFT























































Haines Borough 
Professional Services Agreement 

Assessment Services 
═════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════ 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND CONSULTANT 
═════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════ 

This Agreement is effective January 24, 2024 and is between the Haines Borough, a 
municipal corporation organized under the laws of the State of Alaska with its principal place of 
business at 103 Third Avenue S., Haines, Alaska 99827 (“the Borough”) and Appraisal 
Company of Alaska LLC, a company with its place of business at 405 W. 27th Ave., 
Anchorage, Alaska 99503 (“the Consultant”). The Borough and the Consultant are sometimes 
collectively referred to as “Parties.” 

The Parties agree as set forth below. 

Article I - Contract Documents 
1.1  The Contract Documents consist of this Agreement, Appraisal Company of Alaska’s 
January 12, 2024 proposal, and all modifications issued after execution of this Agreement. The 
Contract Documents shall form the Contract and are fully incorporated into this Agreement, and 
shall be a part thereof as if fully set forth herein. If anything in the Contract Documents is 
inconsistent with this Agreement, the Agreement shall govern. 

Article II - The Work 
2.1   The Consultant shall provide consulting and administrative services for the ad 
valorem property tax assessments for the Haines Borough per the attached proposal.  

Article III - Time of Commencement and Contract Term 

3.1  1. Terms of Agreement. This Agreement shall commence as of January 24, 2024, and 
shall continue to and including July 1, 2025. This Agreement may automatically be renewed 
year-to-year so long as mutually agreeable and subject to satisfactory contractor 
performance and funding availability. Contract conditions and rates may be renegotiated 
prior to any contract renewal. Either party may cancel the written contract by providing a 
minimum 30-day notice, in writing, with or without cause.  

Article IV - Cost of the Work 
4.1  The Consultant agrees to submit periodic invoices for work performed. The Consultant 
agrees to a budget not to exceed $50,000 for the contract term of January 24-June 30, 2024 
and $100,000 for the contract term of July 1, 2024-June 30, 2025.  Invoices shall be payable 
by the Borough according to its regular accounts payable schedule.  

4.2   Additional Costs.  The Haines Borough shall be responsible to provide the use of a Borough 
vehicle, when available. 

Article V - Changes in the Work 
5.1   The Borough may make changes in the work as provided in the Contract Documents. The 
Consultant may be reimbursed for changes in the work on the basis of negotiations between 
the Borough and the Consultant. The Consultant may be reasonably compensated for profit 
and overhead on changed work items. 



Haines Borough 
Professional Services Agreement 

Assessment Services 
═════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════ 

Page 2 of 2 
    ═════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════ 
Article VI - Subcontracts and Other Agreements 
6.1 The Borough shall be notified in advance by the Consultant of any work being contemplated 
for assignment to any sub-Contractor and shall approve such tasks being  
contemplated prior to commencement of any sub-contractor work.  The Borough reserves the 
right to reject or modify any sub-contract assignments, through direction to the Consultant. 

6.2  All subcontracts shall conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

Article VII - Insurance 
7.1  The Consultant and all subcontractors shall maintain the following types of insurance 
coverage and shall list the Haines Borough as an additional insured: 

a) General Liability
b) Automobile Liability
c) Errors & Omissions

Article VIII - Termination of Contract 
8.1   The Borough retains the right to terminate the contract at any time for any reason, at the 
convenience of the Borough.  If the Borough terminates the contract, it shall reimburse the 
Consultant for any unpaid cost of the work due.  The Borough shall further assume and become 
liable for obligations, commitments, and unsettled claims that the Consultant has previously 
undertaken or incurred in good faith in connection with the work.  The Consultant shall assign 
all interests or rights as the Borough may require for the purpose of vesting in the Borough the 
rights and benefits of the Consultant under such obligations or commitments. 

Article IX - Miscellaneous Provisions 
9.1 The Borough's representative under this agreement shall be the Borough Manager. 
9.2 Consultant agrees to obtain and/or furnish to the Haines Borough a copy of its State of 
Alaska and Haines Borough business license. 
9.3 This contract was approved by the Haines Borough Assembly per Resolution 22-12-1014 
on January 23, 2024. 

HAINES BOROUGH  CONSULTANT 

________________________________  ________________________________ 
Annette Kreitzer Michael C. Renfro, President 
Borough Manager Appraisal Company of Alaska, LLC 
Date Signed _____________________ Date Signed ______________________ 

Attest: 

Alekka Fullerton, Borough Clerk 



Haines Borough
Assembly Agenda Bill

Agenda Bill No.:    
Assembly Meeting Date:     

Business Item Description: Attachments:
Subject:

Originator:

Originating Department:

Date Submitted:

Full Title/Motion:

Administrative Recommendation:

Fiscal Impact:

Expenditure Required Amount Budgeted Appropriation Required Projected Impact to Future 
Operating Budgets

$ $ $

Comprehensive Plan Consistency Review:
Comp Plan Goals/Objectives:

Consistent: Yes     No

Summary Statement:

Referral:
Referred to: Referral Date:
Recommendation: Meeting Date:

Assembly Action:
Meeting Date(s): Public Hearing Date(s):

Postponed to Date:

24-1343

01/23/24

lobbyist for Haines

Manager

Administration

01/18/24

1. Resolution 24-01-1085
2. Jay Sterne Bio
3. Jay Sterne Proposal

Motion: Adopt Resolution 24-01-1085

36,000 + expenses 0 N/A0

01/23/24

Hiring of Windward Strategies as federal

11A2



HAINES BOROUGH, ALASKA 
RESOLUTION No. 24-01-1085 

A Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly Authorizing the 
Borough Manager to Enter into a Contract with Windward Strategies 
to Provide Federal Lobbying Services for $36,000. 

WHEREAS, the existing Public Safety Building is in dire need of replacement; and 

WHEREAS, the Haines Borough needs to use all available resources to obtain funding for its 
replacement; and  

WHEREAS, the most likely avenue for funding the replacement of the public safety building will 
be a combination of federal and state funding; and 

WHEREAS, the Haines Borough has other needs for which federal grant programs may be 
available; and  

WHEREAS, the Haines Borough needs assistance securing funding for the Public Safety 
Building replacement among other projects; and  

WHEREAS, Windward Strategies has indicated a willingness to work together with our State 
lobbyist to secure financing for the Haines Borough; and  

WHEREAS, a contract to hire a lobbyist is exempt from the competitive sealed bid 
requirements of Haines Borough Code (HBC) section 3.60.090 since it is a contract involving 
the obtaining of professional or specialized services such as, but not limited to, services 
rendered by architects, attorneys, engineers, and other specialized; and  

WHEREAS, there are sufficient, unbudgeted funds in the Economic Development Fund (Fund 
23) to cover this professional services contract; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE HAINES BOROUGH ASSEMBLY that the 
Borough Manager is hereby authorized to enter into an annually renewable contract with 
Windward Strategies to provide federal lobbying services to the Haines Borough in the amount 
of $36,000 plus expenses. 

Adopted by a duly-constituted quorum of the Haines Borough Assembly on this 23th day of 
January, 2024. 

___________________________ 
Thomas C. Morphet, Mayor 

Attest:  

__________________________________ 
Alekka Fullerton, MMC, Borough Clerk 

Draft 



Jay Sterne 

Jay Sterne has assisted clients for more than 27 years with a wide range of issues including 

fisheries, seafood, maritime, Arctic, natural resource, energy, environmental, and space policy 

matters. His work involves representation of private and public sector clients before Congress 

and the executive branch, including successful implementation of legislative and administrative 

strategies and coalition building.  He also provides counsel on regulatory compliance matters in 

the seafood and fisheries industries, including compliance training seminars.   

Prior to returning to the private sector, Mr. Sterne served for more than two years as a policy 

advisor to U.S. Senator Lisa Murkowski.  In this capacity he had primary responsibility for 

fisheries, maritime, natural resource, environmental, and space policy matters.  In addition to 

advising the Senator on these issues, his work included drafting legislation, preparing public 

speeches and statements, and representing the Senator throughout the state of Alaska.  He also 

campaigned for Senator Murkowski during her historic 2010 write-in campaign. 

Mr. Sterne founded and is President of Windward Strategies, where he focuses on representing 

public and private sector interests within the fisheries, seafood, energy, natural resources and 

aerospace sectors.  He has worked for three national law firms, Verner Liipfert, Reed Smith, and 

Nossaman, gaining experience alongside some of the most accomplished practitioners in the 

field.  In this capacity he teamed with two former Senate Majority Leaders, several former 

Governors, and a number of senior Executive Branch officials to represent domestic and foreign 

corporations, foreign governments, public entities, and non-profit organizations.  Before entering 

the private sector, Mr. Sterne worked as Legislative Assistant to U.S. Representative Jolene 

Unsoeld (D-WA), handling her energy, natural resources, and fisheries issues. 

He has served as pro bono counsel to the Cousteau Society, American Sail Training Association, 

and the Sea Education Association (SEA), where he also held the position of Trustee.  He 

currently serves as a member of the Board for SEA in Woods Hole, MA, and the Coral World 

Ocean and Reef Initiative (CWORI) in St. Thomas, USVI.  

J.D. – Washington & Lee University School of Law, 1993

DC Bar – Active



Proposal for the Haines Borough 

January 10, 2024 

Scope 

Windward Strategies proposes to represent the Haines Borough on federal policy, legislative and 
regulatory matters related to securing federal funding to support community priorities.  
Representation would cover the following: 

1. Maintaining and further developing strong support from the Alaska Congressional
delegation for the Borough’s federal priorities;

2. Planning and coordinating meetings in DC for Borough officials;

3. Supporting the Borough’s FY25 Congressionally Directed Spending Requests;

4. Lobbying other relevant House and Senate offices and Committees;

5. Lobbying executive branch officials to facilitate the delivery of federal funding or
implementation of federal programs; and

6. Assisting the Borough with the development and implementation of strategies to achieve
its economic development and community goals with respect to Congress and the
executive branch.

Cost 

 $3000 flat monthly fee (out-of-pocket travel expenses outside the DC metro area, to be 
approved in advanced by the Borough) 

Term 

 January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2024 

 Contract can be terminated with 30 days-notice, or extended by mutual agreement 

Coordination 

All lobbying activities to be coordinated and approved by officials designated by the Haines 
Borough. 



Haines Borough
Assembly Agenda Bill

Agenda Bill No.:    
Assembly Meeting Date:     

Business Item Description: Attachments:
Subject:

Originator:

Originating Department:

Date Submitted:

Full Title/Motion:

Administrative Recommendation:

Fiscal Impact:

Expenditure Required Amount Budgeted Appropriation Required Projected Impact to Future 
Operating Budgets

$ $ $

Comprehensive Plan Consistency Review:
Comp Plan Goals/Objectives:

Consistent: Yes     No

Summary Statement:

Referral:
Referred to: Referral Date:
Recommendation: Meeting Date:

Assembly Action:
Meeting Date(s): Public Hearing Date(s):

Postponed to Date:

24-1344

01/23/24

for Haines

Manager

Administration

01/18/24

1. Resolution 24-01-1086
2. Theodore Popely Proposal

Motion: Adopt Resolution 24-01-1086

48,000 + expenses 0 N/A0

01/23/24

Hiring of Theodore W. Popely State lobbyist

11A3



HAINES BOROUGH, ALASKA 
RESOLUTION No. 24-01-1086 

A Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly Authorizing the 
Borough Manager to Enter into a Contract with Theodore W. Popely, 
PC to Provide State Lobbying Services for $48,000. 

WHEREAS, in 2021, 2022, and 2023 the Haines Borough hired Theodore W. Popely, PC 
(Popely) to provide lobbying services and advocate for the Haines Borough; and 

WHEREAS, the previous contracts were annual; and 

WHEREAS, the current proposal is for an annually renewable contract which would be renewed 
up to three times based upon a satisfactory review by the manager, and subject to available 
funding; and  

WHEREAS, a contract to hire a lobbyist is exempt from the competitive sealed bid 
requirements of Haines Borough Code (HBC) section 3.60.090 since it is a contract involving 
the obtaining of professional or specialized services such as, but not limited to, services 
rendered by architects, attorneys, engineers, and other specialized; and  

WHEREAS, Popely was instrumental in successfully securing $3.2 Million for the state match 
for our RAISE Grant for Lutak Dock; and  

WHEREAS, there are sufficient, unbudgeted funds in the Economic Development Fund (Fund 
23) to cover this professional services contract; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE HAINES BOROUGH ASSEMBLY that the 
Borough Manager is hereby authorized to enter into an annually renewable contract with 
Theodore W. Popely, PC to provide lobbying services to the Haines Borough in the amount of 
$48,000. 

Adopted by a duly-constituted quorum of the Haines Borough Assembly on this 23th day of 
January, 2024. 

___________________________ 
Thomas C. Morphet, Mayor 

Attest:  

__________________________________ 
Alekka Fullerton, MMC, Borough Clerk 

Draft 



January 15, 2024 

Haines Borough Assembly Members 
P.O. Box 1209 
Haines, Alaska 99827  

RE: Lobbying Proposal for Alaska, 2024 

Dear Members of the Assembly: 

Please consider the following proposal for a professional services engagement in 2024. 

Introduction 

The Haines Borough seeks to retain a government relations consultant to pursue funding 
for various capital projects within the Borough of Haines, and for other matters of 
importance to be determined by the Borough government. Theodore W. Popely, PC has 
been operating under a 2023 contract which expired on December 31. Darwin Peterson is 
a valued associate member of our firm. His assistance has been instrumental in achieving 
our funding requests.  He will continue to assist as we go forward in 2024. 

Professional Background 

Theodore W. Popely, PC has been one of Alaska’s most successful lobbying practices for 
over 17 years. With the addition of Darwin Peterson to the team, we share over 50 years 
of experience working in the halls of State government in Juneau. Prior to lobbying, Mr. 
Popely served as Chief Legal Counsel for the Alaska Legislature for over 13 years. Mr. 
Peterson has worked as Legislative Director under former Governor Bill Walker, and has 
worked for the Senate Finance Committee, as well as Chief of Staff for current Senate 
Finance Co-Chair Bert Stedman and for current Finance Committee member Senator 
Click Bishop.  

Our longstanding professional and personal relationships with key policymakers 
substantially augment our lobbying efforts.  Our existing workload brings us into contact 
with policymakers on a daily basis. We have earned and enjoy a reputation for seniority, 
credibility and hard work.  Our clients’ interests come first, and we pride ourselves on 
achieving their goals. 

Strategic Approach 



 
 
Pursuant to the prior Resolution of Haines Borough priorities, we successfully obtained 
$3.2 Million in the State’s Capital budget in matching funds for the Lutak dock 
restoration project. We will seek additional funds through the State budget process for 
other projects in the Borough, including funding for a new public safety building, if that 
is the will of the Assembly and the Borough Administration.  There are several avenues 
for funding, all of which will be pursued under the Agreement. In addition, as new issues 
affecting Haines emerge, we will be available to assist and advocate as directed.  
 
Ultimately, we will pursue whatever the Borough determines its priorities to be. Whether 
that be funding or other policy matters, the role of the lobbyist under contract is to take 
direction from the Borough, and to engage accordingly to meet those goals. 
 
If funding for Borough projects is sought, our first priority will be to engage with 
members of the Senate and House Finance Committees as soon as possible. The 
Legislative session begins on January 16, and Committee members and staff are already 
putting together their budget priorities.  It will be critical to engage with members on our 
project goals as soon as we can.  
 
The purpose of this outreach is to gain support from the Finance Committee members 
early in the 2024 legislative session for capital budget appropriations beneficial to 
Haines.   
 
Those conversations with Legislators will be a combination of one-on-one meetings as 
well as group meetings scheduled to include Haines as appropriate, and when availability 
permits. Senator Kiehl and Representative Story will be kept apprised of all our work and 
will be invited to join any appropriate group meetings. Regular contact with key 
legislators and their staff will be ongoing as the legislative session progresses to maintain 
their support as the budget is crafted. 
 
Both Co-Chairs and their staff will be fully educated that ours are worthy projects, and 
that they fit very squarely within the infrastructure and capital project priorities for 
Alaska.   As federal infrastructure monies are directed to the State and allocated 
accordingly, we will position ourselves for full consideration, in addition to any and all 
traditional funding methods in play.   
 
We will coordinate with you to obtain and memorialize community support for 
presentation to the Legislature at appropriate times.  Keeping our Senator and 
Representative apprised and educated will be key, as evidenced with our prior funding 
efforts, where their advocacy helped ensure success. 
 
Retainer Terms 



 
 
The engagement would constitute an annual Agreement to be compensated at $48,000 for 
the 2024 calendar year. The Agreement would conclude on December 31, and be subject 
to continuing annual renewal contracts, as determined by the parties to this Agreement.  I 
will cover all of the costs to be in Juneau for the legislative session, including travel, 
meals and lodging. The Agreement would begin on the date the parties complete the 
required lobbying registration pursuant to APOC statutes and regulations.  
 
The question was raised about whether to retain lobbyists on a year-round basis. It’s 
within the discretion of the Borough to do so. Virtually all Alaska lobbying engagements 
run throughout the year.  The primary benefit is that your lobbyist will not be precluded 
under state law from communicating with important public officials during the off-
season, which is a common occurrence. If the contract terminates before the end of the 
year, a lobbyist is not permitted to communicate with any public official on your behalf 
after the contract terminates. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It has been a privilege to serve the Haines Borough as your lobbyists.  Our experience 
and attention to detail are unmatched, and we will bring all of our combined experience 
to bear in pursuing your stated goals, should you decide to retain us in 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 



Haines Borough
Assembly Agenda Bill

Agenda Bill No.:    
Assembly Meeting Date:     

Business Item Description: Attachments:
Subject:

Originator:

Originating Department:

Date Submitted:

Full Title/Motion:

Administrative Recommendation:

Fiscal Impact:

Expenditure Required Amount Budgeted Appropriation Required Projected Impact to Future 
Operating Budgets

$ $ $

Comprehensive Plan Consistency Review:
Comp Plan Goals/Objectives:

Consistent: Yes     No

Summary Statement:

Referral:
Referred to: Referral Date:
Recommendation: Meeting Date:

Assembly Action:
Meeting Date(s): Public Hearing Date(s):

Postponed to Date:

24-1345

01/23/24

lobbyist for Haines

Manager

Administration

01/18/24

1. Resolution 24-01-1087
2. Reid Harris Proposal

Motion: Adopt Resolution 24-01-1087

36,000 + expenses 0 N/A0

01/23/24

Hiring of Reid Harris, Harris Advocacy, State

11A4



HAINES BOROUGH, ALASKA 
RESOLUTION No. 24-01-1087 

A Resolution of the Haines Borough Assembly Authorizing the 
Borough Manager to Enter into a Contract with Reid Harris, Harris 
Advocacy to Provide State Lobbying Services for $36,000. 

WHEREAS, the Haines Borough is in need of a State Lobbyist for 2024 Reid Harris, Harris 
Advocacy has provided a proposal to provide lobbying services and advocate for the Haines 
Borough; and 

WHEREAS, the previous contracts were annual; and 

WHEREAS, the current proposal is for an annually renewable contract which would be renewed 
up to three times based upon a satisfactory review by the manager, and subject to available 
funding; and  

WHEREAS, a contract to hire a lobbyist is exempt from the competitive sealed bid 
requirements of Haines Borough Code (HBC) section 3.60.090 since it is a contract involving 
the obtaining of professional or specialized services such as, but not limited to, services 
rendered by architects, attorneys, engineers, and other specialized; and  

WHEREAS, there are sufficient, unbudgeted funds in the Economic Development Fund (Fund 
23) to cover this professional services contract; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE HAINES BOROUGH ASSEMBLY that the 
Borough Manager is hereby authorized to enter into an annually renewable contract with Harris 
Advocacy, to provide lobbying services to the Haines Borough in the amount of $36,000. 

Adopted by a duly-constituted quorum of the Haines Borough Assembly on this 23th day of 
January, 2024. 

___________________________ 
Thomas C. Morphet, Mayor 

Attest:  

__________________________________ 
Alekka Fullerton, MMC, Borough Clerk 

Draft 



Haines Borough Assembly
P.O. Box 1209
Haines, AK 99827

January 17, 2024
Subject: Alaska Legislature Lobbying Proposal

Honorable Borough Assembly Members,

To help meet your government affairs objectives in Alaska I propose that the Haines Borough
(“Borough”) retain Reid Harris/Harris Advocacy as your lobbyist and government affairs
consultant. The specific services I offer are:

Legislative and Administrative Communication and Lobbying
I will work with the Borough to implement its legislative strategy and communicate directly with
legislators to gain support and maximize results. I will remain in constant contact with the
Borough’s delegation during session to update them on Borough priorities and seek information
on legislation that either helps or hinders the Borough. I will communicate with members of the
Administration only as it pertains to legislation. I will communicate with the Borough as needed
to share information and make strategic adjustments to react to new developments with the
legislature and administration. I will not get “out in front” of the Borough in these efforts and will
only directly lobby issues at the Borough’s specific direction.

Government Relations Strategy
I will work with the Borough to implement a coordinated strategy to manage communications
with the Alaska State Legislature and the administration. I will engage on agreed priorities—as
directed by the Borough—including but not limited to:

● Capital projects (prior examples being the Borough’s DPS building and small boat
harbor)

● Regional priorities (examples: AMHS vessel replacement and continued operational
funding, other DOT operating and capital budget items, DEED public school funding and
base student allocation, DFG hunting, fishing, and subsistence regulations)

● Economic development (including recreational opportunities) that are in line with the
Borough’s most recent 5-Year Economic Development Plan.

130 Seward St., Ste. 505, Juneau, Alaska 99801
206.465.7275

reid@harrisadvocacy.com



● Relationship building, meeting coordination, and engagement on behalf of the Borough
with key lawmakers (Southeast delegation, House and Senate leadership, Finance
Committee members, other key committee members).

Regional Strategy
If the Borough deems it beneficial, I will engage with other Southeast municipal and Tribal
government lobbyists to create a regional workgroup that will meet periodically in Juneau—or at
appropriate venues, such as Alaska Municipal League and Southeast Conference—to build a
coalition that can promote the regional needs of Southeast communities on mutual goals
including countering the amassing of political and economic power in the Railbelt region and
collaborating on strategic issues specific to Southeast Alaska.

Research and Analysis
I can obtain and provide analysis on legislative history, bill files, legal opinions, letters of support,
agency reports, copies of testimony, and other information that can be useful to gain information
about particular legislation or policy.

Political Advice
I will keep the Borough informed regarding the political climate in Alaska. I will also provide
updates on state-level legislative and gubernatorial elections as well as potential ballot
measures that may affect the borough.

Cost
The price of this contract is $36,000 for the 2024 calendar year (terminating on December 31,
2024). Payment can be made lump sum or quarterly.

Thank you for the opportunity to represent the Haines Borough before the Alaska State
Legislature.

Sincerely,

Reid Harris/Harris Advocacy

130 Seward St., Ste. 505, Juneau, Alaska 99801
206.465.7275

reid@harrisadvocacy.com



January 24, 2024 

Willie G. Nunn 
Regional Administrator 
FEMA Region 10 
P.O. Box 10055 
Hyattsville, MD 20782-8055 

Re:  Eligibility Determination Memorandum Appeal, PA ID 100-99100-00, 
FEMA-4585-DR-AK, Project Worksheet (PW) 13 – Porcupine Trail Road 

Dear Mr. Nunn, 

This letter is in response to the eligibility determination memo (DM) dated December 21, 2023, 
and received via Grants Portal January 4, 2024. The Haines Borough (Applicant) presents this 
appeal to the Department of Homeland Security’s Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) in response to its denial of funding in the amount of $1,435,834.75 for costs related to 
the repair of Porcupine Trail Road.  

The DM contains broad generalizations unrepresentative of the project as a whole and 
unsubstantiated assumptions on which the denial is based. Though not clearly enumerated in the 
DM, the following claims of non-compliance appear to constitute FEMA’s justification for the 
denial: 

1. The work completed by the Applicant exceeded the agreed upon scope of work, and the
extraneous work was completed without prior approval by FEMA. This point refers to the
claim of road widening.

2. The work completed by a third party constituted a connected action and was completed
without prior approval by FEMA. This point refers to alleged connected action work.

3. The work completed by a third party exceeded the agreed-upon scope of work and was
completed without prior approval by FEMA. This point refers to assertion of
Environmental & Historic Preservation (EHP) noncompliance.

In the following analysis, justification is provided rejecting the claims of the DM and supporting 
the position of the Applicant. Though the three claims are related and have areas of overlap, each 

HAINES BOROUGH, ALASKA 
P.O. BOX 1209, HAINES, ALASKA 99827 

Annette Kreitzer, Borough Manager 
907.766.6404 akreitzer@haines.ak.us 

11C1



Porcupine Trail Road FEMA appeal 012424      2 
 

will be addressed individually to help clearly identify the flaws in FEMA’s determination of 
ineligibility.  

FEMA Claim 1: Averred Road Widening   
FEMA claims the Applicant’s work exceeded the agreed-upon scope by widening the roadway 
beyond the approved 22-foot width. This supposed widening resulted in additional ground 
disturbance for which a change in scope of work request was not submitted to FEMA, thus 
depriving FEMA EHP of the opportunity to review for compliance with federal environmental 
and historic preservation requirements, particularly Section 106.  
Timeline of Applicable Events1:  
2/17/2021 Federal disaster declaration. 
6/30/2021 Applicant expresses interest in performing permanent repairs to Porcupine Trail 

Road. 
8/26/2021 FEMA performs initial site inspection for Porcupine Trail Road with Applicant 

and State of Alaska Representatives. During the inspection, FEMA takes all 
measurements for developing the Damage Description and Dimensions (DDD) 
captured in the Site Inspection Report (SIR). 

7/14/2022 Applicant and State of Alaska DMVA (Recipient) submit SOW change request to 
separate Porcupine Trail Road into three phases.  

7/20/2022 Consolidated Resource Center (CRC) and EHP comment on the SOW change 
request, stating Phase I work will “reestablish ditches and repair the surface of the 
roadway in the existing footprint.” 

7/21/2022 FEMA requests clarification on limits of work for SOW change request that 
includes limits shown from back of existing ditch to back of existing ditch.  

8/5/2022 FEMA sends letter to AK SHPO with determination of “No Adverse Effects to 
Historic Properties.”  

8/9/2022 AK SHPO provides concurrence with FEMA finding “no historic properties 
adversely affected.”  

10/21/2022 FEMA obligates $1,398,659.75 for Phase I.  
6/14/2023 Phase I reconditioning begins. 
7/13/2023 Phase I reconditioning complete.  
7/20/2023 The Applicant pays the Contractor in full for Phase I.  
7/24/2023 FEMA receives email from Takshanuk Watershed Council (TWC) expressing 

concerns about Phase I work.  
8/31/2023  FEMA performs follow-up site inspection for Porcupine Trail Road.  
9/20/2023 FEMA EHP submits Request for Information (RFI) for Porcupine Trail Road.  
10/10/2023 Applicant provides response to EHP RFI.  
10/30/2023 FEMA informs the Applicant that the project funding will be deobligated.  
12/12/2023 Porcupine Trail Road funding is deobligated.   
1/4/2024 Applicant receives DM denying eligibility.  

Applicant’s Position:  
All Phase I work completed by the Applicant was within the agreed upon scope of work and did 
not increase the amount of ground disturbance. Inconsistent definitions, poor communication, 
repeated staff turnover within FEMA’s management team, and misunderstanding between 



Porcupine Trail Road FEMA appeal 012424      3 
 

FEMA site inspectors and EHP resulted in EHP’s erroneous analysis of the approved scope of 
work.  
Justification: 
The DM repeatedly references a road width of 22 feet, a measurement taken during the initial 
FEMA site visit and subsequently documented in the original site inspection report (SIR)2. EHP 
uses this 22-foot measurement as the basis for its SOW increase/road widening claim, an 
assumption that is invalid for several reasons: 

1. This measurement was not performed by a licensed or qualified surveyor and should not 
be considered a baseline survey. 
 

2. This measurement is a broad generalization of the SOW and is unrepresentative of the 
actual pre-existing site conditions. A gravel road is by nature unconfined, resulting in 
variable widths as determined by the construction equipment used, site constraints, 
materials available, and many other factors. Therefore, the single 22-foot measurement 
taken during the original SIR at one distinct location along a 7-mile road is not an 
accurate or representative measurement that can be applied to the entire road length. 
 

3. This measurement in no way captures the entire agreed upon scope of work as identified in 
the FEMA SIR2, Applicant SOW documents3, or other project documentation. The 22-foot 
measurement taken during the original SIR only captured the road surface and did not 
incorporate the width of the shoulder or ditches. Several federal roadway standards4,5 – 
including the FEMA PA policy guide6 – draw a clear distinction between the width of the 
road surface, the width of the shoulder, and the width of the ditch; they are finite features 
(see figure below). This distinction is critical, because the measurements taken during the 
follow-up FEMA site visit and subsequently documented in the SIR7 attached to the DM 
show all road surface measurements as less than 22 feet. The road could therefore only be 
interpreted as widened when the shoulder width is added to the road surface width.  

FEMA’s claim in the DM that “the average width of the road (including the shoulders…) 
significantly increased the area of ground disturbance… beyond the FEMA approved scope 
of work” relies on a broad generalization of the scope of work and makes an unsubstantiated 
assumption that the road surface includes the shoulders.  This assumption not only defies 
industry standards of measurement, it goes against the definitions and distinctions put forth in 
FEMA’s own policy guides.  

Source: FEMA Hurricane and Flood Mitigation Handbook for Public Facilities - Fact Sheet 1.1: Road and 
Highway Surfaces 



Porcupine Trail Road FEMA appeal 012424      4 
 

Additional justification for the Applicant can be found in email correspondence between the 
Applicant and FEMA8 where it was clearly identified that the limits of work, as shown on the 
design drawings, included the 22-foot-wide road surfacing, variable width shoulder, and variable 
width ditches. It was also noted on the FEMA-approved plans that the existing road width varies.  
The Applicant also provided FEMA with documented correspondence between the Contractor 
and the Applicant9 during bidding, where clarification was requested regarding the limits of 
work. The Applicant clearly outlines that the intent of the project is not to widen the road. “Our 
intent is for the reconditioned road surface to match the existing road surface up to 22 feet wide. 
Where the existing road surface is less than 22 feet wide, we do not intend to widen the [road] 
but recondition to match the narrower road.” The work completed did not require any structural 
fill or road base material and was limited to the reconstruction of the existing roadway. 
Conclusion:  
The Applicant believes EHP is erroneously claiming unapproved SOW changes in the form of a 
widened roadway in response to concerns raised by the public and the Chilkat Indian Village 
(Klukwan).  The above analysis and provided documentation demonstrate not only that a SOW 
change did not occur, but that the Applicant understood and enforced construction of the existing 
SOW consistent with federal guidelines. Any compliance lapses concerning federal 
environmental and historic preservation requirements are the result of EHP’s misunderstanding 
of the scope of work. This is a shortcoming of EHP procedures and should not penalize the 
Applicant.  

FEMA Claim 2: Alleged Connected Action Work   
FEMA claims the Applicant allowed third-party work to be performed that qualified as a 
connected action. FEMA is responsible for reviewing connected actions associated with a 
proposed project, even if the connected action is independently funded.  
Timeline of Applicable Events:  
2/17/2021 Federal disaster declaration. 
6/28/2021 Porcupine Trail Road is actively washing out.  
6/30/2021 Applicant expresses interest in performing permanent repairs to Porcupine Trail 

Road. 
7/5/2021 Temporary Emergency Bypass Road installed as Category B (Cat B) work. 
8/26/2021 FEMA performs initial site inspection of Porcupine Trail Road with Applicant 

and State of Alaska Representatives. During the inspection, FEMA takes all 
measurements for developing the Damage Description and Dimensions (DDD) 
captured in the Site Inspection Report (SIR). 

11/16/2021 Applicant provides memo on Haines Borough regular maintenance activities.  
1/11/2022 Applicant confirms with FEMA the creation of the new temporary access road 

adjacent to Site 9 as part of Cat B work.  
7/14/2022 Applicant and Recipient submit SOW change request to separate Porcupine Trail 

Road into three phases. Email chain shows archaeological site along Porcupine 
Trail Road is likely mapped in the wrong location.  

1/20/2023 Applicant and Recipient submit SOW change request to increase funding to 
include Phases II and III construction.  

5/31/2023 - Third-party work performed. Temporary emergency repair. 
6/13/2023 
6/14/2023 Phase I reconditioning begins. 



Porcupine Trail Road FEMA appeal 012424      5 
 

7/13/2023 Phase I reconditioning complete.  
8/31/2023  FEMA performs follow up site inspection for Porcupine Trail Road.  
9/20/2023 FEMA EHP submits RFI for Porcupine Trail Road.  
10/10/2023 Applicant provides response to EHP RFI.  
12/12/2023 Porcupine Trail Road funding is deobligated.   
1/4/2024 Applicant receives DM denying eligibility. 

Applicant’s Position:  
The temporary emergency repair work completed by the third party on Porcupine Trail Road 
does not meet the requirements of a connected action and therefore did not require a FEMA 
review.  
Justification: 
The DM asserts that the third-party work was connected to the FEMA approved SOW and 
references the applicable federal code, but fails to describe or substantiate how the third party 
work rises to the level of a connected action as outlined under federal code10.  
In federal code, an activity is defined as a connected action if it meets the following 
requirements: 

i. Automatically trigger other actions. 

ii. Cannot or will not proceed unless other actions are taken previously or simultaneously. 

iii. Are interdependent parts of a larger action and depend on the larger action for their 
justification.   

In FEMA’s DM, the Subject Action (the work in contention) is broadly identified as road repairs 
paid for and performed by a third party. No other scope, activity, or detail is offered to 
characterize the Subject Action that FEMA is objecting to. The Applicant is therefore forced to 
draw its own conclusions about the specific nature of the Subject Action, which for the purposes 
of this appeal we identify as temporary emergency work consisting of placement and grading of 
roadway material that was performed and paid for by a third party. For the following reasons 
(corresponding to the requirements above), the Subject Action does not amount to a connected 
action:  

i. No FEMA approved SOW or actions were triggered by the Subject Action.  

a. The Phase I SOW was planned, designed, reviewed, and obligated without input from 
the Subject Action and was triggered specifically by the 2020 flood event.  

ii. The Subject Action proceeded independently of the FEMA approved SOW or action. The 
FEMA approved SOW or action was not taken previously or simultaneously.  

a. The Phase I SOW did not affect the Subject Action’s ability to proceed. The Phase 
I SOW was completed after the Subject Action.  

iii. The Subject Action is a part of a larger action, but it does not depend on the larger action 
for its justification.  

a. The Subject Action is located along the same road corridor as the FEMA action 
performed on Porcupine Trail Road for Phase I SOW but does not depend on the 



Porcupine Trail Road FEMA appeal 012424      6 
 

FEMA actions for justification. The Subject action maintains independent 
justification hence the third-party work and independent funding.  

Conclusion:  
FEMA’s claim in the DM that “road sections worked on by the third party that were authorized 
by the applicant are connected actions and must be considered and reviewed by FEMA EHP 
prior to construction” fails to identify any specific way that the Subject Action met these federal 
code requirements to elevate it to the level of connected action. It is therefore a fallacious 
argument to claim that such an action must be considered and reviewed by FEMA EHP.  
The requirements necessary for identifying an action as a connected action are clearly and 
specifically defined in federal code. If the connected action claim were defensible, FEMA easily 
could have cited specific ways that the Subject Action met any or all of the three requirements. 
Instead FEMA chose to be vague in its assertion.  
Though an action may appear connected due to factors such as physical proximity or scope of 
work, these alone do not meet the requirements of federal code. The above analysis shows that 
the work performed by the third party does not meet the requirements of a connected action 
under federal code. Therefore, review and approval by FEMA was not required for this work.  

FEMA Claim 3: Alleged EHP Non-Compliance   
FEMA claims the Applicant allowed third-party work to be performed exceeding the agreed 
upon scope of work. This allegedly resulted in additional ground disturbance for which a change 
in scope of work request was not submitted, depriving FEMA EHP of the opportunity to review 
for compliance with federal environmental and historic preservation requirements, in particular 
Section 106. 
Timeline of Applicable Events:  
2/17/2021 Federal disaster declaration. 
6/28/2021 Porcupine Trail Road is actively washing out.  
6/30/2021 Applicant expresses interest in performing permanent repairs to Porcupine Trail 

Road. 
7/5/2021 Temporary Emergency Bypass Road installed as Cat B work. 
8/26/2021 FEMA performs initial site inspection for Porcupine Trail Road with Applicant 

and State of Alaska Representatives. During the inspection, FEMA takes all 
measurements for developing the Damage Description and Dimensions (DDD) 
captured in the Site Inspection Report (SIR). 

11/16/2021 Applicant provides memo on Haines Borough regular maintenance activities.  
1/11/2022 Applicant confirms with FEMA the creation of the new temporary access road 

adjacent to Site 9 as part of Cat B work.  
5/18/2022 Original EHP REC completed for Cat B work, including Porcupine Trail Road.  
7/14/2022 Applicant and Recipient submit SOW change request to separate Porcupine Trail 

Road into three phases. Email chain shows archaeological site along Porcupine 
Trail Road is likely mapped in the wrong location.  

8/5/2022 FEMA sends letter to AK SHPO with determination of “No Adverse Effects to 
Historic Properties.”  

8/9/2022 AK SHPO provides concurrence with FEMA finding “no historic properties 
adversely affected.” 



Porcupine Trail Road FEMA appeal 012424      7 
 

8/19/2022 Updated EHP REC to add Version 2 for Phase I SOW.  
1/20/2023 Applicant and Recipient submit SOW change request to increase funding to 

include Phases II and III construction.  
5/31/2023 - Third-party work performed. Temporary emergency repair. 
6/13/2023 
6/14/2023 Phase I reconditioning begins. 
7/13/2023 Phase I reconditioning complete.  
8/31/2023  FEMA performs follow up site inspection for Porcupine Trail Road.  
9/20/2023 FEMA EHP submits RFI for Porcupine Trail Road.  
10/10/2023 Applicant provides response to EHP RFI.  
12/12/2023 Porcupine Trail Road funding is deobligated.   
1/4/2024 Applicant receives DM denying eligibility. 

Applicant’s Position:  
The temporary emergency repair work completed by a third party on Porcupine Trail Road 
qualified for the National Historic Preservation Act (NEPA) Categorical Exclusion (CATEX) 
and complied with all other local, state, and federal statutes, regulations, and executive orders 
related to environmental and historic preservation. If an EHP review had been performed in a 
timely manner all work would have been found to be compliant. The failure of FEMA to 
coordinate and consult with the Chilkat Indian Village (Klukwan) was a result of flawed EHP 
procedures, not any shortcoming or negligence of the Applicant.  
Justification: 
The SOW of the third-party temporary emergency repair work performed was extremely limited 
and all work was contained within the existing road corridor. No excavation was performed as 
part of this work and the only earth-disturbing activity was the placement of fill material directly 
on the preexisting road surface. This work did not involve changes in the location, footprint, 
alignment or size of the facility and therefore would be excluded from NEPA review11. This 
work also qualifies for CATEX as there is little or no impact on the environment and there are no 
“extraordinary circumstances” as defined by DHS12.   
The third-party temporary emergency repair work was performed to make the road passable for 
the season. It also had the secondary benefit of protecting the Herman Creek salmon spawning 
beds, a high-value salmon resource, from the river during the summer of 2023.  
Additionally, the entirety of the Porcupine Trail Road had a Record of Environmental 
Consideration (REC) performed as part of the Cat B emergency protective measures13. The limits 
of the third-party work were contained within the GPS coordinates listed on the Cat B REC. This 
REC performed complete reviews for the Clean Air Act (CAA), Coastal Barrier Resources Act 
(CBRA), Clean Water Act (CWA), Executive Order 11988 – Floodplains, Executive Order 
11990 – Wetlands, Executive Order 12989 – Environmental Justice for Low Income and 
Minority Populations, Endangered Species Act (ESA), Farmland Protection Policy Act (FPPA), 
Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act (FWCA), Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA), Magnuson-
Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (MSA), National Historic Preservation Act 
(NHPA), and Wild and Scenic Rivers Act (WSRA).  
Similarly, a REC was performed for Phase I work14. Though the limits indicated on the REC are 
specifically for the Phase I SOW, there is correspondence between FEMA Regional 
Environmental Officer Science Kilner, with State Historic Preservation Officer Judith Bittner 



Porcupine Trail Road FEMA appeal 012424      8 
 

clearly indicating no historical or cultural sites of significance would have been identified within 
the “Area of Potential Effects” (an area 7.5 miles long by 50-100-feet wide that encompasses all 
segments for road, ditch, and embankment repair)15,16. The third-party work was contained 
within this “Area of Potential Effects”.  
The Applicant also submitted a SOW change request in January 2023 for the inclusion of Phases 
II and III work. If FEMA EHP had performed a timely review, a revised REC would have been 
performed specifically for the locations where the third-party work was performed prior to 
construction. It stands to reason that this revised REC, with its overlapping GPS coordinates, 
would have resulted in the same findings of full compliance as the Cat B REC and the Phase I 
REC. 
Neither the Cat B REC nor the Phase I REC identified historic or cultural sites of significance. 
As such, even if there had been complete and thorough review by EHP, no procedural 
mechanism would have dictated FEMA contact the Chilkat Indian Village (Klukwan) to learn of 
the ancestral and contemporary areas of interest or concern. This is not to say sites do not exist in 
the area, but rather to make the point that even if FEMA EHP had been given the opportunity to 
review the third-party work prior to the work being performed, FEMA EHP review procedures 
would not have resulted in the identification of these sites.  
Conclusion:  
The scope and limit of the third-party temporary emergency repair work was in compliance with 
all local, state, and federal statutes, regulations, and executive orders related to environmental 
and historic preservation. This can be observed both by looking at the impacts of the work itself, 
as well as comparing the limits of the third-party temporary emergency repair work to the limits 
of the REC performed for both the Cat B work and the Phase I work. Additionally, if FEMA 
EHP had performed a timely review based on the Applicant’s SOW change request, a REC 
would have been available and shown full compliance with the third-party work performed. The 
historic sites identified by Chilkat Indian Village (Klukwan) would not have been identified by 
the FEMA EHP review procedures and would only have been identified after the fact. 
Similar to their strategy in Claim 2: Alleged Connected Action work, FEMA cites applicable 
federal code in the DM but fails to specify how any project action or work violated that code. 
The DM states, “Work completed was found to not meet provisions of National Environmental 
Policy Act (NEPA Categorical Exclusions (CATEXs)), as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 1508.4. As a 
result, FEMA has determined that the project is ineligible for reimbursement,” but no further 
rationale is given. Asserting that “work completed was found to not meet provisions” but 
declining to elaborate on those findings is irresponsible and alarming, especially when such an 
unsubstantiated pronouncement could result in a small community losing nearly $1.5 million 
dollars.  
Summary Conclusion  
To summarize this appeal, the Applicant does not believe that EHP fully understands the SOW 
for this project, and the DM does not provide sufficient justification or support for the denial of 
eligibility for this project. The DM continually references applicable statutes, regulations, and 
policies, but does not fully explain or provide examples of how the project is not in compliance 
with these statutes, regulations, or policies.  
The Applicant has been through a federally declared disaster and has been operating in good 
faith throughout the public assistance process. FEMA has denied our eligibility and funding, 
after the community has already paid for and completed the repairs.  



Porcupine Trail Road FEMA appeal 012424      9 
 

FEMA seems to be taking a hard line on this determination and there are some areas of 
justification that are not being consistently applied. No record could be found or historical 
knowledge uncovered of a project being denied eligibility based on a connected action. FEMA 
makes a clear point in its eligibility requirements regarding the historical enforcement of codes 
and standards, yet is using a previously unenforced code to deny eligibility for temporary 
emergency repair work performed by a third party. Additionally, the FEMA Policy Guide 
permits disallowing all or part of the costs of a project if found out of compliance. The decision 
to deny in full without adequate justification is an indication that specific impacts of concern 
could not be identified.  
 
We believe that this DM was a direct response from FEMA EHP to appease members of the 
public who submitted comments objecting to this work. These concerns are questionable and 
likely unrelated to the project in question..  
 
FEMA completely deobligated this project and issued a DM without addressing the RFI 
responses or requesting additional clarification.  There are many statements of uncertainty and 
misunderstandings outlined in the DM that could have been clarified or better understood if  
The Borough had been given the opportunity for further discussions and sharing of information 
with FEMA.  We ask that, in considering this matter, FEMA reflect on its core values: 
compassion, fairness, integrity and respect. 
 
We hope that you take this opportunity to thoroughly review the information we have provided 
and provide an eligibility determination that is accurate, fact-based, substantiated, and reflective 
of FEMA’s values.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Annette Kreitzer 
Haines Borough Manager 
CC: Mayor Tom Morphet 

Haines Borough Assembly Members 
Ed Coffland, P.E., Haines Borough Public Facilities Director 

 Annelise Silk, Haines Borough Grants & Contracts Administrator 
 Jenny Belanger, State of Alaska DMVA, DHS&EM 
 Mike Macans, State of Alaska DMVA, DHS&EM 
 Alan Cavallo, State of Alaska DMVA, DHS&EM 
 Garret Gladsjo, P.E., proHNS LLC Principal Engineer 
 
Attachments  
1 Attachment A – Porcupine Trail Road Project Timeline.pdf 
2 Attachment B – DR4585-AK Haines Borough_WO 71856_DI553459_SIR.pdf 
3 Attachment C – Porcupine Trail Road - Phase I Plans 
7 Attachment D – EHP Site Inspection Report.pdf 
8 Attachment E – RE_ DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request.pdf 
9 Attachment F – Q_and_A_HB 22-12 
13 Attachment G – PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00043_REC 20230621 rework.pdf 



Porcupine Trail Road FEMA appeal 012424      10 
 

14 Attachment H – PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013_REC_20231219DeObliation-HMP.pdf 
15 Attachment I – 20220805_FEMA_DR4585_PW13_PorcupineRdRepair_SHPO_consult.pdf 
16 Attachment J – 3130-1R FEMA 2022-00986 Porcupine Road_2022Aug09.pdf 
 
References 
4 FEMA Hurricane and Flood Mitigation Handbook for Public Facilities, Fact Sheet 1.1: Road 

and highway Surfaces; Figure 1.1.1.  
5 FHWA Gravel Roads Construction & Maintenance Guide; Section 1.1: Understanding the 

Gravel Road Cross Section; Figure 1.  
6 PAPPG, at 168 
10 40 C.F.R. § 1508.25(a)(1) 
11 PAPPG, at 142 
12 PAPPG, at 141 
 
 
 
 
 



Porcupine Trail Road Project Timeline 

Year Date Description Reference 
2

02
0

 

11/30/2020-
12/2/2020 

Disaster Event 

12/2/2020 Haines Borough Disaster Declaration 

12/5/2020 State of Alaska Disaster Declaration 

2
02

1
 

2/17/2021 Federal Disaster Declaration 

6/11/2021 
Applicant indicates expresses interest to add 
Porcupine Trail Road as Emergency Access. 

181119: Project comments J. Jackson 

6/28/2021 Porcupine Trail Road is actively washing out. 4375787: Document: Porcupine Road – Picture – Post Flooding 

6/30/2021 
Applicant expresses interest in performing 
permanent repairs to Porcupine Trail Road. 

181119: Document: FEMA Follow-Up Meeting Minutes 

7/2/2021 
Email from Constantine documenting loss of 
access via porcupine road is eminent. 

181119: Email dated 7/2/2021 (From: Constantine, To: HB, SERB) 

7/5/2021 
Temporary Emergency Bypass Road installed as 
Category B (Cat B) work. 

181119: Email dated 7/7/2021 (From: SERB, To: HB) 

181119: Document: Invoice dated 7/30/2021 

8/26/2021 

FEMA performs initial site inspection for 
Porcupine Trail Road with Applicant and State of 
Alaska Representatives. During the inspection, 
FEMA takes all measurements for developing the 
Damage Description and Dimensions (DDD) 
captured in the Site Inspection Report (SIR). 

437587: Document: DI 553459 SIR 

437587: Document: DI 553459 Photo Page 

437587: Document: DI 553459 Location Map 

437587: Document: DI 553459 Flood Map 

8/27/2021 
Applicant provides memo on Haines Borough 
regular maintenance activities. 

437587: Document: Porcupine Road – NOAA Atlas 14 Precipitation Frequency 
Values 

11/16/2021 
Applicant provides memo on Haines Borough 
regular maintenance activities. 

437587: Document: Porcupine Maintenance 



2
0

2
2

 
1/11/2022 

Applicant confirms with FEMA the creation of 
the new temporary access road adjacent to site 
9 as part of Cat B work.  

437587: Document: Porcupine Road Current Understanding 

1/21/2022 Original EHP REC for V0 A&E 437587: Document: PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013_REC(1) 

2/1/2022 Revision to original EHP REC for V0 A&E 437587: Document: PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013_REC(2) 

5/18/2022 
Original EHP REC for Cat B work, including 
Porcupine Trail Road 

181119: Document: PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00043_REC 

6/8/2022 
Recipient submits SOW change for revised 
project GPS coordinates to FEMA.  

437587: Email dated 6/8/2022 (From: DMVA, To: FEMA, Cc: HB, proHNS) 

6/22/2022 
Revised EHP REC for Cat B work, including 
Porcupine Trail Road 

181119: Document: PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00043_REC 20220622 rework 

7/6/2022 
FEMA follow-up meeting agenda item 
“Porcupine Road. Update from the field EHP” 

437587: Email dated 7/6/2022 (From: FEMA, To: HB, DMVA, proHNS) 

7/14/2022 

Applicant and Recipient submit SOW change 
request to separate into phases and increase 
funding to include phase 1 construction. 
Construction plans included. Email chain shows 
archaeological site along porcupine trail road is 
likely mapped in the wrong location.  

437587: Document: SOW Change Request to FEMA 

437587: Document: SOW Change Request-Email Thread 

7/20/2022 

CRC and EHP comment on the SOW change 
request, stating Phase I work will  “reestablish 
ditches and repair the surface of the roadway in 
the existing footprint.” 

437587: Project Comments K. Levenstein  

7/21/2022 

FEMA requests clarification on limits of work for 
SOW change request that includes limits shown 
from back of existing ditch to back of existing 
ditch. 

437587: Email dated 7/21/2022 (From: FEMA, To: DMVA)  



8/5/2022 
FEMA sends letter to AK SHPO with 
determination of “No Adverse Effects to Historic 
Properties.” 

437587: Email dated 8/5/2022 (From: FEMA, To: DNR) 

8/9/2022 
AK SHPO provides concurrence with FEMA 
finding “no historic properties adversely 
affected.” 

437587: Email dated 8/9/2022 (From: DNR, To: FEMA) 

8/9/2022 
FEMA follow-up meeting agenda item 
“Porcupine Road. Update from the field EHP, 
pending EHP review.” 

437587: Email dated 8/9/2022 (From: FEMA, To: HB, DMVA, Cc: proHNS) 

8/19/2022 
Updated EHP REC to add Version 2   for Phase I 
SOW. 

437587: Document: PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013_REC(3) 

8/22/2022 
FEMA project status for Porcupine Trail Road 
“Final FEMA Review.” 

437587: Email dated 8/22/2022 (From: HB, To: proHNS, DMVA) 

10/21/2022 FEMA obligates $1,398,659.75 for Phase I. 437587: Grants Portal, Award Information 

12/9/2022 
ADFG issues FHP FH22-I-0090 for work in Klehini 
River 

Permit dated 12/9/2022 

2
02

3
 

1/20/2023 
Applicant and Recipient submit SOW change 
request to increase funding to include Phases II 
and III construction. 

437587: Email dated 1/20/2023 (From: HB, To: DMVA, Cc:proHNS) 

4/28/2023 
EHP provides guidance on phase II & II 
considerations via email from Molly Parkan.  

437587: Email dated 4/28/2023 (From: FEMA, To: proHNS, Cc: HB, DMVA) 

5/4/2023 
FEMA follow-up meeting agenda item 
“Porcupine Trail Road. EHP Compliance ~Laura 
Herriott.” 

437587: Email dated 5/4/2023 (From: FEMA, To: HB, proHNS, Cc: DMVA) 

5/31/2023 – 
6/13/2023 

Third party work performed. Temporary 
emergency repair. 

Email dated 9/20/2023 (From: SERB, To: proHNS) 

6/14/2023 Phase I reconditioning begins. 437587: Email dated 6/20/2023 (From: proHNS, To: HB) 



6/21/2023 
Revised EHP REC for Cat B work, including 
Porcupine Trail Road 

181119: Document: PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00043_REC 20230621 rework 

7/13/2023 Phase I reconditioning complete. 437587: Email dated 7/17/2023 (From: proHNS, To: SERB, Cc: HB) 

7/20/2023 
The Applicant pays the Contractor in full for 
Phase I. 

437587: HB, Expenditures 

7/24/2023 
FEMA receives email from Takshanuk Watershed 
Council (TWC) expressing concerns about Phase I 
work. 

437587: Document: Email from Watershed Group 

8/10/2023 HB submits reimbursement request to State. 437587: Email dated 8/10/2023 (From: HB, To: DMVA, Cc: proHNS) 

8/31/2023 
FEMA performs follow up site inspection for 
Porcupine Trail Road. 

437587: Document: EHP Site Inspection Report 

9/19/2023 
Met with State and FEMA leadership to discuss 
issues with project and how to move forward to 
reach compliance.  

437587: Project Comments K. Rose 

9/20/2023 FEMA EHP submits RFI for Porcupine Trail Road. 437587: Email dated 9/20/2023 (From: FEMA, To: DMVA) 

9/21/2023 Updated EHP to de-obligate project. 
437587: Document: PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013_REC_20231219DeObligation-
HMP 

10/10/2023 Applicant provides response to EHP RFI. 437587: Email dated 10/10/2023 (From: proHNS, To: DMVA, HB) 

10/30/2023 
FEMA informs the Applicant that the project 
funding will be deobligated. 

437587: Teams Meeting (attendees: FEMA, DMVA, HB, proHNS) 

12/12/2023 Porcupine Trail Road funding is deobligated. 437587: Project Comments K. Rose 

12/22/2023 Draft determination memo sent to HB. 437587: Email dated 12/22/2023 (From: FEMA, To: HB, Cc: DMVA)  

2
02

4
 

1/04/2024 Applicant receives DM denying eligibility. 437587: Grant Portal Notification 

 



ialexan6
Text Box
59.412354

ialexan6
Text Box
-136.029592

ialexan6
Line

ialexan6
Line

ialexan6
Text Box
 59.42065

ialexan6
Text Box
-136. 19023

ialexan6
Line

ialexan6
Line



ialexan6
Line

ialexan6
Text Box
22



ialexan6
Line

ialexan6
Line

ialexan6
Text Box
Start GPS:59.412354,-136.029592End GPS: 59.42115,-136.17052

ialexan6
Text Box
Start GPS: 59.412354, -136.029592 End GPS 59.414725,-136.103092

ialexan6
Line

ialexan6
Line

ialexan6
Text Box
30% of ditches on both sides of road contains washed out road fill requiring removal and needs to be re-established

ialexan6
Text Box
Site 3 embankment has severe erosion due to flood waters washout destabilizing edge of roadway.

ialexan6
Text Box
high volume and high velocity surface water flooding washed out embankment destabilizing edge of roadway



ialexan6
Text Box
 high volume and high velocity surface water flooding washed out embankment destabilizing edge of roadway. 

ialexan6
Text Box
 high volume and high velocity surface water flooding washed out embankment destabilizing edge of roadway

ialexan6
Text Box
 high volume and high velocity surface water flooding washed out embankment destabilizing edge of roadway

ialexan6
Text Box
 high volume and high velocity surface water flooding washed out embankment destabilizing edge of roadway



















From: Parr, Jeffrey
To: Edward Coffland; Belanger, Jenny R (MVA); Carolann Wooton; Garret Gladsjo; Ethan Roemeling; Fisher, Philip
Cc: Alexander, Ivy; Bookman, Azure; Malone, Jack; Zeppa, Jonathan D (MVA)
Subject: RE: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request
Date: Thursday, July 21, 2022 10:48:56 AM
Attachments: image002.png

Hi:
I forwarded the revision to the Archeologist for his thoughts.

From: Edward Coffland <ecoffland@haines.ak.us> 
Sent: Thursday, July 21, 2022 11:23 AM
To: Parr, Jeffrey <jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov>; Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov>;
Carolann Wooton <cwooton@haines.ak.us>; garret@prohns.com; Ethan Roemeling
<ethan@prohns.com>
Cc: Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov>; Bookman, Azure <azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>;
Malone, Jack <Jack.Malone@fema.dhs.gov>; Zeppa, Jonathan D (MVA) <jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov>
Subject: RE: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of DHS. DO NOT click links or open attachments unless you recognize
and/or trust the sender. Please select the Phish Alert Report button on the top right of your screen to report this email
if it is unsolicited or suspicious in nature.

Jeffrey: Please see attached drawing C02, Revision 1, as requested.

Thanks,

Edward Coffland, PE
Director of Public Works
Haines Borough
(907)766-6414

From: Parr, Jeffrey <jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 21, 2022 10:03 AM
To: Edward Coffland <ecoffland@haines.ak.us>; Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov>;
Carolann Wooton <cwooton@haines.ak.us>; garret@prohns.com; Ethan Roemeling
<ethan@prohns.com>
Cc: Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov>; Bookman, Azure <azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>;
Malone, Jack <Jack.Malone@fema.dhs.gov>; Zeppa, Jonathan D (MVA) <jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov>
Subject: RE: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request

EXTERNAL EMAIL: Do not open links or attachments unless you recognize the sender and know
the content is safe.

Thank you, adding a callout/edit to the design sheets to confirm/clarify what the existing terrain is, vs
debris settlement &collection (different line style, arrow w/comment, etc) would likely make Phil’s action
a lot easier.

mailto:jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:ecoffland@haines.ak.us
mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:cwooton@haines.ak.us
mailto:garret@prohns.com
mailto:ethan@prohns.com
mailto:philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:Jack.Malone@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov



From: Edward Coffland <ecoffland@haines.ak.us> 
Sent: Thursday, July 21, 2022 10:59 AM
To: Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov>; Carolann Wooton <cwooton@haines.ak.us>;
garret@prohns.com; Ethan Roemeling <ethan@prohns.com>
Cc: Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov>; Bookman, Azure <azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>;
Parr, Jeffrey <jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov>; Malone, Jack <Jack.Malone@fema.dhs.gov>; Zeppa, Jonathan
D (MVA) <jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov>
Subject: RE: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of DHS. DO NOT click links or open attachments unless you recognize
and/or trust the sender. Please select the Phish Alert Report button on the top right of your screen to report this email
if it is unsolicited or suspicious in nature.

 
Jenny: The ditches are filled with debris, so the intent of the typical was to show that some material
would need to be removed from those ditches via excavation to re-establish the typical ditch
width/slopes. The intent is not to expand ditches or widen the corridor. If necessary, we could add a
callout to that effect.
 
Thanks,
 
Edward Coffland, PE
Director of Public Works
Haines Borough
(907)766-6414
 

From: Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 21, 2022 9:16 AM
To: Carolann Wooton <cwooton@haines.ak.us>; Edward Coffland <ecoffland@haines.ak.us>;
garret@prohns.com; Ethan Roemeling <ethan@prohns.com>
Cc: Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov>; Bookman, Azure <azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>;
Parr, Jeffrey <jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov>; Malone, Jack <Jack.Malone@fema.dhs.gov>; Zeppa, Jonathan
D (MVA) <jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov>
Subject: FW: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request
Importance: High
 
EXTERNAL EMAIL: Do not open links or attachments unless you recognize the sender and know
the content is safe.

Good Morning,
 
Please see request from FEMA below to clarify the scope for Phase I work.
Thank you,
 
Jenny Belanger, Emergency Management Specialist II
Department of Military and Veterans Affairs
Division of Homeland Security & Emergency Management
Disaster Assistance
907-428-7036 or 232-7403

mailto:ecoffland@haines.ak.us
mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:cwooton@haines.ak.us
mailto:garret@prohns.com
mailto:ethan@prohns.com
mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:Jack.Malone@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov
mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:cwooton@haines.ak.us
mailto:ecoffland@haines.ak.us
mailto:garret@prohns.com
mailto:ethan@prohns.com
mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:Jack.Malone@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov


907-428-7009 (Fax)
 
State of Alaska, Division of Homeland Security and Emergency Management is committed to providing access, equal
opportunity and reasonable accommodation in it’s services, programs, activities, education and employment for
individuals with disabilities. To request a disability accommodation contact me at least five working days in advance at
907-428-7036 or jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
 

If you are not the intended recipient of this email do not read, retain, copy, distribute, or disclose the content of this
email. If you have received this email in error, please advise us by reply email and destroy the original message and all
copies.
 
 
 

From: Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 21, 2022 9:11 AM
To: Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov>
Cc: Bookman, Azure <azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>; Parr, Jeffrey <jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov>;
Fisher, Philip <philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov>; Malone, Jack <Jack.Malone@fema.dhs.gov>; Zeppa,
Jonathan D (MVA) <jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov>
Subject: RE: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request
Importance: High
 
Good Morning Jenny,
 
I am reaching out to clarify the following:
Our understanding is HB’s SOW Change Request for V1/P1 on Porcupine Road’s is “Phase I is only to
reestablish ditches and repair the surface of the roadway in the existing footprint”.
Per the applicant’s proposal, Phase 1 Repairs is for Roadway and ditch reconditioning (Sites 1&2).
 
However, it looks like the engineering design contains additional expansion of the ditches and new
ground disturbance; please see below:

mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:Jack.Malone@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov


 
 
We understand this is a priority project, can we reach out to the applicant to confirm the
abovementioned details?
Currently, the illustrated proposed expansion and added depth to the ditches are not in alignment with
our understanding that Phase 1 is going to be completed within the existing prism/ footprint. If HB
intends to complete the reconstruction outside the pre-DR condition, we will need to discuss how to
align that with programmatic requirements, and it may need SHPO review ( Icc’d Phil and Jeff for
awareness and guidance) in addition to the Large Project Notification which may add a 60 day wait
before a project reaches the obligation phase.
 
Please advise, we are standing by.
 
 
 
Best,
Ivy Alexander
Emergency Management Specialist
Public Assistance Disaster Operations | Recovery Division | FEMA Region X
Mobile: 202-924-7001
ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
Federal Emergency Management Agency
fema.gov
 
 

 
 
 
 

From: Fisher, Philip <philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 14, 2022 3:53 PM
To: Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov>; Merino, Zachary
<zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov>
Cc: Bookman, Azure <azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>; Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov>;
Parr, Jeffrey <jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov>; Cook, Sirvirther <sirvirther.cook@fema.dhs.gov>; Carolann
Wooton <cwooton@haines.ak.us>; Miller, Linda Y (MVA) <linda.miller2@alaska.gov>; Zeppa, Jonathan D
(MVA) <jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov>
Subject: RE: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request
 
Hi Jenny,
 
That was my bad, I misunderstood. I thought the project was about to be in our EHP queue for review,
not that we were reviewing the amendment for CRC development. I have no concerns as is so it is good
to go. Sorry!

mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
https://urldefense.us/v3/__https:/linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https*3a*2f*2furldefense.us*2fv3*2f__https*3a*2fgcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com*2f*3furl*3dhttp*2a3A*2a2F*2a2Fwww.fema.gov*2a2F*26data*3d05*2a7C01*2a7Cjenny.belanger*2a40alaska.gov*2a7C41d7cb7458554fa3830608da6b3bf249*2a7C20030bf67ad942f7927359ea83fcfa38*2a7C0*2a7C0*2a7C637940202467145636*2a7CUnknown*2a7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0*2a3D*2a7C3000*2a7C*2a7C*2a7C*26sdata*3dj9P5a7xWPekfOd0zg16*2a2BquotOxNKxWwoHdCcl*2a2FlMYjk*2a3D*26reserved*3d0__*3bJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJQ*21*21BClRuOV5cvtbuNI*21UoTyth2vnonNU7DJvirD1nnb7iWAl-oOi5sP2O43i-xHh56myPXSoqQRV2WMiCPMOjRprmkb*24&c=E,1,J6UADJC1XAdIE7bv34AgjRniux9qJ3qW0tTV3wxZCCfmv9igRCaN7iTPjJ1QP6BOV-ySoxSEk5yMqdEr_J0Wcr7mMObCJhw0TZWgbvHgQI4,&typo=1__;JSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJQ!!BClRuOV5cvtbuNI!Xn2FhdKBNs9Jpz5vYvQCTtKBrd5PHMx959f4qolrAoVgb5ss1EL3ourXkYTYa1Eo8sdlrjHZ$
mailto:philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:sirvirther.cook@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:cwooton@haines.ak.us
mailto:linda.miller2@alaska.gov
mailto:jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov


 
Best,
Phil
 

From: Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 14, 2022 4:49 PM
To: Fisher, Philip <philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov>; Merino, Zachary <zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov>
Cc: Bookman, Azure <azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>; Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov>;
Parr, Jeffrey <jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov>; Cook, Sirvirther <sirvirther.cook@fema.dhs.gov>; Carolann
Wooton <cwooton@haines.ak.us>; Miller, Linda Y (MVA) <linda.miller2@alaska.gov>; Zeppa, Jonathan D
(MVA) <jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov>
Subject: RE: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of DHS. DO NOT click links or open attachments unless you recognize
and/or trust the sender. Please select the Phish Alert Report button on the top right of your screen to report this email
if it is unsolicited or suspicious in nature.

 
Hi Phil,
 
Curious – since Phase I is only to reestablish ditches and repair the surface of the roadway in the existing
footprint, could Phase I SOW change be approved and the SHPO allowance/consultation be resolved for
Phase 2 & 3 (steep embankment and river washout areas) SOW Change that will come when design and
engineering is completed?
Thank you,
 
Jenny Belanger, Emergency Management Specialist II
Department of Military and Veterans Affairs
Division of Homeland Security & Emergency Management
Disaster Assistance
907-428-7036 or 1-800-478-2337
907-428-7009 (Fax)
 
State of Alaska, Division of Homeland Security and Emergency Management is committed to providing access, equal
opportunity and reasonable accommodation in it’s services, programs, activities, education and employment for
individuals with disabilities. To request a disability accommodation contact me at least five working days in advance at
907-428-7036 or jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
 

If you are not the intended recipient of this email do not read, retain, copy, distribute, or disclose the content of this
email. If you have received this email in error, please advise us by reply email and destroy the original message and all
copies.
 
 
 

From: Fisher, Philip <philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 14, 2022 2:51 PM
To: Merino, Zachary <zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov>
Cc: Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov>; Bookman, Azure
<azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>; Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov>; Parr, Jeffrey
<jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov>; Cook, Sirvirther <sirvirther.cook@fema.dhs.gov>; Carolann Wooton

mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:sirvirther.cook@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:cwooton@haines.ak.us
mailto:linda.miller2@alaska.gov
mailto:jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov
mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:sirvirther.cook@fema.dhs.gov


CAUTION: This email originated from outside the State of Alaska mail system. Do
not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the
content is safe.

<cwooton@haines.ak.us>
Subject: RE: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request
 

Hi Zachary,
 
I don’t think there is anything else needed from the applicant. I reached out to the State Historic
Preservation Office with a question about the project but not the Borough. There is an archaeological
site on the State’s website along Porcupine Road but I believe it is mapped in the wrong location based
on the description. I am trying to get this sorted out with the SHPO as it could either be a quick
allowance or require a formal consultation with a 30+ day review period. I will let you know when I find
out the answer/approach required. Have a great day.
 
Best,
Phil
 

From: Merino, Zachary <zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 14, 2022 3:19 PM
To: Fisher, Philip <philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov>
Cc: Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov>; Bookman, Azure
<azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>; Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov>; Parr, Jeffrey
<jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov>; Cook, Sirvirther <sirvirther.cook@fema.dhs.gov>; Carolann Wooton
<cwooton@haines.ak.us>
Subject: FW: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request
Importance: High
 
Hello Mr. Fisher,
 
I spoke with Mr. Parr earlier this week about a version request for this project. He informed me that the
environmental side of things checks out. He did mention that you had contacted the applicant but
required additional information for the historic preservation piece. I just wanted to get this on
everyone’s radar. Is there something Haines Borough still needs to provide before we can move forward
with the version request?
 
Keep me posted,
Zachary Merino
 

From: Belanger, Jenny R (MVA) <jenny.belanger@alaska.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 14, 2022 1:52 PM
To: Alexander, Ivy <ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov>
Cc: Merino, Zachary <zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov>; Carolann Wooton <cwooton@haines.ak.us>;
Miller, Linda Y (MVA) <linda.miller2@alaska.gov>; Zeppa, Jonathan D (MVA)
<jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov>; Bookman, Azure <azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov>
Subject: DR-4585 Haines PW 0013 SOW Change Request

mailto:cwooton@haines.ak.us
mailto:zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:jeffrey.parr@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:sirvirther.cook@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:cwooton@haines.ak.us
mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
mailto:ivy.alexander@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:zachary.merino@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:cwooton@haines.ak.us
mailto:linda.miller2@alaska.gov
mailto:jonathan.zeppa@alaska.gov
mailto:azure.bookman@fema.dhs.gov


Importance: High
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of DHS. DO NOT click links or open attachments unless you recognize
and/or trust the sender. Please select the Phish Alert Report button on the top right of your screen to report this email
if it is unsolicited or suspicious in nature.

 
Good Afternoon Ivy,
 
Attached is the formal Scope of Work Change request for Haines Borough, PW 0013, Porcupine Trail
Road. We are asking for a quick turnaround on the review and approval as Haines Borough is standing by
to award contract to complete work this summer.
 
Please let us know if you have any questions or need additional information.
Thank you,
 
Jenny Belanger, Emergency Management Specialist II
Department of Military and Veterans Affairs
Division of Homeland Security & Emergency Management
Disaster Assistance
907-428-7036 or 1-800-478-2337
907-428-7009 (Fax)
 
State of Alaska, Division of Homeland Security and Emergency Management is committed to providing access, equal
opportunity and reasonable accommodation in it’s services, programs, activities, education and employment for
individuals with disabilities. To request a disability accommodation contact me at least five working days in advance at
907-428-7036 or jenny.belanger@alaska.gov
 

If you are not the intended recipient of this email do not read, retain, copy, distribute, or disclose the content of this
email. If you have received this email in error, please advise us by reply email and destroy the original message and all
copies.
 
 
Public Records Law Disclosure: This e-mail may be considered a public record and be subject to public
disclosure. Confidentiality Notice: This e-mail may contain confidential or privileged information. It is
intended only for the use of the recipient named above. If you believe you have received this message in
error, please notify me immediately by reply email, delete the message from your computer, and destroy
any paper copies.
Public Records Law Disclosure: This e-mail may be considered a public record and be subject to public
disclosure. Confidentiality Notice: This e-mail may contain confidential or privileged information. It is
intended only for the use of the recipient named above. If you believe you have received this message in
error, please notify me immediately by reply email, delete the message from your computer, and destroy
any paper copies.

mailto:jenny.belanger@alaska.gov


Federal Emergency Management Agency  
DR-4672-AK 

222 West 8th Avenue 
Anchorage, AK 99513 

The EHP recommendations and concerns in this report are based on a Site Inspection, without full details of the 
scope of work for the site and are therefore subject to change. Final EHP review of the project will be performed 
once the project is submitted and the project reaches the EHP queue. 

FEMA EHP Rep(s): Laura Herriott (Environmental Protection Specialist – EHP Manager)  

Other Personnel: Garret Gladsjo (Applicant Contractor) 
Annet Kreitze (Borough Manager) 
Jenny Belanger (STATE) 
Karen Rose (FEMA) 

 Angela Borjon (FEMA) 

Date of Site Inspection: 8/31/2023

Applicant: Haines, AK 

Site Information: Cat C – Porcupine Road 
Total: (59.412360, -136.028085) to (59.420164, -136.221220) 

Purpose: 
The August 31st, 2023, site inspection was completed to verify the temporary and permanent work completed 
along Porcupine Road.  The team stopped 17 at locations to take measurements, 3 of which were locations 
confirmed to be work completed and paid for by a third party: Constantine, the local mine. 

General Information: 
Haines, Alaska is located on the northern part of the Alaska Panhandle.  As of the 2020 Census, the population 
of Haines Census-designated place, was 1,657, which was down from 1,713 people in 2010.   

The Historical Dalton Trail: Porcupine Road formerly known as the Dalton Trail served as the primary trail during 
the Klondike Gold Rush of 1898.  Gold was discovered at Porcupine Creek Mine, which is located at the end of 
Porcupine Road.  During the 1896-1899 Haines became the supply center for the Dalton Trail via the Chilkat 
River.  

Phase 1 SOW as reviewed 8/19/2023:  
Phase 1 Repairs include repairs at 4 locations ranging from 0.6mi to 2mi sections along Porcupine Road.   
Repairs include repairing the road back to pre-disaster condition with the addition of Calcium Chloride, and 
repairs to ditch along both sides of the road. 

Phase 1 Section 1 & Section 2: (59.412354, -136.029592) to (59.416912, -136.112530): Approximately 3-mile 
length between GPS points. The applicant made repairs to two sections between the 3 miles: 

 Section 1 (59.412354, -136.029592) to (59.414085, -136.084124) – The applicant intends to repair 1.92
miles and associated ditch repair along both sides of the road.

 Section 2 (59.414467, -136.093800) to (59.416912, -136.112530) – The applicant intends to repair 0.6
miles of road surface and ditch repairs.



 

 

 
Google Earth – Showing the location of Phase 1, Section 1 & 2:  Proximal the Chilkat River.  The Red line on the 
right indicates the 1.92 mile section of completed work for Phase 1, Section 1.  The red line on the left indicates 
the 0.6 miles of road work completed in Phase 1 Section 2.    
 
 
Phase 1 Section 3: (59.420589, -136.135169) to (59.421304, -136.15157): The applicant intends to repair 0.6 
miles of road surface and ditch repairs. 
 

 
Google Earth – Showing the location of Phase 1, Section 3: Proximal the Chilkat River.  The red line indicates the 
0.6 miles of road work completed for Phase 1 Section 3.   
 
 
Phase 1 Section 4 (59.421384, -136.175733) to (59.420224, -136.221962): The applicant intends to repair 1.63 
miles of road surface and ditch repairs. 
 

 
Google Earth Image – Location of Phase 1 Section 4:  Red Line indicates the 1.63 miles of completed road work 
for Phase, Section 4. 



 

 
Google Earth Image – Total 7 miles from starting GPS point to Stopping GPS Point. 
 
 
Site Visit Measurements:  
To verify the work completed in Phase 1, the applicant and contractor took the FEMA team along Porcupine 
Road.  The following measurements were taken: Total width which included shoulder lengths, length of the road, 
and the lengths of both shoulders.  Please see table below. 
 
** indicate locations where Constantine/The Mine completed work. 
 
Sites:  

Stops GPS (Lat, Long) Phase/Section Width 
Total 
(shoulder
s & RD) 

Road 
Length 

Shoulder 

Length 

Stop 1 59.412211, 

-136.025926 

0.14 miles before 
Phase 1/Section 1 
start GPS 

25ft 17ft 4ft on both sides 

Stop 2 59.412360, 

-136.028085 

0.5 miles before Phase 
1/Section 1 start GPS 

25.7ft 17ft 4.35ft on both sides 

Stop 3 59.412512, 

-136.044383 

Phase 1/Section 1 27.8ft - 
28ft  

18ft 4ft (L) & 6ft (R) 

Stop 4 59.414699, 

-136.064343 

Phase 1/Section 1 24.5ft 16.9ft 3.8ft on both sides 

*Culvert – Herman 
Creek 

Stop 5** 59.415373, 

-136.075005 

Phase 1/Section 1 27.10ft 12.5ft 4.1ft (L) & 10.5ft (R) 

Stop 6 59.414066, 

-136.084047 

Approximately 25ft 
West of the Phase 1, 
Section 1 end point. 

26ft 16ft 7ft (L) & 3ft (R) 



 

Stop 7** 59.414205, 

-136.085080 

Approximately 191ft 
West of the Phase 1, 
Section 1 end point.   

35.7ft 14ft  8.7ft (L) & 13ff (R) 

Stop 8 59.414357, 

-136.095753 

Phase 1/ Section 2 27.8ft 17ft 5ft (L) & 5.3ft (R) 

Stop 9  59.416699, 

-136.111985 

Phase 1/Section 2 27.9ft 15.8ft 7ft (L) & 5.1ft (R) 

Stop 10 59.420656, 

-136.135637 

Phase 1/Section 3 25ft 16ft 3.4ft (L) & 6ft (R) 

Stop 11 59.421021, 

-136.138316 

Phase 1/Section 3 28ft 16ft 7ft (L) & 5.4ft (R) 

Stop 12 59.421397, 

-136.151576 

Phase 1/Section 3 28ft 17.4ft 8ft (L) & 3.4ft (R) 

Stop 13** 59.421366, 

-136.173309 

Located in-between 
Phase 1, Section 3 
End -AND- Phase 1, 
Section 4 Start  

21.5ft  13.6ft 5ft (L) & 2.6ft (R) 

Stop 14 59.421278, 

-136.177367 

Phase 1/Section 4 20ft 12ft 6ft (L) & 2ft (R) 

Stop 15 59.420716, 

-136.188588 

Phase 1/Section 4 21.7ft 13.3ft 6ft (L) & 1.4ft (R) 

Stop 16 59.421098, 

-136.201261 

Phase 1/Section 4 32ft  17ft 2ft (L) & 9ft (R) 

Stop 17 59.420164, 

-136.221220 

Phase 1/Section 4 23.1ft 16.7ft 2ft (L) & 4.4 (R) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Google Earth Images of Site Inspection Stops Including Section endpoints: 
 

 
Google Earth Image – the first 7 stops.  According to the applicant and applicant’s contractor, stops numbers, 5 
and 7 were locations where work was completed and paid for by Constantine/The Mine.  
 
 

 
Google Earth Image – Stops 8 & 9 within Phase 1 Section 2 Work. Phase 1 Section 2 (59.414467, -136.093800) 
to (59.416912, -136.112530). 

 

Google Earth Image – Stops 10, 11, and 12 fall within Phase 1 Section 3 (59.420589, -136.135169) to (59.421304, 
-136.15157). 

 

 

 



 

Google Earth Image: Stop #13 is in-between Section #3 and Section #4. 

Google Earth Image – Stops #14, 15, 16, and 17 fall within Section 4. 

Third Part Work: Stops 5, 7, & 13 – the locations where Constantine completed permanent work.  

Stop #5 (59.415373, -136.075005): 
 NEPA – Connected Action.  To properly complete the NEPA review, the SOW for this section is 

required. 
 EO11980 Wetland– Per the National Wetland Inventory mapper, the site is within in listed Wetland. 

Stop #7 (59.414205, -136.085080) 
 NEPA – Connected Action.  To properly complete the NEPA review, the SOW for this section is 

required. 
 EO11980 Wetland– Per the National Wetland Inventory mapper, the site is within in listed Wetland. 

Stop #13 (59.421366, -136.173309) 
 NEPA – Connected Action.  To properly complete the NEPA review, the SOW for this section is 

required. 
 

EHP Concerns:  
 Stop #4 (59.414699, -136.064343): Culvert 

o NEPA – Connected Action.  To properly complete the NEPA review, the SOW for this section is 
required. 

o CWA – USACE Permit (Or written documentation from USACE indicating the project falls within a NWP, 
or written documentation from USACE indicating permits are not necessary) 

o EFH – According to Alaska Department of Fish and Game, the following Species are present in Herman 
Creek: Dolly Varden, Sockeye Salmon, Coho Salmon, Pink Salmon, Chum Salmon, Chinook Salmon, 
Eulachon, and Cutthroat Trout. 

 NEPA – To complete a legally sufficient EHP review, the SOW details for the third-party work is required.   
o Phase 2 & Phase 3 work is yet to be determined. The SOW for both phases are necessary to complete 

the EHP Compliance Review. 
 NHPA – Road width.  All previous reports indicate the road is 22ft in width.  Measurements taken 8/31/2023 

indicate lengths ranging from 20ft – 35 ft.  
 Work in or Near Water  
 Essential Fish Habitat 
 Bypass Road - there was discussion of a bypass road built or plan to be built in the section between Section 1 

and Section 2.  It was unclear if work has been completed or is to be completed.  Clarification on the bypass 
SOW is needed. 

 



 

**FEMA Sent the applicant and stare an RFI 9/20/2023.  One clarification was the culvert work.  The work completed near 
stop #4, near the culvert, was work completed by a third-party (not Constantine).  Additional clarification will be helpful 
regarding who did what work around the culvert. 



Q & A History

Deadline

06/30/2022 09:00 PM EDT

Remarks

All questions regarding this project must be posted on the Bid Express Platform. No in person, phone, or email questions will be
answered.

Mobilization-Fixed costs on this project are substantial - Crusher mobilization/set-up - trucks-grader-compactor and
support gear. The again with demobilization. - Project overhead and incidentals also make up this item.
Allocating these fixed costs into unit bid items is challenging and suggest a mob item be included.
TY

Asked By: Glacier Construction, Inc. dba Southeast Road Builders on 06/25/2022 06:26 PM EDT
Published By: Ed Coffland on 06/27/2022 12:02 PM EDT

Published

Q.

We will send an addendum to add a new pay item 640.0001.01 Mobilization and Demobilization. The pay item unit will
be LS.

Answered By: Ed Coffland on 06/27/2022 12:02 PM EDT
Published By: Ed Coffland on 06/27/2022 12:02 PM EDT

A.

Addendum 1, Item 5 states “To ensure compliance with AS 23.20.265, the Contractor shall complete a ‘Tax Clearance
Request Form for Contractors’ and submit to (ADL&WD). Completed Tax form shall be uploaded to the Bid Express
Platform with your bid.”

Is the contractor to provide a copy of the approved form from ADL&WD as part of it’s bid, or is the owner requiring a
returned form from ADL&WD showing tax clearance is granted? Providing a completed form from ADL&WD may take
time that would conflict with the bid due date. How should the contractor complete the “Specific time period a tax
clearance is being requested for” on the form?

Asked By: Glacier Construction, Inc. dba Southeast Road Builders on 06/29/2022 04:16 PM EDT
Published By: Carolann Wooton on 06/29/2022 05:21 PM EDT

Published

Q.

No, we are just requiring the completed form, not the approved form, with your bid. We will submit it to DOL and get
the clearance back before the final payment for the project is awarded.

Answered By: Carolann Wooton on 06/29/2022 05:21 PM EDT
Published By: Carolann Wooton on 06/29/2022 05:21 PM EDT

A.

Page 1 of 2 09/27/2023



noted excavation and embankment is deleted and all required is subsidiary. Per note #7, existing road width varies,
however top surfacing shall be 22 ft. in width.
It appears, without complete survey prior to bid, some areas may be less than the 22 ft. requirement. Additionally, some
areas may take some unknown quantity to comply. Is it the intent of the contract for all excavation/embankment to be
subsidiary to comply with the 22 ft requirement? If so please provide us with an estimate of excavation/embankment
quantities to comply - TY

Asked By: Glacier Construction, Inc. dba Southeast Road Builders on 06/29/2022 04:45 PM EDT
Published By: Ed Coffland on 06/29/2022 06:33 PM EDT

Published

Q.

Our intent is for the reconditioned road surface to match the existing road surface up to 22 feet wide. Where the
existing road surface is less than 22 feet wide, we do not intend to widen the, but recondition to match the narrower
road.

Answered By: Ed Coffland on 06/29/2022 06:33 PM EDT
Published By: Ed Coffland on 06/29/2022 06:33 PM EDT

A.

Page 2 of 2 09/27/2023

Garret Gladsjo
Highlight



06/21/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
19:00:53

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00043

181119 - Haines Emergency Protective Measures

Non Compliant Flag:

Level:

EA Draft Date: EA Final Date:

EA Public Notice Date: EA Fonsi

EIS Notice of Intent EIS ROD Date:

No

CATEX

Comment Haines Borough, Cat B, Work Completed, CRC Gross Cost $401,272.70:  The applicant utilized force
account labor and contract labor to provided waste disposal for Beach Road residents, removed gravel
and debris from multiple manholes, established an Emergency Operations Center at 213 Haines
Highway, Haines, AK (GPS: 59.231741,-135.447796), search and rescue throughout Haines, Alaska,
emergency repairs for harbor skiff search and rescue motor-boat, emergency repairs to the harbor
moorage floats (According to RFI-PRJ-66431, no work was completed in water), hotel stays for EMT
staff, temporary repairs to the wastewater treatment plant system, safety information dissemination,
landslide warning signs and caution lights, monitoring and avalanche inspection, and temporary road
and culvert repair.

Road and culvert include the following permanent work:
*. Young Road (GPS Start: 59.24971, -135.43603, Stop: 59.24028, -135.44375, approximately 0.8 mile)
- Applicant utilized force account labor and contract labor, to repair washed out road. Young Road was
graded, filled with 708 CY of 3" Minus and 24 CY of Class 1 Rip Rap. The applicant installed temporary
culverts at Young Road and Mathias Dr and Barnett Drive. The applicant also placed pipe bedding on
exposed water line between Oslund Drive and Mathias Ave, backfilled eroded trench, and waterline
near Barnett Road, using 126 TN of 3" crushed gravel. The applicant also repaired a CMP storm drain
along the sidewalk, reconstructed a ditch, and repaired several drainage pipes.  Debris removal was
also associated with this location.
*. Chilkat Trail Road (GPS Start: 59.211892, -135.448155, Stop: 59.210737, -135.44808, approximately
479ft)- Washed out road was graded, filled with 336 CY of 1" Minus.
*. First Avenue North (GPS: 59.238073, -135.442671) - Washed out road was graded, filled with 36 CY
of 3" Minus.
*. Soap Suds Alley (GPS Start: 59.22691, -135.44054, Stop: 59.22790, -135.43863) - Washed out road
was graded, filled with 48 CY of 3" Minus.
*. Mink Way (GPS: 59.26689, -135.44852) - Washed out road was graded, filled with 72 CY of 3" Minus.
*. Haven Court (GPS Start: 59.244628, -135.432761, Stop: 59.245258, -135.428822) - Washed out road
was graded, filled with 72 yards of 3" minus.
*. Porcupine Trail Road (GPS: Start: 59.41235, -136.02959, End: 59.42065, -136.19023), Road prep,
clearing and grubbing, finishing, and shaping.
*. Cathedral View Drive (GPS Start: 59.24455, -135.49058, Stop: 59.24308, -135.48724, approximately
0.3 mile) - SERB hauled slide material to fill Cathedral View Drive and backfill eroded trench. Installed 2
24" CPP culverts. Installed 1-12" driveway culvert. Re-installed 24" CPP culvert at the bottom of
Cathedral View Dr. Graded and compacted roadway.
*. Lily Lake (Jeep Trail) (GPS: 59.20746, -135.41828) Emergency staging/road repairs. Haul and place
material to reconstruct road, using excavator and dump truck, 20 FT of 24" CPP.
*. Beach Road (GPS Start: 59.22426, -135.41641, End: 59.21964, -135.39862, approximately 0.7 mile),
Stabilization of the site, search and rescue, waste disposal, and monitoring and inspection of avalanche
adjacent to the road.
*. Piedad Road (GPS Start 59.24529, -135.47637, Stop: 59.24462, -135.47622, approximately 141 ft).
The applicant installed a 12" culvert near the water treatment plant at the top of Piedad Road; Installed 2
runs of 18" CPP by 50' long at the top of Piedad Road near the water treatment plant. Dug drainage
ditch uphill of the new culverts. The dimensions of the ditch are 2000 FT L x 1 FT D x 3 FT W. (GPS
START: 59.239519, -135.476181 to 59.244985, -135.476261).
Debris was disposed of at (59.217997, -135.424935). The TDSR was located at (59.217848, -
135.425685). Road repair materials were provided by: Northern Construction Stockpile (59.238425, -
135.468892) and Southeast Road Builders Borrow Pit (59.257017, -135.544942).
All work and costs in this project fall between 12/2/2020 and 8/28/2021.
- lherriot - 05/18/2022 21:07:33 GMT
***Rework due to costs being removed from the equipment summary.  Revised Estimated cost is
$400,761. - jparr2 - 06/21/2022 18:17:48 GMT
/Project reworked 6/ for a cost adjustment. EHP review still applies.  - lherriot - 06/21/2023 18:59:34
GMT

NEPA DETERMINATION

CATEX CATEGORIES

Page 1 of  4NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



06/21/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
19:00:53

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00043

181119 - Haines Emergency Protective Measures

Description SelectedCatex Category Code

(*n7) Federal Assistance for Structure and Facility Upgrades. Federal assistance
for the reconstruction, elevation, retrofitting, upgrading to current codes and
standards, and improvements of pre-existing facilities in existing developed
areas with substantially completed infrastructure, when the immediate project
area has already been disturbed, and when those actions do not alter basic
functions, do not exceed capacity of other system components, or modify
intended land use. This category does not include actions within or affecting
streams or stream banks or actions seaward of the limit of moderate wave
action (or V zone when the limit of moderate wave action has not been
identified).

*n7 Yes

Description Selected ?Extraordinary Circumstance Code
No Extraordinary Circumstances were selected

EXTRAORDINARY

Environmental Law/
Executive Order Description CommentStatus

Clean Air Act (CAA) Project will not result in permanent air
emissions - Review concluded

Completed

Coastal Barrier Resources Act
(CBRA)

Project is not on or connected to CBRA Unit
or otherwise protected area - Review
concluded

Completed

Clean Water Act (CWA) Project would not affect any water of the U.S.
- Review concluded

Completed

Coastal Zone Management Act
(CZMA)

Project is not located in a coastal zone area
and does not affect a coastal zone area -
Review concluded

Completed

Executive Order 11988 -
Floodplains

Located in floodplain or effects on
floodplain/flood levels

Based on the effective FIRM panel 020008B,
dated 5/1/1987, the project area is not mapped.
Due to the several project locations proximity to
the Chilkat Inlet, an 8-step decision making
process was completed.  Please see attached 8-
step decision making process. - lherriot -
05/18/2022 21:19:42 GMT

Completed

Possible adverse effects associated with
investment in floodplain, occupancy or
modification of floodplain environment

Completed

ENVIRONMENTAL LAW / EXECUTIVE ORDER

Page 2 of  4NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



06/21/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
19:00:53

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00043

181119 - Haines Emergency Protective Measures

Environmental Law/
Executive Order Description CommentStatus

8 Step Process Complete - documentation
attached - Review concluded

Completed

Executive Order 11990 -
Wetlands

Located in wetlands or effects on wetlands Per attached USFWS Wetlands Inventory (NWI)
mapper, accessed dated 5/18/2022., several of
the proposed scope of work is locations are
proximal a wetland. The project, as described, is
for in-kind repairs/restoration actions for
restoring to pre-disaster conditions and ground
disturbance totals are less than 0.1 acres from
construction activities. - lherriot - 05/18/2022
21:39:16 GMT

Completed

Possible adverse effect associated with
constructing in or near wetland

Completed

Review completed as part of floodplain
review - Review concluded

Completed

Executive Order 12898 -
Environmental Justice for Low
Income and Minority Populations

Low income or minority population in or near
project area

Completed

No disproportionately high and adverse
impact on low income or minority population -
Review concluded

Completed

Endangered Species Act (ESA) No listed species and/or designated critical
habitat present in areas affected directly or
indirectly by the federal action - Review
concluded

The proposed project will not destroy or
adversely modify suitable habitat and will not
affect any other listed species under the
jurisdiction of the USFWS. It is therefore
determined the proposed project would have "No
Effect" on listed species and consultation with
the USFWS under Section 7 of the Endangered
Species Act is not required. - lherriot -
05/18/2022 21:09:03 GMT

Completed

Farmland Protection Policy Act
(FPPA)

Project does not affect designated prime or
unique farmland - Review concluded

Completed

Fish and Wildlife Coordination
Act (FWCA)

Project does not affect, control, or modify a
waterway/body of water - Review concluded

Completed

Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) Project located within a flyway zoneCompleted

Project does not have potential to take
migratory birds - Review concluded

Completed

Page 3 of  4NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



06/21/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
19:00:53

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00043

181119 - Haines Emergency Protective Measures

Environmental Law/
Executive Order Description CommentStatus

Magnuson-Stevens Fishery
Conservation and Management
Act (MSA)

Project not located in or near Essential Fish
Habitat - Review concluded

Completed

National Historic Preservation Act
(NHPA)

Applicable executed Programmatic
Agreement. Activity meets Programmatic
Allowance (enter date and # in comments) -
Review concluded

FEMA's Programmatic Agreement with the AK
State Historic Preservation Officer and the AK
Division of Homeland Security and Emergency
Management includes Programmatic Allowances
for activities that have no effect or limited effect
on historic properties, and do not require further
review by the SHPO pursuant to Appendices C
and D. The scope of work for this project at
Damage # 455118; Emergency Protective
Measures (Haines Borough Emergency
Protective Measures) meets the description of
Stipulation 2 in Appendix C; Tier I: I.A.1, II.A, and
III.A.6 and Tier II: III.A.1 and A.3 in Appendix D. -
pfisher1 - 05/17/2022 15:41:36
GMT******Rework was for updates to the rental
summary that do not impact the previous NHPA
review. Determination and comment entered
0/17/2022 still applies.******* - mball4 -
06/21/2022 17:13:06 GMT*****Reworked for cost
adjustment, no change to SOW. Previous
comment still applies. - pfisher1 - 06/14/2023
22:40:19 GMT

Completed

Wild and Scenic Rivers Act
(WSR)

Project is not along and does not affect Wild
and Scenic River - Review concluded

Completed

Standard Conditions:

Any change to the approved scope of work will require re-evaluation for compliance with NEPA and other Laws and Executive Orders.

This review does not address all federal, state and local requirements. Acceptance of federal funding requires recipient to comply with all
federal, state and local laws. Failure to obtain all appropriate federal, state and local environmental permits and clearances may
jeopardize federal funding.

If ground disturbing activities occur during construction, applicant will monitor ground disturbance and if any potential archeological
resources are discovered, will immediately cease construction in that area and notify the State and FEMA.

CONDITIONS

Page 4 of  4NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



12/19/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
18:27:01

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013

435787 - Porcupine Trail Road

Non Compliant Flag:

Level:

EA Draft Date: EA Final Date:

EA Public Notice Date: EA Fonsi

EIS Notice of Intent EIS ROD Date:

Yes

CATEX

Comment V0- City of Haines is proposing a v0 A&E component to the Cat C project, Porcupine Trail Road
59.41235, -136.02959 to 59.42065, -136.19023].  Applicant will be using contract resources to conduct
a) Preliminary Engineering Study and b) A&E design contract create designs to repair 9 locations along
5mi of Porcupine Trail Road.  This PW is a version 0 is for the engineering study and does not include
approval for construction of any kind.  Prior to construction, a subsequent version 1 will need to be
formulated and reviewed by EHP.  Cost is $37,175. - jparr2 - 01/21/2022 18:46:25 GMT
**Minor wording rework, EHP review still applies - jparr2 - 02/01/2022 16:12:26 GMT
***CRC updated notes to meet template, SOW is unchanged. - jparr2 - 02/09/2022 17:22:08 GMT
SOW: Haines Borough.  Work to be completed, Cat C, Version 2 CRC Net Cost $1,435,834.75: The
applicant intends to repair multiple locations on Porcupine Trail road, a two-land, 22ft wide, gravel road.
The applicant utilized D1 surface aggregate.  HMP: To prevent future damages caused by a similar
event, the applicant intends to add Calcium Chloride to road materials.
Damaged sites listed below:
Site 1 (59.412354, -136.029592) to (59.414085, -136.084124): The applicant intends to repair 1.92
miles of road surface at two locations over the span of 3.84 miles. The applicant also intends to repair
the ditches along both sides of the road.
Site 2 (59.414467, -136.093800) to (59.416912, -136.112530): The applicant intends to repair 0.6 miles
of road surface and ditch repairs.
Site 3 (59.420589, -136.135169) to (59.421304, -136.15157): The applicant intends to repair 0.6 miles
of road surface and ditch repairs.
Site 4 (59.421384, -136.175733) to (59.420224, -136.221962): The applicant intends to repair 1.63
miles of road surface and ditch repairs.
- lherriot - 08/19/2022 17:11:11 GMT
This project is being de-obligated due to a third-party completing permanent work in the same location
of the approved SOW for Phase 1.  This is considered a connected action and the third part work
completed SOW will need to be considered in the NEPA determination.  Additionally Phase II and
Phase III permanent work and HMA proposals will need to be reviewed together in the EHP compliance
review.  - lherriot - 09/21/2023 18:28:46 GMT
12/18/23 PA rework was to add HM costs to PW.  As noted above NEPA review has not been
completed based on project being determined ineligible for PA funding, see Determination Memo. -
skilner - 12/19/2023 18:25:38 GMT

NEPA DETERMINATION

Description SelectedCatex Category Code

(*n7) Federal Assistance for Structure and Facility Upgrades. Federal assistance
for the reconstruction, elevation, retrofitting, upgrading to current codes and
standards, and improvements of pre-existing facilities in existing developed
areas with substantially completed infrastructure, when the immediate project
area has already been disturbed, and when those actions do not alter basic
functions, do not exceed capacity of other system components, or modify
intended land use. This category does not include actions within or affecting
streams or stream banks or actions seaward of the limit of moderate wave
action (or V zone when the limit of moderate wave action has not been
identified).

*n7 Yes

CATEX CATEGORIES

Description Selected ?Extraordinary Circumstance Code

EXTRAORDINARY

Page 1 of  6NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



12/19/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
18:27:01

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013

435787 - Porcupine Trail Road

No Extraordinary Circumstances were selected

Environmental Law/
Executive Order Description CommentStatus

Clean Air Act (CAA) Project will not result in permanent air
emissions - Review concluded

Not
Completed

Clean Water Act (CWA) Project would not affect any water of the U.S.
- Review concluded

No impacts to waters of the US are anticipated
during the proposed v0 A&E action.  The
subsequent construction version of this project
are likely to need additional EHP review,
additionally future construction elements are
expected to occur within waters of the US and
appropriate permits will be needed from USACE.
- jparr2 - 01/21/2022 18:40:02 GMTFull review
has not been completed based on project being
determined ineligible for PA funding, see
Determination Memo. - skilner - 12/19/2023
18:22:57 GMT

Not
Applicable

Executive Order 11988 -
Floodplains

Located in floodplain or effects on
floodplain/flood levels

No impacts to floodplains are anticipated during
the proposed v0 A&E action.  The subsequent
construction version of this project will still need
EHP review, due to project location within the
floodplain.  Prior to any construction, the
applicant will need to work with the local
floodplain coordinator to determine if any
additional steps will be needed for construction
such as a Floodplain Permit. - jparr2 -
01/21/2022 18:37:16 GMTBased on the effective
Flood Insurance Rate Map, the project is in an
unmapped area.  The project is between 1,500
and 1,600ftt away from Mosquito Lake.
According to Google Earth Pro, the project
location is uphill from Mosquito Lake at an
approximate 3.65 slope.  The project is not likely
to be in a floodway. - lherriot - 08/19/2022
17:15:11 GMTFloodplain review has not been
completed based on project being determined
ineligible for PA funding, see Determination
Memo. - skilner - 12/19/2023 18:17:07 GMT

Not
Applicable

No adverse effect on floodplain and not
adversely affected by the floodplain - Review
concluded

Not
Applicable

Executive Order 11990 -
Wetlands

No effects on wetlands and project outside
wetlands - Review concluded

No impacts to wetlands are anticipated during
the proposed v0 A&E action.  The subsequent
construction version of this project will likely
need additional EHP review, since bank
stabilization will likely occur within Riverine
Wetland. Prior to any construction, any work
occurring in

Not
Applicable

ENVIRONMENTAL LAW / EXECUTIVE ORDER

Page 2 of  6NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



12/19/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
18:27:01

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013

435787 - Porcupine Trail Road

Environmental Law/
Executive Order Description CommentStatus

wetlands will need USACE and state permits. -
jparr2 - 01/21/2022 18:37:36 GMTPer review of
the USFWS National Wetlands Inventory (NWI)
mapper, accessed 8/18/2022, the project is not
located in a wetland. - lherriot - 08/19/2022
17:15:58 GMTWetland review has not been
completed based on project being determined
ineligible for PA funding, see Determination
Memo. - skilner - 12/19/2023 18:17:37 GMT

Executive Order 12898 -
Environmental Justice for Low
Income and Minority Populations

Low income or minority population in or near
project area

No impacts to low income or minority populations
are anticipated during the proposed v0 A&E
action.  The subsequent construction version of
this project may still need EHP review, however
low income or minority populations are not
expected to be disproportionately affected during
the construction phase due to the anticipated
SOW and location of repair. - jparr2 - 01/21/2022
18:37:52 GMTEJ review has not been completed
based on project being determined ineligible for
PA funding, see Determination Memo. - skilner -
12/19/2023 18:18:13 GMT

Not
Applicable

No disproportionately high and adverse
impact on low income or minority population -
Review concluded

Not
Applicable

Endangered Species Act (ESA) No listed species and/or designated critical
habitat present in areas affected directly or
indirectly by the federal action - Review
concluded

No impacts to ESA-listed species are anticipated
during the proposed v0 A&E action.  The
subsequent construction version of this project
may still need EHP review, however ESA-listed
species are not expected to be affected during
the construction phase due to the anticipated
SOW and location of repair. - jparr2 - 01/21/2022
18:39:21 GMTReview has not been completed
based on project being determined ineligible for
PA funding, see Determination Memo. - skilner -
12/19/2023 18:22:27 GMT

Not
Applicable

Farmland Protection Policy Act
(FPPA)

Project does not affect designated prime or
unique farmland - Review concluded

Not
Completed

Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) Project located within a flyway zone No impacts to migratory birds are anticipated
during the proposed v0 A&E action.  The
subsequent construction version of this project
may still need EHP review, pending if additional
vegetation clearing will be proposed as part of
construction phase. - jparr2 - 01/21/2022
18:40:54 GMTFull review has not been
completed based on project being determined
ineligible for PA funding, see Determination
Memo. - skilner - 12/19/2023 18:23:28 GMT

Not
Applicable

Page 3 of  6NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



12/19/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
18:27:01

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013

435787 - Porcupine Trail Road

Environmental Law/
Executive Order Description CommentStatus

Project does not have potential to take
migratory birds - Review concluded

Not
Applicable

Magnuson-Stevens Fishery
Conservation and Management
Act (MSA)

Project located in or near Essential Fish
Habitat

No impacts to essential fish habitat (EFH) are
anticipated during the proposed v0 A&E action.
The subsequent construction version of this
project will need additional EHP review due to
work along the Chilkat River (EFH), additionally
any bank stabilization proposed shall be bio-
engineered. - jparr2 - 01/21/2022 18:41:09
GMTFull review has not been completed based
on project being determined ineligible for PA
funding, see Determination Memo. - skilner -
12/19/2023 18:23:50 GMT

Not
Applicable

Project does not adversely affect Essential
Fish Habitat - Review concluded

Not
Applicable

National Historic Preservation Act
(NHPA)

Standard Section 106 review FEMAs Programmatic Agreement with the AK
State Historic Preservation Officer and the AK
Division of Homeland Security and Emergency
Management includes Programmatic Allowances
for activities that have no effect or limited effect
on historic properties, and do not require further
review by the SHPO pursuant to Appendix C.
The scope of work at damage #55349,
Porcupine Trail Road and embankment erosion,
meets the description of Exemption 7 for the
funding of an Architectural and Engineering
Study. Once a repair method has been
determined and a final scope of work developed
the project should be returned for NHPA review.
- mball4 - 01/21/2022 16:28:50
GMT***********Rework was for the addition of
Scope Note 3 which does not impact the
previous review. Comment entered 01/21/2022
still applies.************** - mball4 - 02/01/2022
15:06:28 GMT*******Rework was for the
formatting of scope notes and does not impact
the previous review. Comment entered
01/21/2022 still applies.********* - mball4 -
02/09/2022 17:14:40 GMT******Reworked to
Phase project into road and surface repair (1)
and embankment repair (2). There is an
Archaeological site within the APE according to
AHRS. Consultation with the AK SHPO inititated
on 8/5/2022 and a No Adverse Effect
determination was made (Attached). SHPO
concurred on 8/10/2022 (Attatched). - pfisher1 -
08/22/2022 13:33:43 GMTHistoric preservation
review has not been fully completed to include all
work actually completed which has been
determined ineligible for PA funding, see

Not
Applicable

Page 4 of  6NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



12/19/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
18:27:01

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013

435787 - Porcupine Trail Road

Environmental Law/
Executive Order Description CommentStatus

Determination Memo. - skilner - 12/19/2023
18:21:00 GMT

No properties in the project area are 50 years
or older or listed on the National Register -
Review concluded

Not
Applicable

Project affects undisturbed groundNot
Applicable

Project area has potential for presence of
archeological resources

Not
Applicable

Determination of historic properties affectedNot
Applicable

NR eligible resources present in project area.
(FEMA finding/ SHPO/THPO concurrence
attached)

Not
Applicable

No Adverse Effect Determination. (FEMA
finding/ SHPO/THPO concurrence attached)
- Review concluded

Not
Applicable

Wild and Scenic Rivers Act
(WSR)

Project is not along and does not affect Wild
and Scenic River - Review concluded

Not
Completed

Special Conditions required on implementation of Projects:

Executive Order 11988 - Floodplains

Once proposed designs are completed, applicant should work with their floodplain coordinator for any needed permits.
The preliminary Engineering Analysis should evaluate project alternatives, including at least one alternative that evaluates complete or
partial road relocation.

NoSource of condition: Monitoring Required:

Executive Order 11990 - Wetlands

The Applicant is responsible for obtaining any required federal, state, or local wetland permits prior to initiating work in subsequent
construction phases.  The sub-grantee shall comply with all conditions of the required permits.

NoSource of condition: Monitoring Required:

Clean Water Act (CWA)

Applicant should contact and work with USACE regarding permitting once the preferred alternative and conceptual designs are
developed.
Applicant should be aware that USACE permits typically require 60 percent designs.

NoSource of condition: Monitoring Required:

CONDITIONS

Page 5 of  6NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



12/19/2023 REC-01FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
18:27:01

RECORD OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATION (REC)

Project

Title:

PA-10-AK-4585-PW-00013

435787 - Porcupine Trail Road

Endangered Species Act (ESA)

Applicant to work with Takshanuk Watershed Council and ADFG to ensure suitable alternatives are considered and that proposed
concept designs include bioengineering.
Applicant should include at least one alternative that assesses if feasible to relocate portions of Porcupine Trail Rd.

NoSource of condition: Monitoring Required:

Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA)

Applicant should be aware that if substantial additional vegetation clearing is proposed as part of the project, then additional steps will
need to be implemented such as confirming no active nests are within the work zone or working with USFWS is active nests need to be
removed.

NoSource of condition: Monitoring Required:

Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act
(MSA)

Applicant to work with Takshanuk Watershed Council and ADFG to ensure suitable alternatives are considered and that proposed
concept designs include bioengineering.
Applicant should include at least one alternative that assesses if feasible to relocate portions of Porcupine Trail Rd.

NoSource of condition: Monitoring Required:

NEPA Determination

V0- Applicant should be aware that if substantial work is proposed outside of the existing facility extents, an Environmental Assessment
may be needed.  Applicant should coordinate with EHP once a preferred alternative is selected, and conceptual designs are being
developed.
Applicant should be aware that 60 percent designs are typically needed for USACE permits.

NoSource of condition: Monitoring Required:

NEPA Determination

NEPA Conditions: All borrow or fill material must come from pre-existing stockpiles, material reclaimed from maintained roadside ditches
(provided the designed width or depth of the ditch is not increased), or commercially procured material from a source existing prior to the
event. For any FEMA-funded project requiring the use of a non-commercial source or a commercial source that was not permitted to
operate prior to the event (e.g. a new pit, agricultural fields, road ROWs, etc.) in whole or in part, regardless of cost, the Applicant must
notify FEMA and the Recipient prior to extracting material. FEMA must review the source for compliance with all applicable federal
environmental planning and historic preservation laws and executive orders prior to a subrecipient or their contractor commencing borrow
extraction. Consultation and regulatory permitting may be required. Non-compliance with this requirement may jeopardize receipt of
federal funding. Documentation of borrow sources utilized is required at closeout.

NoSource of condition: Monitoring Required:

Standard Conditions:

Any change to the approved scope of work will require re-evaluation for compliance with NEPA and other Laws and Executive Orders.

This review does not address all federal, state and local requirements. Acceptance of federal funding requires recipient to comply with all
federal, state and local laws. Failure to obtain all appropriate federal, state and local environmental permits and clearances may
jeopardize federal funding.

If ground disturbing activities occur during construction, applicant will monitor ground disturbance and if any potential archeological
resources are discovered, will immediately cease construction in that area and notify the State and FEMA.

Page 6 of  6NOTE: All times are GMT using a 24-hour clock.



U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
FEMA, Region X 
130 228th Street, SW 
Bothell, WA 98021-8627 

 
 

www.fema.gov 

August 5, 2022 
 
Ms. Judith Bittner 
State Historic Preservation Officer 
Alaska Office of History and Archaeology 
550 West 7th Avenue, Suite 1310 
Anchorage, Alaska 99501-3565 
Via email 
 

Re: FEMA Public Assistance, 4585-DR-AK PW13, Porcupine Trail Road Repair 
 
 
Dear Ms. Bittner: 
 
The U.S. Department of Homeland Security’s Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 
proposes to fund Haines Borough (Applicant), through the Alaska Division of Homeland Security 
and Emergency Management (AKDHS & EM), for a road repair project (Undertaking). This funding 
is available from FEMA’s Public Assistance Program through Presidentially-declared disaster 4585-
DR-AK. The proposed Undertaking is being reviewed pursuant to Section 106 of the National 
Historic Preservation Act, as amended, and the Programmatic Agreement in effect with your office 
and AKDHS & EM. 
 
Proposed Undertaking 
The Undertaking will involve road and embankment repair along the 22-foot-wide Porcupine Trail 
Road in Haines Borough located approximately 2-mile northwest of Covenant Life, Alaska, as 
shown on Figures 1 and 2. As a result of heavy rains and overland flooding, segments of the gravel 
Porcupine Trail Road located between Latitude 59.41235, Longitude -136.02959 and Latitude 
59.42022, Longitude -136.22196 washed out the road surface and base, caused ditches to become 
clogged or washout, and embankment failures. Embankment failures occurred in sections of the road 
in steep areas or areas adjacent to the Klehini River (see attached Photo Packet). The project will 
repair the Porcupine Trail Road surface, base, ditches, and embankments back to pre-disaster 
conditions in-kind and in-place with the possibility for some minor improvements for armoring of 
ditches and slope stabilization. The overall project locations can be seen in the attached Damage 
Locations Sheet. Material for the repair will come from the Sunshine Mountain Pit owned by the 
University of Alaska and located at Latitude 59.39935, -136.05017.  
 
 
Repair for the Undertaking consists of: 

• Resurfacing of damaged road segments with 6 inches of gravel. 
• Cleaning out of, and minor expansion of, existing ditch segments along the side of the road. 



Ms. Bittner 
August 5, 2022 
Page 2 
 

 

• Six Downslope Road Embankment Repairs; associated Photo Packet site locations: 
o One 30-foot-long by 16-foot-wide by 30-foot-deep; Site 3 photos 
o One 8-foot-long by 22-foot-wide by 40-foot-deep; Site 4 photos  
o One 6-foot-long by 16-foot-wide by 25-foot-deep; Site 5 photos 
o One 6-foot-long by 16-foot-wide by 25-foot-deep; Site 6 photo 
o One 20-foot-long by 50-foot-wide by 30-foot-deep; Site 7 photos 
o One 30-foot-long by 33-foot-wide by 37-foot-deep; Site 8 photos 

• Road base repair ranging from one (1) to two (2) feet in depth and surface repair from 
segments washout out long the Klehini River. 

• Segments of rock riprap armoring replacement along the Klehini River eight (8) feet in 
height that were washed away. 

While the activities associated with this Undertaking would typically meet more than one allowance 
from the Programmatic Agreement, a review of AHRS discovered a possible historic resource along 
Porcupine Trail Road, thus we are initiating consultation for the associated activities. 

Area of Potential Effects 
FEMA has determined that the Area of Potential Effects (APE) is one approximately 7.5 mile long 
by 50 to 100-foot-wide area that encompasses all of the segments for road, ditch, and embankment 
repair as well as the staging of equipment (Figure 2).  
 
Historic Property Identification and Evaluation  
A review of information from the Alaska Heritage Resource Survey (AHRS) indicates that there is 
one historic resource within the APE, site SKG-00217. As per the AHRS site card “this number is 
meant to refer to the now abandoned sections of the old Haines Hwy, rather than the entire highway. 
The highway was initially surveyed by the military in 1905, and by 1911 a wagon road exteded 
along the N side of the Klehini River to the border. The road followed the general route of the 
Dalton Trail to Klukshu Lake. In 1943 the road was upgraded to two lanes, as part of the WWII 
supply effort. The road was only used in summer until 1963. Sections of the highway have been 
straightened and rerouted.” However, the GPS point location given at Latitude 59.42037, Longitude 
-136.13484 is located on the south side of the Klehini River on Porcupine Trail Road. Currently, the 
existing and old Haines Highway are mapped on the north side of the Klehini River. It is not clear if 
portions of the old Haines Highway ran along the south side of the Klehini River along what is now 
Porcupine Trail Road, or if the point location for SKG-00217 was digitized in the wrong location. 
 
The purpose of this Undertaking is to repair segments of the gravel road, ditches, and road 
embankments. The damage to the possible Historic Resource occurred as a result of the natural 
disaster and this Undertaking will repair the gravel Porcupine Trail Road as close as possible to pre-
disaster conditions. A National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) eligibility determination has not 
been made for SKG-00217. While more research is necessary to fully evaluate SKG-00217, the 
repair actions included in this Undertaking will not diminish any of the aspects of integrity of the 
resource nor its ability to convey significance should it be NR eligible. Based on the nature and 
location of the Undertaking along Porcupine Trail Road in an area previously disturbed by the 
construction and subsequent improvements to the road, FEMA has determined the likely presence of 
intact cultural resources is low. Thus, we have determined no further identification and evaluation 
efforts are warranted. 
 



Ms. Bittner 
August 5, 2022 
Page 3 
 

 

 
 
Determination of Effects 
Barring additional information from your office, FEMA has determined the Undertaking will result 
in No Adverse Effect to Historic Properties. Additionally, we condition our construction related 
project approvals to protect any unexpected discoveries of historic or archaeological remains during 
site work. We respectfully request your concurrence to these findings or additional comment. To 
assist with your review, please find enclosed project area maps, site photos, and design plans. Should 
you have any questions, please contact Philip Fisher at (425) 471-9018 or 
philip.fisher@fema.dhs.gov. Thank you. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 Science Kilner 
 Regional Environmental Officer 
 
Enclosures: 
 
Damage Locations Sheet 
Damage Photos from Site Inspection 
 



Ms. Bittner 
August 5, 2022 
Page 4 
 

 
Figure 1. Location of the Porcupine Trail Road Repair APE shown on a USGS 1:24,000 

topographic map. 



Ms. Bittner 
August 5, 2022 
Page 5 
 

 

 
Figure 2. Location of the Porcupine Trail Road Repair APE shown on a recent aerial image. 







Department of Commerce, Community, 
and Economic Development 

ALCOHOL & MARIJUANA CONTROL OFFICE 
550 West 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
Main: 907.269.0350

December 29, 2023 

From: marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov ; amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov  

Licensee: CAROL JEAN WALDO 
DBA: Flower Mountain Farms 
VIA email: flowermountainfarmsak@gmail.com 
CC:  n/a  
Local Government : Haines Borough 

Via Email: afullerton@haines.ak.us  

Community Council: n/a  

Via Email:    

CC: n/a 

BCC: amco.admin@alaska.gov  

Re: Standard Marijuana Cultivation Facility #12680 Combined Renewal Notice 

License Number: #12680 
License Type: Standard Marijuana Cultivation Facility 
Licensee: CAROL JEAN WALDO 
Doing Business As: Flower Mountain Farms 
Physical Address: 17 helms loop 

spur 
Haines, AK 99827 

Designated Licensee: CAROL JEAN WALDO 
Phone Number: 907-766-2631
Email Address: flowermountainfarmsak@gmail.com 

☒ License Renewal Application ☐ Endorsement Renewal Application

11C2

mailto:marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.admin@alaska.gov


 
 

Dear Licensee:  
 
After reviewing your renewal documents, AMCO staff has deemed the application complete for the purposes 
of 3 AAC 306.035(c). 
 
Your application will now be sent electronically, in its entirety, to your local government, your community 
council (if your proposed premises is in Anchorage or certain locations in the Mat-Su Borough), and to any 
non-profit agencies who have requested notification of applications. The local government has 60 days to 
protest your application per 3 AAC 306.060. 
 
At the May 15, 2017 Marijuana Control Board meeting, the board delegated to AMCO Director the 
authority to approve renewal applications. However, the board is required to consider this application 
independently if you have been issued any notices of violation for this license, if your local government 
protests this application, or if a public objection to this application is received within 30 days of this notice 
under 3 AAC 306.065.  
 
If AMCO staff determines that your application requires independent board consideration for any reason, 
you will be sent an email notification regarding your mandatory board appearance. Upon final approval, 
your 2023/2024 license will be provided to you during your annual inspection. If our office determines that 
an inspection is not necessary, the license will be mailed to you at the mailing address on file for your 
establishment. 
 
Please feel free to contact us through the marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov email address if you have any 
questions. 
 
Dear Local Government:  
 
AMCO has received a complete renewal application and/or endorsement renewal application for a 
marijuana establishment within your jurisdiction.  This notice is required under 3 AAC 
306.035(c)(2).  Application documents will be sent to you separately via ZendTo. 

To protest the approval of this application pursuant to 3 AAC 306.060, you must furnish the director and 
the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons for the protest within 60 days of the 
date of this notice, and provide AMCO proof of service of the protest upon the applicant. 
 

3 AAC 306.060 states that the board will uphold a local government protest and deny an application for a 
marijuana establishment license unless the board finds that a protest by a local government is arbitrary, 
capricious, and unreasonable.  If the protest is a “conditional protest” as defined in 3 AAC 306.060(d)(2) 
and the application otherwise meets all the criteria set forth by the regulations, the Marijuana Control 
Board may approve the license renewal, but require the applicant to show to the board’s satisfaction that 
the requirements of the local government have been met before the director issues the license. 
 

At the May 15, 2017, Marijuana Control Board meeting, the board delegated to AMCO Director the 
authority to approve renewal applications with no protests, objections, or notices of violation. However, if 
a timely protest or objection is filed for this application, or if any notices of violation have been issued for 
this license, the board will consider the application. In those situations, a temporary license will be issued 
pending board consideration. 
  
If you have any questions, please email amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov. 
 
Dear Community Council (Municipality of Anchorage and Mat-Su Borough only) 
 
AMCO has received a complete renewal application for the above listed license within your jurisdiction. This notice 
is required under 3 AAC 306.035(c)(2).  Application documents will be sent to you separately via ZendTo. 

mailto:marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov


 
 

 
To object to the approval of this application pursuant to 3 AAC 306.065, you must furnish the director and 
the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons for the objection within 30 days of the 
date of this notice. We recommend that you contact the local government with jurisdiction over the 
proposed premises to share objections you may have about the application.  
 
At the May 15, 2017, Marijuana Control Board meeting, the board delegated to AMCO Director the 
authority to approve renewal applications with no protests, objections, or notices of violation. However, if 
a timely protest or objection is filed for this application, or if any notices of violation have been issued for 
this license, the board will consider the application independently. In those situations, a temporary license 
will be issued pending board consideration. 
 
If you have any questions, please email marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Joan M. Wilson, Director 
907-269-0350 

mailto:marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov


 

AMCO Received 6/19/23



 

AMCO Received 6/19/23



From: AMCO Local Government Only (CED sponsored)
To: Alekka Fullerton
Subject: RE: License #12680 Flower Mountain Farms Combined MJ Renewal Notice
Date: Thursday, January 4, 2024 3:15:24 PM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the Haines Borough. Do not click on links or
open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Alekka,
Here’s what I see so far; 3 AAC 306.920 discusses the death of a licensee.  It reads:
 

 
I expect that the person in charge of the estate will request from our Director to
reopen the business, but that hasn’t happened yet.  I recommend that the Haines

mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov
mailto:afullerton@haines.ak.us


CAUTION: This email originated from outside the State of Alaska mail system. Do not
click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content
is safe.

You don't often get email from afullerton@haines.ak.us. Learn why this is important

Assembly review the application as it normally would.
 
 

Gabriel Gonzales
Local Government Specialist
DCCED - Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office
550 W. 7th Avenue, Suite 1600
Anchorage, AK 99501
(907) 334-2195
gabriel.gonzales@alaska.gov
 
 
 

 
 

From: Alekka Fullerton <afullerton@haines.ak.us> 
Sent: Wednesday, January 3, 2024 4:50 PM
To: AMCO Local Government Only (CED sponsored) <amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov>
Subject: RE: License #12680 Flower Mountain Farms Combined MJ Renewal Notice
 

Hi-
 
As I was preparing this renewal, I realized that Carol Waldo passed away on Christmas Eve.  How does this
effect the application?
 
 
Alekka Fullerton
Borough Clerk
Haines Borough
P.O. Box 1209
Haines, AK 99827
(907)766-6402
fax (907)766-2716
 
Public Records Law Disclosure:  This e-mail may be considered public record and be subject to public
disclosure.
Confidentiality Notice: This e-mail may contain confidential or privileged information.  It is intended
only for the use of the recipient named above.  If you believe you have received this message in error,
please notify me immediately by reply email, delete the message from your computer, and destroy any paper
copies.

 
 
 

From: AMCO Local Government Only (CED sponsored) <amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov> 

mailto:afullerton@haines.ak.us
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov


Sent: Friday, December 29, 2023 10:54 AM
To: Alekka Fullerton <afullerton@haines.ak.us>; flowermountainfarmsak@gmail.com
Cc: Marijuana Licensing (CED sponsored) <marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov>; AMCO Local Government Only
(CED sponsored) <amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov>
Subject: License #12680 Flower Mountain Farms Combined MJ Renewal Notice
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the Haines Borough. Do not click on links or
open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Good Morning,
 
Please see the attached notice of a Marijuana License Renewal for 2023-2024 period, and MJ-20 renewal
Application. Our office is trying to minimize the time consumed in sending individual notices, so we are
compiling it into one notice. 
 
Note: Effective 2023-2024 Renewal period, the MCB Board approved the MJ-20 Form is the only form
needed to certify the application
 
Best wishes,
 
 
Donavan Bennett-Smith
Occupational Licensing Examiner
Alcohol Marijuana Control Office
907-269-4594
Public Records Law Disclosure: This e-mail may be considered a public record and be subject to public
disclosure. Confidentiality Notice: This e-mail may contain confidential or privileged information. It is
intended only for the use of the recipient named above. If you believe you have received this message in
error, please notify me immediately by reply email, delete the message from your computer, and destroy
any paper copies.

mailto:afullerton@haines.ak.us
mailto:flowermountainfarmsak@gmail.com
mailto:marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov

	Reg 1/23/24 Mtg
	3 - DRAFT 1/9/24 Minutes 
	6A - Governor's Executive Order
	8A - Manager's Report 
	8B - CFO Report 
	8B1 - FY23 Financial Audit 
	FY23 Financial Statements 
	FY23 Federal and State Single Audit Reports

	8C - Tourism Director Report 
	9A - Approved 12/14/23 Planning Commission Minutes 
	9B - Approved 12/13/23 and 12/20/23 Property Tax Assessment Ad Hoc Advisory Board Minutes 
	9C - Approved 11/16/23 Commerce Committee Minutes 
	11A1 - Professional Services Agreement for Contract Assessor
	Resolution 24-01-1084
	Appraisal Company of Alaska RFP
	Appraisal Company of Alaska Contract 

	11A2 - Authorizing Windward Strategies as Federal Lobbyist
	Resolution 24-01-1085
	Jay Sterne's Bio
	Windward Strategies LLC Proposal 

	11A3 - Authorizing Theodore Popely as State Lobbyist
	Resolution 24-01-1086
	Theodore Popely, PC Proposal 

	11A4 - Authorizing Reid Harris, Harris Advocacy as State Lobbyist
	Resolution 24-01-1087
	Harris Advocacy Proposal 

	11C1 - Porcupine Trail FEMA Appeal 
	Porcupine Trail Road Project Timeline 
	Site Inspection Report 
	Email Correspondence 
	FEMA Report
	Federal Emergency Management Agency NEPA Determination 
	FEMA Public Assistance 

	11C2 - Flower Mountian Farms Marijuana Renewal Licensing



